



INTEGRATED ELECTRONIC PUBLISHING SYSTEM

Getting Started

AMGRAF, INC.

MECCA™ 2000 Version 5.05

© 2011 by Amgraf, Inc. All rights reserved. These specifications are subject to change without notice.

OneForm and MECCA are trademarks of Amgraf, Inc.

All other brand and product names are or may be trademarks used to identify products or services of their respective owners.



1501 Oak Street • Kansas City, MO 64108-1424 Phone: (816) 474-4797 • Fax: (816) 842-4477 E-Mail: info@amgraf.com • Internet: www.amgraf.com

Contents

Contents

Overview of MECCA 2000

Welcome to Amgraf's MECCA 2000 System	1
The Colorful Graphical Interface	2
Add Security to Every Printed Document	3

Chapter 1: Starting the MECCA 2000 System

The Boot Prompt	5
The MECCA 2000 Screen	6
Alternate Screens	7
Logging Out	7
Shutting Down the System	8
What if Accidently Powered Off	9

Chapter 2: Working with Graphics

Starting Up MECCA 2000	11
The Mouse, Cursor, and Position Mark	12
Choosing Options through Pop-Up Menus	15
The MECCA 2000 Windows and Menus	16
Hot Key Shortcuts	18
Types of Drawing Components	20
Starting from Scratch	22
Drawing Lines	22
Exiting out of a Function	24
Deleting and Restoring	25
Selecting and Unselecting a Group	25
Drawing Multiple Lines	27
Making Rectangles and Squares	28
Making Boxes	29
Making Circles	29
Moving Items	30
Copying Items	33
Windowing and Zooming	34
A Simple Drawing Exercise	36
Saving and Printing	38
Loading in an Existing Drawing	39

Contents

Chapter 3: MECCA 2000 Pop-Up Menus and Dialog Boxes

The MECCA 2000 Menus	41
The Project Menu	42
Combine and Save Dialogs	42
Batch and More	43
The Print Dialogs	44
The Line Menu	45
User Defined Line Styles	46
Prorating Rules and Section Lines	46
Modify Lines and Position Assistant	47
The Box Menu	47
Set Box Attributes	48
Graduation and Screen	48
Custom Gradiate Map	49
Edges and Corners	49
Even and Odd Bars Dialog	50
Borders	50
Pantographs	51
SuperImpose	51
The Arc Menu	52
The Spline Menu	53
The Text Menu	54
Set Text Attributes	55
Other Attributes Dialogs	56
Place Text into Boxes Ontion	57
Place Text on Circle Ontion	58
Text Input Box	50
Micro Text Ontion	50
V Adjust Option	59 60
Words from DS Latters	60
The Dester Many	61
Mono Dostor Troco Outline	61
Destar Delief for Dieck & White Leave	62
The Area Many	02 62
The Derived Menu	03
	64
The Barcode Attributes Menu	65
Barcode Attributes Background Menu	66
Barcode Attributes Human Readable Menu	67
The Patterns Menu	68
The Change Menu	70
Move, Copy, and Group	71
The Transforms Menu	73
The Layer Menu	74

Contents

The Parts Menu	75
The Window Menu	79
The Grid Dialog	80
EPS Preview Dialog	80

Chapter 4: Business Forms Composition

Chapter 5: Scanning

Using The GIMP Image Manipulation Program	114
Starting GIMP	114
The GIMP Toolbar	115
Basic Controls	117
Other Useful Tools	118
The Undo	119
Color Separating Logos	119
Separation One – Black	120
Separation Two – Red	122
Separation Three – Green	123
Color Trapping	124
Scanning Resolutions	125
Importing MECCA Rasters to GIMP	126
Color Files Created on Adobe PhotoShop	126
Creating a TIFF File	127
Creating DCS Files	128
Creating a PCX File	130

Chapter 6: Label Composition

Scanning the Image	131
Color Separate Using GIMP	132
Loading Raster Files	133
Drawing the Plate	133
Setting Up the Color Layer Table	134
Using Thick/Thin Raster for Trapping	136
Printing Your Label	137
Step and Repeat for Labels	138
Chokes and Spreads	141
Determining the Trap Value	142
Methods Used for Trapping	142
Ink Darkness	144
Designating Layers	145
When to Use a Spec File	146
Component Limitations	147
Manual Trapping	147
Vectors, Vector Chains, Arc/Circles, and Splines	147
Area Components	149
Scanned Images	150
Text Components	151

Chapter 7: Using NEdit Text Editor

Starting NEdit	153
Insert Text or Overtype Text	154
Selecting Text	155
Finding and Replacing Text	156
Setting Up Custom Defaults	157
Ispell Program for Spell Checking	159
Programmable Shortcut Keys	161
Delete Key	162
Printing From NEdit	162

Chapter 8: Security Document Composition

MECCA 2000 Security Features	164
Individual Components - Airline Ticket	166
Individual Components - Certificate	167
Void Pantographs and Hidden Images	168
Guilloche Background Patterns	169
Custom Border Designs	170
Sine-Wave Guilloche Ornaments	171
Relief Print Backgrounds	172
Micro-Text Samples	173
Phantom Images and Logos	174
Point Shaker	175
Rotated Patterns	176
New Design Features	177
Creating Micro-Text	178
Fine-Line Ornamental Designs	181
Variations of Raster Relief	182
Creating Custom Patterns	183
Spiral and Wave Pattern Dialogs	184
The Patterns Options	185
Waves Along a Path	187
Waves Between Paths	190
Using Point Shaker	192
IBFI Security Regional Briefing	194

Chapter 9: The PostScript Interpreter

PostScript File	199
Checking Out Files	200
Opening an EPS File	202
Including an EPS File	203

Contents

Multiple Page PS Files	203
Typical Converted EPS File	204
Working with Converted Files	205
Cleaning-Up Converted Text	206
Use {Combine Text Items} and {Word(s) from PS Letters} to Clean-Up Text	207
Creating EPS Files for MECCA 2000	209
Add a New Printer for EPS Files	209
Printer Properties	213
Creating and Convert an EPS File as a Test	215
Accepting Diskettes from Customers	218
Conversion Fact Sheet	219
Converting PostScript File from Xterm	220
Using XPDF	220
Adobe Acrobat May Help with Problem Files	221
• •	

Overview of MECCA 2000

Welcome to Amgraf's MECCA 2000 System

MECCA 2000 is *the world's premier business forms composition system*. The software offers designers a comprehensive suite of tools to create multi-color, multi-part forms with graduated screens, borders and pantographs, scanned logos, barcodes, and fine typography. For label manufacturing, the software includes trapping, flexographic distortion, and a unique step-and-repeat feature. To add security to any document, MECCA 2000 provides functions for superimposed hidden "Void" messages, a relief line generator, microprint composer, prismatic color mixer, guilloche patterns and custom geometric patterns for lacey backgrounds. With batch pagination, forms production from order-entry to plate can be entirely automated.

Finished designs are output via PostScript as flawless color-separated negatives or printing plates, or they may be transmitted to digital color printing presses for high-speed variable-imaging applications.

The Colorful Graphical Interface



The MECCA 2000 Screen

A colorful point-and-click graphical interface assists the forms designer. The elegant arrangement of the status readouts, menu buttons, and drawing window allows the operator to control the MECCA 2000 software with confidence.

For each drawing tool, option windows "pop-up" by clicking the right mouse button. For every step, "next action prompts" appear at the top of the screen to guide the user. An online help feature is also available whenever a question arises.

Pop-up menus and dialog boxes for each function are conditionally displayed as the operator clicks on a menu.

The MECCA 2000 system is a form designer's dream-come-true. From producing fine typography for the dedicated professional, to creating text-intensive backers, contracts, and books, MECCA 2000 simplifies the typesetting process. Graphical elements such as rules, rounded-corner boxes, graduated screens, check borders, and pantographs are drawn with precision by the point-and-click options. Customer logos can easily be scanned, cleaned-up, and color separated. Color proofs and plate-ready films can be output in minutes.

Add Security to Every Printed Document

Graphical effects can be used to add security to almost any document. Unlike special papers, coatings and inks, graphical effects in general do not add to the overall production cost of a document. Given two documents that have the same value, a forger will most likely try to counterfeit the one with the least number of security features.

The MECCA 2000 System allows very complex composition and has a wide variety of security design features that can be incorporated into your artwork. The use of fine-line relief printing, superimposing hidden messages, original fine-line detailed borders, unique geometrical designs, spot color blending, and also micro-text create an effective counterfeiting deterrent when used in conjunction with specialty papers, inks and other treatments.

Through the MECCA 2000 comprehensive set of design tools you can add copy-resistant graphical safeguards to certificates, coupons, titles, tickets, monetary or legal documents, and other valuable forms, labels, and tags. Our fine-line relief backgrounds with microtext, phantom images, and PixeLace[™] moiré patterns are easy to create and virtually impossible to duplicate. "Void" pantograph technologies using public domain and proprietary methods are also available.

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Chapter 1: Starting the MECCA 2000 System

Before a computer can do anything else, it first has to "boot" an operating system. Follow these steps:

First, **check floppy drives for diskettes.** If you find any **take them out** or the system will try to boot from the diskette.

Second, **power on all components of the system**, the monitor will clear and begin to display messages indicating that your PC is going through its self-diagnostic procedures.

If you see the following message on the screen and the diagnostics stop, just press enter.

boot :_

The computer will connect to the server and prompt you with a startup message showing your *computer_name!login:*

Your MECCA 2000 System has alternate screens. You must start MECCA 2000 through alternate two... do this by simultaneously pressing the keys [Alt]-[F2].

Starting local daemons... Fri Jan 07 15:05:07 2011

FreeBSD (COMP1.rbf.com) (ttyv0)

login: _

At this point, you type in whatever *login_name* you've been assigned, using all lowercase letters, and *[Enter]*. Instantly you're asked for your password.

Password: _____(*This will not display.*)

Type your *password [Enter]*. For example, your entries would be something like **"amgraf [Enter] amgraf [Enter]".** Once this has been accomplished, your MECCA Startup screen will appear.

The MECCA 2000 Screen

The MECCA 2000 Startup screen is your desktop. Starting the MECCA 2000 is as easy as clicking [Start] and [MECCA 2000].



Now go to **[Start]** and notice that you have other choices. This will give you access to the basic file management functions. There is also a pop-up menu with other utilities; accessed by clicking your left mouse button anywhere in the window.



Accessing Applications From the [Start] button and the "Left" mouse button

Alternate Screens

Your UNIX operating system allows alternate screens, this means that you can login more than once, but there are some restrictions:

The [Alt] key is used to access other working areas. Alone it doesn't do anything, but in combination with the [F1] through [F12] keys, it becomes very powerful. It allows you to access other working areas, either in the same login or other logins.

[Alt]-[F1] is reserved for system reporting and shutting down.

[Alt]-[F2] when logged in as **amgraf** initiates the MECCA 2000 Startup Screen on Alternate 11. If you alternate out of the MECCA 2000 screen and need to go back to it, press [Alt]-[F11].

[Alt]-[F3] when logged in as **amgraf** initiates a \$-prompt, the standard Unix command line.

You can actually login under each function key, but that is not practical.

Switching from one screen to another is accomplished by pressing the [Alt]-[F#] simultaneously. This will always work unless you are in MECCA 2000. At this point the [Ctrl]-[Alt]-[F#] must be used simultaneously to switch screens out of MECCA 2000.

Logging Out

Logout means to sign out of a login and close it. You will notice that a login message appears, but it is not enough for shutting the power off.

[Alt]-[F2] is used for MECCA 2000 graphics. Logging out will take you to this alternate's prompt. You cannot shutdown in Alternate F2. You must go to Alternate F1 to go through the shutdown procedures.

Shutting Down the System

We can't overemphasize how important it is to "close" the operating system before you power down the computer at the end of the day. An important part of this process consists of "saving" all files that are currently "open". If a file has not been saved, it will be lost when you power off the computer.

Always "shutdown" First

Using the steps below will always halt the Unix operating system properly. Failing to do so will require you to "clean" your hard disk after powering on again. *Cleaning* is a scan of the files and programs on the hard disk to locate any bad file structures, which may have been damaged during the improper power down.

The shutdown procedure will do two things: 1) successfully close the operating system, and 2) successfully disable the system from the server.

Press [Alt]-[F1] first. The *shutdown* can only be executed from the root login on Alternate F1, so go to [Alt]-[F1] and type in: **root [Enter]**, password: Mecca2K [Enter].

At the #-prompt type in: **shutdown -h now [Enter].**

Do not power off until you see the "Operating System has Halted, " message.

Power Off Computer

Some computers automatically reboot themselves after a few seconds. If you've gotten up to get a cup of coffee and the operating system has rebooted while you were gone, you must go through the power off process all over again. Sorry. If it has not passed the "boot" message, then you can safely power down. Anything past that point and you must log back into "root" and halt the system again.

What if Accidentally Powered Off

If you ever actually have a power failure that stops the program, you should not panic. It is not particularly good for it, but should not cause any problems. Turn off the power switch on the main unit so that the system will not reboot itself when the power comes back on again. Try to find the power problem (checking cables, etc.). Wait a few minutes and turn the system back on again as usual.

The operating system will automatically check itself and clean up any corrupted files when the system is turned on.

The system was not shut down properly, and the root file system should be cleaned.

Proceed with cleaning (y/n)? y [Enter]

If a text file is lost, you will get a mail message telling you how to recover it. If a graphic file is lost, there is one area that may be worth your time to look at, */lost+found*. This directory holds files that have lost their filename. If your file is there, you can move it back to its proper location.

After cleaning, if your system does not respond properly, call the Amgraf Help Line at (816) 474-4797. Hours are from 6 a.m. to 6 p.m. Central Standard Time, Monday through Friday.

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Chapter 2: Working with Graphics

In this chapter and the next, we'll explore some of the basic techniques for using MECCA 2000 to create simple and moderate graphics. Details on using each of the options are in *Volume 2: Illustrating and Drawing.*

Starting Up MECCA 2000

Start MECCA 2000 by clicking the [MECCA 2000] menu on the startup window. You'll then see a display that looks like the one below.

The large square brown box taking up most of the screen is the working **Window.** It can show the entire graphic or a blown up portion of a graphic using the [Zoom] option. As you can see there are buttons on the right-hand side. Each one represents different types of functions.



The Opening Screen of MECCA 2000

The Mouse, Cursor, and Position Mark

The figure below shows the mouse with its two buttons, as well as close-ups of two items you'll often see on your screen: the crossed-shaped cursor and the position/pick mark.



The Mouse, Arrow/Crosshair Cursors, & Pick/Position Mark

The *crossed-shaped cursor* indicates the active position of the mouse on the screen. It follows the mouse around as it is moved.

You'll notice that you can move the cursor everywhere on the screen, and that when you place it over one of the button options, the cursor changes to an arrow while the background shifts to white instead of its previous color. This is showing you which option is currently being seen.

To actually select the function button click the **left** mouse button. Then immediately move to the Window and click the **right** mouse button. This will then show a "Pop-Up" menu full of sub options for that function.

When using a mouse, hold it in your regular drawing hand and place your index finger gently on the left button. The mouse sits on the mouse-pad and glides smoothly around the drawing area. Pressing the *left* button causes MECCA 2000 to pick a point or choose an option, according to where the cursor is located. The cursor when in the window area is represented by crosshairs and its coordinates are tracked at the top right-hand of the window. When you move the cursor over a button function or menu option it then turns to an arrow.

The *position or pick* mark is made on the screen when the *left* "mouse button" is pressed down to indicate what you have chosen. This can also be a position marker held in memory by MECCA 2000 as you continue to indicate other necessary information for movement.

Choosing and Picking

As used in these books, "choosing" refers to moving the cursor over the various buttons and options listed in the pop-up menus, and pressing the *left* mouse button down to indicate what option you want MECCA 2000 to do next. Throughout the rest of this chapter, we'll be using **boldfaced** type to tell you what options to choose, in what order, to accomplish your goals. "Picking" refers to using the cursor in the Window Area to indicate items to be affected by the options or a position in the window.

When picking items to move, copy, or delete, it is always better to select away from where two items overlap. In *the drawing below*, Rectangle 1 needs to be deleted. If picked like *Example A* the operator cannot be sure which rectangle the system will delete. If picked like *Example B* the only component that the cursor is touching is Rectangle 1.



Picking Rectangles to Delete

While drawing, the cursor will snap to the end of a line when the crosshair is touching the endpoint of that line. It will also snap to the corner of a rectangle or box component. The cursor does not have to be positioned exactly on the end of the line. As long as the active area of the cursor is touching the endpoint the cursor will snap onto the endpoint. This is only if there are no other components at the same location. Below we see how the snap to endpoint works and also the active cursor area.



Picking Line Endpoints and the Active Cursor

If the exact corner of a rectangle overlaid with a line needs to be picked, just selecting the corner will not work. This is because the line can be selected anywhere. To find the exact corner use the **Intersect** option in the **Position Assistant** menu.



Picking the Corner of a Rectangle Covered by a Line

Choose Options through Pop-Up Menus

Throughout this chapter and the next, we'll be talking about choosing options with the mouse. When you move your cursor over an option it will turn white. To select the option click the **left** mouse button. Notice that the prompt line gives you a hint of what is needed by that function to operate.

Each function though has many other options. Bring your cursor over into the Window Area and then click the **right** mouse button. Clicking the *right* mouse button will bring up a "pop-up" menu of the sub options for that function. Notice that the cursor has changed to an arrow for selecting menus.



Eight Direction is a sub option of Line

Slide the mouse up and down the menu, as your cursor touches each option it turns white to highlight it. Click your *left* mouse button to select one of these sub options and make it active.

You'll also notice that if your arrow cursor comes off of the "pop-up" menu, the menu will close. If this happens before you have had a chance to select your sub option, just click the *right* mouse button again and the menu will open reappear.

The MECCA 2000 Window and Menus

Let's look at the MECCA 2000 window and menus. The **Prompt Area** is located at the top left of your screen. This is there to help you know what information MECCA 2000 needs to do the functions. The **User Input Area** for typing in coordinates is located at the top right of your screen represented by the "x" and "y" data boxes. Next to the "x" and "y" is the **Unit of Measure** indicator and button.

Naturally, the right-hand side holds the buttons for our main different types of functions. Let's quickly review their actions.

The blue [Project] button holds the sub options for loading, starting new, saving or printing files. The next nine buttons are the drawing tools: [Line], [Box], [Arc], [Spline], [Text] each creating a component type as you draw.



The Project and Active Drawing Buttons

Each of these tools includes a pop-up menu with access to the {Position Assistant} tools. These are used to allow precise positioning of the cursor when needed.

The magenta buttons are your altering tools: [Change], [Move], [Copy], and [Transform]. Followed by three assistant tools [Group], [Measure], and [Query].

Change	
Move	Сору
Transt	forms
Group	
Measure	
Query	

Altering and Assistant Tools

The green buttons [Layer], [Parts], and [Window] allow complete control for Multi-Color and Multi-Part jobs for display and printing.



Controls for Display and Printing

The tan Zoom Functions control how large components will be displayed in the Window Area of your screen.

win-fit	win-cen
2x	1/2x
zoom	back

Zooming Buttons

Hot Key Shortcuts

[Ctrl]-Left Mouse (Button1) in the drawing window brings up a "quick zoom" menu:

Zoom
Zoom 2x
Zoom 1/2x
Back (prev window)
Window Fit
Set Win Center

[Shift]- Left Mouse (Button1) brings up a "quick function select" menu:

Save
Print
Change
Move
Сору
Transform
Group
Query
Layers
Delete

[Ctrl]-Right Mouse (Button3) in the drawing window brings up a "quick component snap, grid snap" dialog:



[Shift]-Right Mouse (Button3) in the drawing window brings up the "position assistant" menu:

Last Point
Last Dir/Dist
Align
Intersect
Circle Center
Line End
Mid Line
Mid Point
Dir/Dist
Hold
Component Center
Window Center

Also, the following short-cut keys have been added:

[Ctrl]-z & [Ctrl]-/ is Zoom 1/2x [Ctrl]-Z & [Ctrl]-? is Zoom 2x [Ctrl]-f & [Ctrl]-k is Window-Fit [Ctrl]-a & [Ctrl]-; is equivalent to a mouse right-click [Ctrl]-g means invoke group function

All of these are set in */usr/bin/amgraf/m2k*.

If a pop-up menu is already on the screen, another right-button click (or [Ctrl]-a) will un-post it.

Types of Drawing Components

Listed below are the different types of drawing components that are created by the MECCA 2000 System.

VECTOR

This includes any lines drawn, prorated rules, and line sectioning.

SPLINES

A Bezier spline is an irregular smooth curve.

VECTOR CHAIN

These components cannot be created in MECCA 2000, but may appear in files that were created on MECCA III or imported. Convert them to Splines to make any modifications.

BOXES

The box is a specialized component that can have rounded corners, inside filled areas, screened bars (odd, even or both), individual line weights on edges all as one component. It also includes the library of borders and pantographs.

ARC/CIRCLE/ELLIPSE

This includes a circle, arc (semi-circle), or ellipse.

TEXT

Text is recognized through a unique mnemonic for each font. Text is created by the two functions Input Text and Place Text Into Boxes.

RASTERS

Rasters are images. This includes black and white logos, halftone and color scanned photographs. Common image types such as BMP, JPEG, TIFF, PNG, DCS and PCX files can be imported from other software packages using the Combine option.

AREAS

Areas include screened or solid filled areas that are placed inside of the following components: lines, circles, splines, and free hand sketches. They do require an outside path first and boxes can be part of that path.

BAR CODES

There are many different types of bar codes that can be generated. Codabar, Code 3 of 9, Postal FIM and Zip, UPC- A and E, Interleaved 2 of 5, Code 128, EAN-13, EAN-8, USPS IMB, and the Data Matrix 2D Bar Code.

Starting from Scratch

Begin by moving the cursor over the drawing buttons. Notice how the display shifts from color to white, each time the cursor passes over an option. We are going to start with a fresh screen by choosing [**Project**], {New Graphic}. This has cleared any previous drawing and opened a fresh window.

We are now ready to start drawing.

Drawing Lines

Choose the **[Line]** option by moving your cursor over the option until it turns white, then click with your **left** mouse button. Immediately bring the cursor out into the Window Area and click the **right** mouse button. A "pop-up" menu now shows a list of *Line* options with the {Eight Directions} option selected. In the Prompt Area, the words "Pick line start" will appear.

Move the cursor over to the left of the Window Area and **click the left** mouse button. You have just picked your line starting point. Do not hold down the button for a drag effect. MECCA 2000 uses single picks for all selections.

The Prompt Area now says "Pick line end." Now **move your cursor away** a few inches and you'll **notice a construction line** following the cursor on the screen. This line will shorten or lengthen depending on how far away you move from the original starting point. The line will follow your cursor in eight, 45 degree, directions from the starting point. As soon as you **click the left mouse button again**, the line freezes on the screen.



Using the {Eight Direction} Mode

At the top of the Line sub options menu, is the option for setting the line attributes. Choose the **{Set Line Attributes}** option. This will immediately bring up a "dialog window" where you can fill out all physical characteristics at one time.

Lines have six attributes; let's only look at the weight and style at this time.

Drawing Defaults

Line Weight - 1-Point Line Style - Solid Line Layer - 1 Color - 700 for 100% Black Screen Lineage - 133 Screen Angle - 45

In the input field provided for *Weight*, you can either type in a value or choose from the drop-down list. Here you'll see a choice of sizes for lines, with associated colors for the window display of type color.

5 (0.5 pt) Cyan 10 (1.0 pt) Green 15 (1.5 pt) Blue ... etc.

Choose the half-point line weight **{0.5 pt Cyan}**. To accept your choice, select **[Okay]**. The prompt "Pick line start" is back and your ready to draw some more lines. Practice

using {Set Line Attributes}; set the *Weight* to something different. Be sure to [Okay] to save the setting before drawing again.

Next, lets choose the **{Set Line Attributes}** *Style* option and look at the variety of line styles you have available:

Solid Solid Rounded Ends ... etc.

Solid lines are the default setting. Dotted or dashed lines naturally have a variety of uses. Choose a different line style, [Okay] it and draw a few more lines.

Choose the **{All Directions}** option. In this mode you can draw lines at any angle. To get back your previous flexibility, choose the **{Eight Directions}** option.



Drawing Lines Using {All Directions}

Exiting Out of a Function

To leave one function to go to another, for the most part you simply click on the next function you want to do. However, there are certain options and suboptions that require you to do an {Exit Function} before it will let you continue on or go to another function.

Exiting a Function can be accomplished by simply toggling the button off, or by going into the pop-up menu and selecting {Exit Function}.

Deleting and Restoring

After a while, your screen is going to get filled up with drawn lines, so you'll want to get rid of them.

Move your cursor over and select the **[Delete]** button. You'll immediately be out of [Line] mode. You'll be prompted to pick an item to delete, so pick directly on a line you'd like to get rid of. It should vanish instantly. Go ahead and [Delete] several more.

If you click the *right* mouse button you will see Delete's sub option {Restore}. Try choosing **{Restore}** now, while looking at the line you just deleted. The line will reappear. This is a safety feature in case you delete the wrong object. But {Restore} will only recover the very last object deleted. Once you {Exit Delete} and get out of the Delete option, there is no longer an opportunity to recover the last deleted item.

Selecting and Unselecting Items for a Group

If you created a lot of lines on the screen, it could take a while for you to delete them all individually. So try choosing the **[Group]** option now. You'll see eight ways to Group or Ungroup items. Choose **{Pick}** for now, then use your mouse to pick several different lines. Each of them will go white as you pick them (regardless of their original color). The white color distinguishes them as being linked together and grouped. Now choose **[Done Group]** to quit selecting items and to get out of the Group option.

Choose **[Delete]** again, and pick just one of the white lines. They all vanished! This is because by group, picking them, you defined them as all being members of that group. Anything you do to one member of a group, you do to all its members. "All for one, and one for all!"



Using [Group] {Inside}

To try further examples of this, toggle off [Delete] and choose [Group] again. Go to the pop-up menu and choose group's {Inside}.

Move your cursor back over the Window Area and press it down somewhere near some short lines you drew. Move it away slowly in a random direction and you'll see a box appear, with one corner where you started and the other where your cursor is. Expand this box enough to enclose several lines completely, and pick. All the lines that were inside the grouping-box will turn white to indicate that they have been linked. To prove this, **[Done Group], [Delete],** and pick any of the now white lines, and watch them vanish.

To see a slightly different method for Grouping, exit **[Delete]** and try again. Choose **[Group] and its sub option {Intersect}.** Once more you'll be able to draw a groupingbox, but this time, make sure that some of your random lines are partly in and partly out of the box area. When you finish the box by picking, you'll see that every line that was intersected by the box (or even touching it) has now been grouped. You could delete them again, but that's getting boring. So instead, choose group's **{Unselect Pick}.** Pick a few of the white lines, and they'll go back to their original color. In fact, the Ungroup modes are all the exact opposites of their Group versions, and they can be handy if you've accidentally grouped something you didn't really want included in your group.

But for now, let's get rid of all your previous lines as quickly as possible. Choose group's {**All**} -- and everything in the Window Area will turn white. [**Done Group**], **pick** [**Delete**], and pick any white line. The entire Window Area will be empty within seconds! Exit [**Delete**] and we're ready to go onward.

Drawing Multiple Lines

Line's {Prorating Rules} function is designed primarily to draw equally spaced multiple lines. While you are in {Prorating Rules}, if you press the right-mouse button again, you will notice that you are in the Prorating Rules sub options. There you have a {Set Parameters} selection. This will bring up a dialog box that allows you to input how many horizontal and/or vertical lines you would like drawn within your rectangle.

Let's draw 5 horizontal lines.

🗙 Parameters for Prorating Rules 🛛 🛛 🗙
Number of Horizontal Rules: 5
Number of Vertical Rules: 0
👅 Add Top 👅 Add Bottom 👅 Add Left 👅 Add Right
Close

You should use the {Set Line Attributes}, *Style* of *Solid Square Ends* when drawing rectangles to allow for mitered (flush) corners in your rectangles.



Making Rectangles and Squares

When you choose the **[Line]** option, you have a pop-up sub option of {Prorate Rules}. Use this option if you need to make Rectangles or Squares.

Select **{Prorate Rules}, {Set Parameters}.** Set the number for "Horizontal" and "Vertical" to be **0** [Close]. You are immediately put into drawing mode. Place the cursor over in the Window Area and pick, then move it around. A rectangle will appear, in exactly the same way that the grouping-box did. Rectangles require that you pick two diagonal corners. Go ahead and make several rectangles.



Drawing Rectangles

Steps for Drawing Squares

Pick the first corner Type: 2i [right arrow] [down arrow] [Enter]

With practice you can make some that look like squares, but if you need to be precise, there is another way. Pick a clear area, then instead of moving to another corner, take your hand away from the mouse, and type **2i** and press the **[right arrow]** key. This is stating the width of the square. Now press the **[down arrow]** key to move down 2 inches,
press **[Enter].** You now have a 2-inch square being shown. By using numbers and the [arrow] keys, you can produce precise rectangles and squares.

Making Boxes

The [Box] function is designed primarily for business forms composition. It is picked and drawn exactly like a rectangle, but allows for additional attributes such as rounded corners and screened areas to be included automatically as part of the attributes of the box.

When choosing [Box] you are immediately prompted to "Pick 1st box corner". Move your cursor over into the Window Area and pick. You are then prompted to "Pick 2nd box corner", move your cursor and again you'll see a construction box shrinking and stretching as your cursor moves. Pick again to accept the second corner and the box will become permanent. Just as with drawing rectangles you can specify an exact size of a box by picking the first corner then typing in the width and depth measurements of the box.

The default for [Box] is to have empty insides and square corners. Select {Set Box Attributes} and we can define the details of our box as needed.

To make a box with 1/4" corners and a solid background we would do the following: Select {Set Box Attributes}, this will bring up the pop-up dialog window. In the input field provided for *Radius* type in 1/4i, then use the drop-down list for *Corner Type* and select **Rounded.** This will give us four 1/4" rounded corners. Now go down to the *Background* attributes and for *Color Start and End* type in 700. Color 700 on MECCA 2000 is 100% black. This will fill the entire inside of our box with a solid black area. After you have entered you attributes select [Okay].

You are ready to draw your box by picking two diagonal corners.

Making Circles

Circles also require two picks. [Delete] some of your rectangles to make room, then choose the [Arc] button and click the right mouse button to access Arc's pop-up menu. {Set Line Attributes} to the *Style* of Dashed and [Okay].

Pick wherever you'd like the center of the circle to be, and slowly move the cursor. You'll see a circle appear, which will expand and contract as you move the cursor further from or closer to the chosen center. When you like the size of the circle, just pick again, and the circle will remain. You can then make several more circles in the same fashion.



Drawing Circles

As with drawing Boxes and Rectangles, you can get precise with circles as well. Pick a spot to be the center, set the mouse aside and type **15p** and press the **[right-arrow]** key (this defines the *radius* of the circle), then press **[Enter]** and it will appear on screen. Go ahead and make a few more in different sizes and line weights.

Moving Items

Obviously, not every item is going to be created in the perfect position each time, so MECCA 2000 enables you to pick up items and Move them around anywhere you like. Try it now. Choose [**Move**] then slide the cursor over into the window and click the **right** mouse button to get to Move's sub options.

Choose **{Move to Anywhere}** and the menu will close. Pick a corner of one of your rectangles by picking directly on a line (you'll see a pick mark appear), move the cursor away a short distance, and pick again. The rectangle you picked now has that same corner in the new position. Pick something else, say one of the circles, and do it again. Notice that every time you Move something with Move to Anywhere, the picking spot on the original matches the destination spot picked. You are moving cursor-pick to cursor-pick.



[Moving to Anywhere] in the Window

Now choose the sub option **{Move Y}**, which is "move up and down only". Pick an item, then move the cursor directly above or below it, and pick a destination spot. The item will move straight up or down, with the picking spot on it matching the exact vertical position of the destination spot. Think about that a moment, then do it again, this time choosing a destination spot at a wide angle above or below the item's current position. Again the item will move straight up or down, to match the Y-coordinate (the precise vertical position) of the destination spot.

Now try {**Move X**} "move across only". You'll quickly see that it works exactly the same way, only in the horizontal. Try moving things around on the screen for a while.



Using {Move Y} Direction Mode



Using {Move to Plumb} Mode

You can also move items to a Plumb or Level Line, so let's see how to do that. Choose the **{Move to Plumb}** option first. You'll see a prompt asking you to "indicate the Plumb Position", so pick a spot somewhere near the middle of the screen. A vertical dashed plumb line will appear. Now pick a few items and watch them move horizontally to place their pick spots on top of the plumb line.

You have something you'd like centered? Just choose the {**Cir Cen**} function in the {Position Assistant} menu, before picking the edge of a circle; or the {**Mid Line**} function before choosing a line, rectangle or square.

Try **{Move to Level}** instead. You'll see it works in exactly the same way, only on the vertical axis. Toggle off the **[Move]** button to exit Move completely.

Copying Items

Choose the **[Copy]** button, then click the **right** mouse button to go to the Copy pop-up menu. Yes, it's just variations on the same commands you were using with Move. Try **{Copy to Anywhere}** first. Pick a spot on an item, then pick a destination spot. Just as with the Move option, you'll suddenly see the item in the new position. But a copy of it has been left behind.



Using {Again}

Choosing the {Again} option will cause another copy to appear exactly the same direction/distance from the first copy as it was from the original. And another and another, each time you use the {Again} option.

The other Copy options act exactly like their Move counterparts, try experimenting with them.

Windowing and Zooming

There's one last bit of technique to mention before we go about creating a graphic. Many times you will want to see very tiny details of an illustration, and with MECCA 2000 there's practically no limit to how much detail you can see. Choose the **[Zoom]** button and you'll immediately be prompted for a starting spot, so look around at your current collection of items on screen, and find an area where several items closely overlap. Pick a spot off to the side of this and move the cursor slowly. Yes, it's another one of those "rubber band boxes", but watch what happens this time when you pick the second corner: the Window Area is suddenly filled with an expanded version of the area you marked out with the box -- just as if you were using a zoom lens on a camera.



Before Zooming



After Zooming

You can even Zoom up again and again, making more and more of the details clear by selecting the **[2x]** button. So even if you had picked an area where the lines were so close together that they originally appeared to be overlapping. Zooming will show them distinctly enough that you can pick one or the other for a Delete, Copy or Move. That's the whole point of the Zoom options!

To get everything back in the window, just choose the **[win-fit]** button. This will take everything in the current drawing and fit it into the regular Window Area boundaries. By the way, it's a good idea to get in the habit of doing a window fit just before saving your graphic. It can be especially important if the drawing is to be used as a merged graphic into batch documents, since it will not merge correctly without a previous fit before saving.

A Simple Drawing Exercise...

You could [Group], {All}, [Done Group], [Delete], {Exit Delete}, but it's probably easier to go to [**Project**] and choose {**New Graphic**}. Here you'll be prompted to choose **Yes**. Our window area is cleared and we are ready to start the drawing.



A Star is a Simple Graphic

First draw the rectangle. Choose **[Line] {Set Line Attributes}** and set the *Style* to be solid-square by choosing **{Solid Square Ends}** and selecting **{Okay}**. Then choose {Prorate Rules}, {Set Parameters} to 0, now pick a spot in the Window Area and draw a square just by hand. It doesn't have to be perfect. **[win-fit]** the rectangle to fill the window. Get out of [Line] mode.

Now draw the circle, since we want the circle to be in the center of the rectangle, we need to use our {Position Assistant} {Comp Cen} function to help us find the middle.

Choose **[Arc]** and when you're prompted to "Pick circle center" choose the **{Comp Cen}** function in Position Assistant. Pick the edge of the rectangle as our component. When you next move the cursor, you will notice that the center of the circle has been selected as being in the middle of the rectangle. Now pick the outside of the circle by selecting a side of the rectangle.

Choose [Line], let's make the lines a half-point, solid round end. Do this by choosing {Set Line Attributes} and choose {5 (0.5 pt) Cyan} from the "pull-down" menu. Then

choose {**Solid Round Ends**} from the *Style* "pull-down" menu. Let the system know you are happy with your selections by choosing [**Okay**].

We are going to work on the top of the star. To pick the exact middle of a line there is the option {Mid Line}. To pick our "line start" select {**Mid Line**} in the {Position Assistant} menu. Now pick the line, which makes up the top of the rectangle.



The Top of the Star Starts Out as a Triangle

The beginning of our first line is connected to the middle of the top of the rectangle. If you are not already in {All Directions} go choose it, then drag the line down to the bottom (angled slightly) and pick the line end. To get the left hand side to be exactly like the right hand side, we will draw a construction line on the bottom of our circle. Choose {Eight Directions} and then draw a line that starts with the end of the first line drawn and is extended until it reaches the left edge of the circle. For the third line, choose {All Directions} and draw a line from the top of the first line using {Mid Line} again. Pick the end of your line by using {Intersec} and picking the left side of the construction line and the circle. You now have a triangle.

{Exit Line Functions} out of [Line] and [Delete] the bottom of the triangle. We only needed that line to determine where the end point of the left side was to be located. {Exit Delete} out of delete and go back to [Line].

Draw the top of the arms of your star remembering that this must be a straight line, so go into **{Eight Directions}** mode first. The rest is easy; just draw the other two lines connecting to the ends of the existing lines. Go to **{All Directions}** first, and you may need to **[Zoom]** in closer to see your picks, or use {Line End}.



The {Eight Directions} Mode is Used to Draw the Arm

When you're done, toggle out of [Line] mode and do a [win-fit]. You should now have a picture that looks like our example on page 36. Congratulations!

Saving Your Graphic

This part is easy. Choose **[Project]** {Save As}. This will take you to the Save "pop-up" window, where you'll have these options: *All* or *Grouped Items Only*. When saving a new file you are presented an area to fill out the file location and filename.

So let's keep whatever default path that shows up on the menu (this is probably /usr/amgraf/untitled.g), and just type in **mystar.g** as the filename. Press the **[Enter]** key.

You may have noticed that all the filenames we've been using have only lowercase letters and end in ".g" (like mystar.g). The ".g" is the standard file extension used by MECCA 2000 for graphic files. You could use a different extension, but we suggest you use the ".g" to let you know that this file is a graphic and can be loaded in MECCA using the {Open File} function.

File names are easier remembered if you only use lowercase letters, and remember no punctuation except for the period (.) key.

Save Files Often

If anything can go wrong, it will. Murphy's Law warns us that mistakes happen. Because of this, *we highly recommend* that you pause every 15 or 20 minutes, go to [Project] and {Save/Save As}, then return to your work. For example, if you suddenly realize that you've deleted something you shouldn't have several steps back, you can always recover it from a previously saved version. Just save what you have under a temporary name, and call up the most recently saved version of your graphic to recover the accidentally deleted portion.

Start this habit right now with the exercises in the next chapter, and we promise you won't regret it. Stop and save after every major stage of your drawing, and that way you won't have to go back to the beginning and start over if a mistake occurs.

Printing Your Graphic

This is almost as easy. Choose **[Project]** then select **{Print}**. You'll be presented with a "pop-up" dialog window showing your printer options. Choose your printer and then select **[Okay].** In a minute or two, the file you have in the Window Area will be printed.

Loading in an Existing Drawing

Begin by selecting **[Project]**, **{Open File}**. A "pop-up" window will appear allowing you to locate your file. Once you've located your file, click on it so it appears in the *File name* area, (or if you know the path/file name you can just type it in). Then click on the [Open] button. This will load your drawing on the screen.

Now try clearing the screen using **{New Graphic}** and then draw a few lines. Do not save the lines but go to the {Open File} Menu and load in your mystar.g by placing the cursor over the file name and pressing **[Open]**. Your lines are gone and cannot be recovered. They have been replaced with mystar.g. Remember, that each time you {Open File}, it replaces what is on the screen, and that if you need what is on the screen, it must be saved. INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Chapter 3: Pop-Up Menus and Dialog Boxes

Following are all the MECCA 2000 pop-up menus and their dialog boxes.

- The Project Menu
 - Combine and Save Dialogs
 - The Print Dialogs
- The Line Menu
 - Prorating Rules
 - Section Lines
- The Box Menu
 - Borders and Pantographs
 - SuperImpose
- Arc
- Spline
- Text
 - Place Text into Boxes
 - Place Text on Circle/Path
 - Micro-Text
 - Vertical Adjust
 - Words From PS Letters
- Raster
- Area
- Barcode
- Patterns
- Change
- Move, Copy, and Group
- Transform
 - o Rotate/Scale
 - Point Shaker
 - Shearing
 - Pull/Bending
 - Mirror
- Layer
- Parts
 - Spot Color
 - Process Color
- Window
 - Grid
 - EPS Preview

The Project Menu

Open File

1				
	X Open File			×
	Directory: /usr/amgraf			
	Folders -	File +	Date	Size
Open File	tables	1040.g	2005-04-18 10:56:38	102433
	nsmail	7untitled.g	2005-02-16 13:07:01	317428
Combine	new_fonts	BuildingBlocks.g	2005-05-13 11:18:46	42837
0	nebs	M2KGlobe.g	2005-05-17 13:01:04	1.43M
Save	movefiles	NASPO001.g	2005-05-12 10:32:03	1.81M
Rouse An	leisa	ProgramPower.g	2005-02-01 17:34:18	142157
Save As	formats	ProgramPowerpg2.g	2005-02-01 17:40:57	126094
Drint	fax	RCMa.g	2005-02-01 14:15:36	8.88M
rnin	doc	RCMb.g	2005-02-01 14:15:41	5.45M
Now Granhie	bin	aubrey1.g	2005-04-11 16:31:02	2.21M
new craphic	apptest	aubrey2.g	2005-03-23 13:44:32	5552
Window -> Bitman	Workfile	emailgrad.g	2005-04-12 10:05:44	2.01M
minaow > Dranop	TravelInfo	fig14-33.g	2005-06-16 14:55:48	775613
	Templates	📝 flowchart.g	2005-06-02 12:22:38	27738 🔽
Batch and More				
Deteri ala more		···· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
	Up Dir File Name:			Open
Version Info	Home File Type:	Graphic files	(.g) —	Cancel
Exit	☐ Sort names in dictionary style (case insensitive; digits are numbers)			

Combine and Save Dialogs

🗙 Registration 🛛 🔀
💷 Combine HTTP URL data
🔲 Combine Color Table
Combine Color Spece
Combine DCS Files
Match Current Origin
◇ Register Lower-Left
🔷 Register Upper-Left
Cancel

🗙 Set Resolution		×	
Image is 822 cols by 584 rows			
at <mark>172</mark> dpi			
its size is: width	11.42	in.	
height	8.11	in.	
		1	
Cancel		Save	

🗙 Save File	×
Save: 🔶 All 💠 Grouped Iter	ms Only
Path: fusr/amgraf	
File: untitled.g	Browse
Cancel	Save

Batch and More

Cancel	
Batch Compose	
FormPos	
Convert DCS (cmyk) Files	
Install Type-1 Fonts	
🗙 Batch Compose 🛛 🗙	
Source Path:	
File: Browse	X FormPos Processing
Compose To:	Source Path:
Graphic /ucr/amaraf/	File: Browse
Provice	
Didwise Didwise	Output Path:
	FP File: Text Layer 16
Pages: 🔷 All 💠 From: 🛛 To:	MF File: 🔶 Mode 0 💸 Mode 1
☐ Do not check spelling ☐ Open when done	☐ Ignore text on laver
☐ Match PDEF page size (if compose to PS/PDF)	
	Barcodes: Vignore an barcodes
Open Existing Document File	✓ Include only barcodes:
Cancel w/ Specs Compose	Cancel

Note: The Convert DCS and Install Type-1 Fonts menus will take you to the Open File option. There you can browse for its needed file types.

The Print Dialogs

🗙 Print		×
Printer/Imager: Xero>	x DocuPrint N2125 Tray 1 - plain paper	
🔄 Print to File:		Browse Set Paper Size
🔄 TIFF Thumbnail:		Browse
Rotate: 0 Scale	e: 100.00 % Tiled Printing	Copies: 1
Distort Print Dimensions	3	
🔲 Cut Marks 📋 Print v	vith Grid 🛛 📃 Print Only a Rectangular Region	🔟 and use it as Drawing Limits
Exclude components o	utside the region	
📕 with Density Correctio	n 🔄 Scale Raster Density Raster Dens	sity Map
📕 Mirror-Print (Read-Wro	ong) 🔄 Print Negative	
□ RGB as CMYK		
Cancel		Okay

🗙 Print	×
Printer/Imager: Xerox DocuPrint N2125 Tray 1 - pl	ain paper
☐ Print to File:	Browse Set Paper Size
I TIFF Thumbnail:	Browse
Rotate: 0	Copies: 1
Distort Print Dimensions	
Cut Marks Print with Grid Print Only :	a Rectangular Region \square and use it as Drawing Limits
$_$ Exclude components outside the region	Use drawing dimensions for all parts
with Density Correction Scale Raster Density	Raster Density Map
Mirror-Print (Read-Wrong) Print Negative	
Output: Scale: Seps: Des	cription:
01 📕 100.00 % 📕 🦵 📕	lack and Yellow, Red Original Marginal
02 📕 100.00 % 📕 🥅 📕	lack and Yellow, Red Copy Marginal
03 📕 100.00 % 🔳	lack Backer
💠 One Sep per Page 🔶 One Part per Page 🔲 One Sep per	File 🔲 RGB as CMYK
Cancel	Okay

The Line Menu



User Defined Line Styles

Combine .PAT File	🗙 User Defined Line Style 🛛 🔀
Add New Style	Name:
Edit a Style	
Delete Styles	Pattern Lengths (max. 45-inch each; internal resolution is
Save to .PAT File	
	On Off d
	On Off
	On Off
	On Off
	Weight: 10 -
	Line Ends: Round -
	□ Grid Origin X: Y:
	🔟 Adjust ends
	Color: 700
	Screen: 133.00 Default – Angle: auto
	Cancel Copy From Okay

Prorating Rules and Section Lines

🗙 Parameters for Prorating Rules	🗙 Section Lines 🛛 🗵
Number of Horizontal Rules: 5	Angle: 45
Number of Vertical Rules: 0	Spacing: 3p
👅 Add Top 👅 Add Bottom 🔳 Add Left 🔳 Add Right	Origin X: 0
Close	Origin Y: þ
	Pick Origin
	Close

Modify Lines and Position Assistant

	Last Point
	Last Dir/Dist
	Align
	Intersect
	Circle Center
	Line End
	Mid Line
	Mid Point
🔷 Trim Line	Dir/Dist
♦ Modify Ends	Hold
🔷 Move Ends	Component Center
🔷 Break Line	Window Center

The Box Menu

Exit	Box Functions
Unde	0
Set	Box Attributes
Char	nge Box Attributes
🔷 Resi	ize A Box
🔷 Char	nge Dimensions
🔶 Divid	de into Columns
🔷 Divid	de into Rows
Posi	tion Assistant 📃 😕
📕 Snaj	p to Item
🗖 Snaj	p to Grid

Set Box Attributes

🔀 Set Box Attributes					×
Edges					
Weight: 5d	Style:	solid	-	Position:	Center -
				Indivi	dual Edges
Corners 🔲 Corner	s Only				
Radius: Od	Type:	Square	-	Individ	ual Corners
Color: 700		Layer:	1	5	Screen
Background					
Color Start: -1	End	: -1		Layer:	1
Grad Angle: 90		Graduatio	on	5	Screen
Bars None I	Border None	Panto	None	Supe	rimpose N
Reset to Defaults					
Cancel		Match			Okay

Graduation

Screen

X Graduations	irectional		Default
Grad Type: Dire Ra	adial 🛛 🔀 Screen Para	meters 🛛 🔀	Adobe Dot
	Freque	ency: h33	H-Line
Progression: Linea	ar —		V-Line
Badial Offset X: 0	ar A	ngle: auto	Diamond
Loga	arithmic Screen:	Default =	Filince
Radial Offset Y: 0 RevL	Log		Courses
Cust	tam		Square
Cancel		Okay	Custom

Custom Gradient Map Dialog



Edges and Corners

🗙 Edges			×				
	Weight	Position					
Bottom	5d	Center 🦂	-1	X Corners	Weight	Radius	Type
Right	5d	Center 🛛	-1	Upper Left	5d	Od	Square -
Тор	5d	Center -	-1	Upper Right	5d	Od	Square —
Loft	54	Contor		Lower Right	5d	Od	Square –
	Ju	Center	븨	Lower Left	5d	Od	Square –
Canc	el	Okay		Cancel			Okay

Even and Odd Bars Dialog

🗙 Even/Odd Bars	\$			×
Inside Bars: Nor	ne — 🛛 H	- Spacing: 1	/ 0	i =
Even Bar				
Color Start: 600		End: 600		Layer: 1
Grad Angle: 90	_	Linear	-	Screen
Odd Bar				
Color Start: 600		End: 600		Layer: 1
Grad Angle: 90		Linear	-	Screen
Cancel				Okay

Borders

🗙 Border Settings 🛛 🗙	🗖 Bord 🗵 🔺
None Borders List Width: 10p	001
Deckunnund Colom COO	002
Background Color: 600 Layer: 1	004
Foreground Color: 700 Layer: 1	005
	006
Cancel Okay	008
	009
	Close

Pantographs

imes Panto Settings			×	🗖 Par	V A
None	Pantos List	Rotation:	0 -	001	\square
🔲 Adjust Patter	n to fit box	Size: 1	Op	002	
Background Color	: 600	Layer:	1	004	
Foreground Color	: 700	Layer:	1	005	
Cancel		0	kay	008	
				Clos	;e

SuperImpose

🗙 SuperImpose	×
File:	Browse
Image Offset X: 0 Offset Y: 0	
Use Panto Background Layer Color: 610 Layer: 2	Screen
☐ Its Areas & Text screen settings override (normal mode is Text only, using screen settings here).	
Cancel	Okay

The Arc Menu



The Spline Menu



The Text Menu



Set Text Attributes

Cancel

Okay

🗙 Set T	ext Attribute	s			×
Font:	ge –	Style	: <u>n</u>	Maste	r Font List
		(key-in n	nnemonic, follo	wed by the	Enter key)
Size:	100.00d -	Se	t H/V Size	Lead:	110.00d
Mode:	FL -	Color:	700		
Measur	re: 3.3195	Layer:	1		
Lea	ad Before		Indent	н	yphen
Wor	rd Spacing	Let	ter Spacing	к	erning
	Rotate		Screen	OL/UL	/Super/Sub
		Rese	et to Defaults		[
	. (
Can	icel		Match		Okay
Fo	nt	Style	FL B	utton	
🔶 ge Genev	/a	🔷 b	Flush Left		
🔷 ti Times	Roman	🔷 bi	Flush Right	t	
🔷 pa Palatii	no	† ≎i	Centered		
🔷 bk Bookn	nan	♦1	Justified		
🔷 ag Avant	Garde	♦li	Flush Left	Centered	
🔷 ce Centu	ry	◆ n	Flush Right	t Centered	
🔷 hn Helve	tica-Na rr ow	♦ xb			
☆ za Zapf C	Thancery	♦ XDI			
🔷 co Courie	er 🛛				
Set I	H/V Size Butto	n			
🗙 Horizont	al/Vertical Size:	s X	1		
📕 Both H	I/V Point Size:	100d			
Horizon					
110112011	tal Point Size:	100d			

Other Text Attributes

🗙 Master Font Li	st	×	🗙 Set Lead Before 🛛 🔀
Match mnemonic	:		Lead before: 110d
Match fontname	:		
	R	everse List Order	Cancel Okay
abbes	Abbess		
acapp	Acappella	L T	🗙 Indentations 🛛 🔀
accia	Acclamation		1st indent width: D
accor	Accora AcmeFont		
acrop	Acropolis		2nd indent width: U
addle	Addled		Indent Lines: 0
ay alfre	Alfredo		
aliso	Alison		Cancel Okay
altoo	Altoona		
an	Arabic		X Hyphenation Control
andor	Andorra		May, consecutive hyphenated lines: 2
anglo	Anglophile		
antic	AnticFont		Min. chars in word required: 7
apple	Appleby		Min. chars before hyphen: 3
artic	Articulate Aubrev		Min. chars after hyphen: 3
ht Calent h2 Chil			· · · ·
bi Select, ba Styl	es, p4 or CTL-p3 Sam	pie	Cancel Okay
	Close		
X Word Spacing		X Letter Spacing	×
Min. word	space: 20	Letter space: 🔌	> On 💠 Off
Max. word	space: 56	Min. letter sp	bace: 0
ideal word	space: 34	Max. letter sp	pace: 0
		Letter sp	pace: 0
Cancel	Okay		
		Cancel	Okay

Kerning: ◆ On <> Off Min. size before kerning: 100d Cancel Okay	Rotation Rotation angle: D Cancel Okay
🗙 Screen Parameters 🛛 🗙	🗙 Miscellaneous 🛛 🗶
Frequency: 133	Outline size: 2 %
Angle: auto	Underline size: 10 %
Screen: Default –	Underline offset: -20 %
Cancal	Superscript offset: 70 %
	Superscript size: 40 %
	Subscript offset: 20 %
	Subscript size: 40 %
	Figure space substitution char:
	Cancel Okay

Place Text into Boxes Option

Done Text into Boxes	Set Gutters
	🗙 Paste Parameters 🛛 🔀
 Define Boxes to Use 	🔲 Same Gutters All Around
 ◇ Modify Defined Boxes ◇ Prepare Text to Paste 	Top Gutter: D
Pat Cuttom	Right Gutter: 0
Set Gutters Set Text Attributes	Bottom Gutter: 0
Position Assistant 😕	Left Gutter: 0
Snap to Item	Cancel Okay
🕅 Snap to Grid	

Place Text on Circle Option



Place Text on Path Option



The Text Input Box

🗙 Text Input	×
Read in a File Code Chart	🔲 Do Not Check Spelling
This is an example of input text.	
Cancel	Okay

Micro-Text Option

	🔀 Set Text Attributes	
	Font: ge - Style:	b Master Font List
Done Micro-Text	(key-in mnemo	nic, followed by the Enter key)
	Size: 10d - Set H/V S	ize Lead: 0
	Mode: FL - Color: 700	
Set Text Attributes Input Text Data	Measure: 3.3195 Layer:	1 Set for Micro-text
Pick Path Items like Area Boundary	Lead Before Inder	t Hyphen
,,	Word Spacing Letter Spa	acing Kerning
Position Assistant	Rotate Scree	n OL/UL/Super/Sub
Snap to Item	Cancel Mate	h

V-Adjust Option

 ✓ Vertical Adjustment ✓ Align Horizontal Items to Common Top/Bottom Margins: 		
Centered		
\diamond Re-space Vertical Paragraphs to fit Top and Bottom.		
💠 Set common LB	to Paragraphs.	
Cancel	Okay	

Words from PS Letters



The Raster Menu



Mono Raster Trace Outline



🗙 Raster Relief Controls 🛛 🗵			
Line Angle: 🔶 0 💠 45 💠 90 💠 135			
Spacing: 6 pixels	s	0.54p	
Height: 3 pixels	s -	0.27p	
Front Angle: 45 degre	es <u>+45</u>	-45	
Back Angle: 60 degre	es	Y-60	
Uth Drapes			
🔟 Oscillate		~	
\square Scanlines Only $\mathbb{R} imes \mathbb{R}$			
Ignore if Thinner Than 3	pixels –	0.27p	
Offset Map from LLC by 0	pixels —	0.0p	
Cancel Set Line Attributes Okay			

Raster Relief for Black and White Logos



The Area Menu



🗙 Set Area Attributes 🛛 🔀			
Color Start:	700		
End:	700	Grad Angle: 0	
Graduation:	Directional –	Linear –	
Tight-range Directional			
Radial Center:	📕 center of area	0	
	Pick Center		
Layer:	1		
Screen:	133.00 Default -	Angle: auto	
Cancel	Match	Okay	

The Barcode Menu


A Barcode Attributes Menu

🗙 Se	t Codabar Attributes				Þ
	Barcode		Background Hum		eadables
	Code:	012345678	9		
	Reduction:	ot	N	lumber of Digits:	10
	Height:	500.1383t	s	tart Character:	a -
	CPI:	2.780	s	top Character:	b
	Rotation:	0.0	degrees (internally roun	ided to 1/10 degri	ees)
	X/Y Position:	ot	/ lot		
	X/Y Offset:	ot	/ ot		
	Color:	700	Layer: <u>1</u> S	icreen: 133	I
	Load Default]			Info
	Cancel				Okay

Barcode Attributes Background Menu

🗙 Se	et Codabar Attributes		×			
	Barcode	Background	Human Readables			
	Background Gutters — Top: Ot	Human F Percer	Readable Gutters			
	Bottom: Ot Left: 100.1383t	Betwee	en Start Character and ie: Ot			
	Right: 100.13831	Betwee Charac	en Barcode and Stop cter: Ot			
	Color: 600	Layer: 3 Sc	reen: 133			
Load Default Info						
	Cancel		Okay			

Barcode	Background	Human Readable
Code Characters	Start Character	Stop Character
Show this Human Re	eadable	
Y Position: -200.1	1383t	
Font Name:	ge –	
Horizontal Size: 12p	Vertical Size: 12p	
Comp Mode: CE	-	
· · · ·		
Color: 700	Layer: 2	Screen: 133
Color: 700	Layer: 2	Screen: 133

Barcode Attributes Human Readable Menu

The Patterns Menu

Exit Patterns	
 Spirals along Path 	-
♦ Waves along Path	
♦ Waves between Paths	
Define Wheel and Pen Set Line Attributes	_
Fick Path Items like Area Boundary	
Position Assistant	-
📕 Snap to Item	
🖵 Snap to Grid	

Spirals along Path



Waves along Path

🗙 Wave Pattern Settings	×
Wave Height: 1i	
Wave Width: 1i	\wedge
Vertical offset: 0	/ \
Cycles: 1	L
Start at: 🔶 Valley 🔶 Peak	
Top Shift: 0	
Vary weight by 0 steps, offset at 80	% line weight
Top Curvature as % of wave width:	16
Bot Curvature as % of wave width:	16
	📕 Same amount
☐ Adjust to fit	Make Pattern
Close	

Waves between Paths

🗙 Wave Pattern Settings 🛛 🔀
Wave Height: 1i
Wave Width: 11
Base Gutter: 0
Top Gutter: 0
Cycles: 1
Start at: 🔶 Valley 💊 Peak
Top Shift: 0
Vary weight by 0 steps, offset at 80 % line weight
Top Curvature as % of wave width:
16
Bot Curvature as % of wave width:
📕 Same amount
☐ Adjust to fit Make Pattern
Close

The Change Menu

Change Options

Done Changes	Change Attributes Dialog				
	★ Change Line Attributes				
Change Attributes Depth Order	Weight: Color:				
Picking Lockouts	Style: 🔶 Standard 🦳 🚽				
Clipping Mask	♦ Named				
Combine/Separate	Layer:				
Position Assistant	Screen:				
Depth Order Menu	Reset to Defaults				
Done Depth Change	Cancel Match Okay				
♦ Send to Back	Picking Lockouts Clipping Mask Combine/Separate				
 Move to Front Evaluation 	Provide Cooperation				
 Exchange Put in Front of 	Done Lockouts Done Masking Combine				
	Separate				
Position Assistant	Clear Lockout List Set Clipping Mask				
Snap to Item	Position Assistant				
🗆 Snap to Grid	UnLock Clipping Item				
	Position Assistant >>				

The Move, Copy, and Group Menus

Move and Copy

	X Copy Options
	 Copy to Anywhere
	💠 Copy X
	💠 Сору Ү
	☐ Copy to Multiple Pos
	📀 Copy to Plumb
	💠 Copy to Level
Exit Move	🕹 Copy Others
	Number of Copies: 1
Move to Anywhere	🗆 Target Layer: 1
♦ Move X	♦ Set final copy spot color
☆ Move Y	 Per-step density increment
♦ Move to Plumb	Color value: 0 (+/- percent)
♦ Move to Level	Reset
♦ Bring Others	
Again	Set final copy line weight
Reverse	Per-step line weight increment
	Line weight: 0 (+/- percent)
Position Assistant 🔰 🍃	Reset
Snap to Item	Clasa
☐ Snap to Grid	Close

Group Options

Done Group		
All		
Pick		
 Intersect 		
♦ Inside	X Group by Color/Screen	
Ungroup All	Color	
🔷 Ungroup Pick	◆ Exact Start: End:	
🔷 Ungroup Intersect		Lines
🔷 Ungroup Inside		Arcs/Ellipses
hy Color/Screen	Screen	Splines
by Item Type	Frequency = Angle:	Boxes
Invert Selection		Text
	Dot: All Custom:	Raster
Position Assistant 🛛 😕	EPS objects will not be grouped	Areas
Snan to Item	Connect	EPS Objects
Snap to Grid		FLF

The Transform Options

Transforms Options	Rotate/Scale Dialog				
Exit Transforms	X Rotate/Scale Controls				
	Angle: 0.0 degrees.				
A Rotate/Scale					
	3cale A. 100.00 % T. 100.00 %				
◇ Point-Shaker	☐ Scale to Size (at most 1 new copy possible)				
🔷 Shearing	Width: Height:				
🔷 Logarithmic Move	📑 Auto-Height 📑 Auto-Width				
Set Transform Center	Scale Line Weights Make Copies Move each copy by: Offset X: Co Offset Y: C Scale Offsets at each step by:				
Set Parameters					
Position Assistant					
📕 Snap to Item	X: % Y: %				
Snap to Grid	A Sat anat salar for the final same				
Point-Shaker Dialog	Set spot color for the final copy				
X Displacement Parameters	Color volue: 0 (./ nemont) most				
Horizontal/Vertical only					
Max. H displacement: 0	Set final copy line weight				
May V displacement: 0	Line weight: 0 (1/ percent) reset				
	The weight, b (+ percent) reset				
	Close				
Max. Radius: 0					
 Random Angles 					
♦ Angle: 0 degrees	Shearing Options Pulling/Bending				
🔄 Set Scope Limit 🔄 🔄 set new range	Done Shearing Done Pulling				
💠 Uniform	Pull Horizonial				
🗇 Max. displacement at center					
Max. displacement at tangent	A Band Horizontal Set Spline Segs				
Maintain anon arc snan (turn anly)	◆ Band Vertical				
Minimum arc snan	Replace Text with Areas Set Anchor				
Rotate elliptical arcs	Clear Anchor				
	♠ Move a Point				
Make new copy	♦ Move a Foint				
Close	☆ Move Inner-2				
	🔷 Turn Around a Joint				
Mirror Options	staighten				
Exit Transforms	Eight Directions				
	♦ All Directions				
Mirror	Lock Slope				
◇ Point-Shaker	Position Assistant				
♦ Shearing	Tones to Here				
Cogarithmic Move	Snap to Item				
Mirror Axis	ntal				
🗆 Do as new Copy 🔷 Pick Vertica	J				
Position Assistant	ting Line				
	r Line				
Snap to Item					

Snap to Grid

The Layer Menu

🗙 Layers Control 🔀						
All On	17-32	All Off				
= 1 01	E 02 E 03	E 04				
🔳 🚺 05	👅 🔁 06 🔳 📕 07	E 08				
E 09	= 10 = 11	E 12				
I3 📕 📕	👅 🗧 14 🔳 📃 15	E 16				
B-3 or CTL/F toggles layers.						
Close	Setup	Okay				

🗙 Define Layer Colors					×
	Check the layer to set, then	select color # for it from	the list:		
1	01 700	🔲 09 📃 🗧	🗆 17	1 🗌 25	3
3	 02 2	🔲 10 🔤 🤞	🗆 18	2 📃 26	4
4	🗆 03 🛛 💦 3	📃 11 🔤	🗆 19 📃	3 🗌 27	5
6	🗆 04 🛛 🙀 4	🗆 12	20	4 📃 28	6
7	🗆 05 5	🗆 13 👘 1	21	5 📃 29	1
8	<u> </u>	💷 14	□ 22	6 🔄 30	2
10	🗆 07 📃 1	🗆 15 🔤	23	1 🛛 31	3
11	<u>08</u> 2	🗆 16 🔤	24	2 🔄 32	700
13	Layer C: 00.00 M: 0.00	Y: 00.00 K: 00.00			
14	Chart C: 00.00 M: 00.00	Y: 00.00 K: 00.00	Save to File	Load from File	Reset
Cancel					Okay

🗙 Save File			×
Directory: /usr/amgraf/Gimp			
Folders +	File +	Date	Size
gif files tif files			N KI
Up Dir File Name: Ur	ıtitled		Save
Home File Type:	Layer chart (lyr) —	Cancel
Sort names in dictionary st	yle (case insensitive; digits are nu	nbers)	

X		×
?	Reset to LAYI	ERCHART01 now?
	Yes	No

The Parts Menu

🗙 Drawing Parts			×	
Black and Yellow, Red Original Marginal 🗐				
Black and Yellow, Red Copy Marginal 📃 02				
Black Backer				
Show One Part Only Display All Parts				
Cancel	Edit	Okay	,	

🗙 Drawing Parts		×
CopyTo Fart 01: * Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 3 Description: Black and Yellow, Red Original Marginal	Edit
CopyTo Fart 02: Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 3 Description: Black and Yellow, Red Copy Marginal	Edit
CopyTo Fart 03: * Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 1 Description: Black Backer	Edit
CopyTo 🗆 Part 04: 💠 Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 0 Description:	Edit
CopyTo 🗆 Part 05: 💠 Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 0 Description:	Edit
CopyTo 🗌 Part 06: 💠 Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 0 Description:	Edit
CopyTo 🗆 Part 07: 💠 Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 0 Description:	Edit
CopyTo 🗆 Part 08: 💠 Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 0 Description:	Edit
16 Parts Save to File Load Spec File		
Cancel	Ţ	Okay

Spot Color Parts

X Part 1							
Description: Black and Yellow, Red Original Marginal							
Notes:							
☐ Use Distortion: scaling X: 0.000000	Y: 0.000000	choke/spread: 0.000000 mils					
Type: 🔶 Spot 🔷 Process – 3 seps.							
Layer: 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08	09 10 11 12 18 14 15 16						
	2: =						
stepped:							
Step & Repeat Values	Step & Repeat Values						
	(
Print, Knock-Out in Others	Print, Ignored in Others	Print on all Seps					
Print in this Sep	Knock-Out in this Sep	Ignored in all Seps					
Reset							
Cancel	32 Layers	Okay					

🗙 Part 2		×			
Description: Black and Yellow, Re	d Copy Marginal				
Notes:					
Use Distortion: scaling X: 0.000000	Y: 0.000000	choke/spread: 0.000000 mils			
Type: 🔶 Spot 🔷 Process – 3 seps.					
Layer: 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08	09 10 11 12 13 14 15 16				
	note				
	note				
stepped:					
Step & Repeat Values					
Print, Knock-Out in Others	Print, Ignored in Others	Print on all S e ps			
Print in this Sep	Knock-Out in this Sep	Ignored in all Seps			
Reset					
Cancel	32 Layers	Okay			

Process Color Parts

🗙 Drawing Parts			×
CM	YK Color		01
Show One Page	art Only	Display	All Parts
Cancel	Edit		Okay

🗙 Drawing Parts		×
CopyTo Fart 01: 💠 Spot 🔶 Process	Seps: 4 Description: CMYK Color	Edit
CopyTo 🗌 Part 02: 💠 Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 0 Description:	Edit
CopyTo 🔲 Part 03: 💠 Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 0 Description:	Edit
CopyTo 🔲 Part 04: 💠 Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 0 Description:	Edit
CopyTo 🔲 Part 05: 💠 Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 0 Description:	Edit
CopyTo 🗆 Part 06: 💠 Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 0 Description:	Edit
CopyTo 🔲 Part 07: 💠 Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 0 Description:	Edit
CopyTo 🗆 Part 08: 💠 Spot 💠 Process	Seps: 0 Description:	Edit
16 Parts Save to File Load Spec File		
Cancel		Okay

		×
Description: CMYK Color		
Notes:		
☐ Use Distortion: scaling X: 0.00000	0 Y: 0.000000	choke/spread: 0.000000 mils
Type: 🔷 Spot 🔷 Process – 4 seps.		
Layer: 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08	09 10 11 12 13 14 15 16	
Y:		
M:		
	note	
stepped:		
stepped:		
stepped:		
Stepped:	Print, Ignored in Others	Print on all Seps
stepped: I<	Print, Ignored in Others Knock-Out in this Sep	Print on all Seps
Stepped:	Print, Ignored in Others Knock-Out in this Sep Reset	Print on all Seps
stepped: > <	Print, Ignored in Others Knock-Out in this Sep Reset	Print on all Seps

🗙 Step & Repeat					×
Copy to All L	.aye	rs		Copy to H	igher Layers
La	yer	H count	V count	H offset	V offset
СоруТо 🛛	01	0	0	0	0
СоруТо 🗆	02	0	0	0	0
СоруТо 🗆	03	0	0	0	0
СоруТо 🗆	04	0	0	0	0
СоруТо 🗆	05	0	0	0	0
СоруТо 🗆	06	0	0	0	0
СоруТо 🗆	07	0	0	0	0
СоруТо 🗆	08	0	0	0	0
СоруТо 🗆	09	0	0	0	0
СоруТо 🗆	10	0	0	0	0
СоруТо 🗆	11	0	0	0	0
СоруТо 🗆	12	0	0	0	0
СоруТо 🗆	13	0	0	0	0
СоруТо	14	0	0	0	0
СоруТо	15	0	0	0	0
СоруТо	16	0	0	0	0
17-32			Reset		Close

Step and Repeat Values Dialog

The Window Menu

🗙 Window	Options	;						×
Color M	lode:	٠	Spot	\diamond	Proce	ess	🔷 Тур)e
Text M	ode:	٠	Norm	al 🔷	Fast		0 AA	
Line M	ode:	٠	Thick	\diamond	Thin			
Zero-We	ight:	•	Visibl	e 🔷	Invisi	ible		
Ra	ster:	٠	Norm	al 🔷	Fast			
	Raste	er Inte	ensity	:				100
	10	20	30	40 50	60	70 8	0 90	100
Grid C	ontrol				🔲 G	rouped	Items	Only
EPS P	review	r						
Drawin	ng Din	nensi	ons:	Width	: 8.5		Heigh	it: 11
Cance							0	kay

The Grid Dialog Box

🗙 Grid Options	×
Orientation:	🔷 Print Position 🔶 Technical Drawing
Origin: X:	0 Y: 0
Horizontal Count:	10 cells per 1 inch -
Vertical Count:	6 cells per 1 inch -
Grid Display:	💠 On 🔶 Off
Accuracy:	🔶 half grid 🔷 whole grid
Position Read-out:	🔷 grid 🔶 current units
Use Grid Found in File:	🔶 yes 💠 no
Cancel	Help Okay

EPS Preview Dialog

🗙 EPS Preview 🔀
You can use GNU Ghostscript to generate a bitmap showing the content of an EPS file.
Note: Ghostscript may not always generate a bitmap successfully, in which case the standard "EPS Frame" will still be used.
Also, enabling this option causes each EPS to be handled the same as a raster image, adding disk and CPU usage.
Enable EPS preview bitmaps at 72 dpi
Close

Chapter 4: Business Forms Composition

Professionally composed forms are products of professional forms composition systems operated by skilled forms operators. Forms composition is the process of creating a "master" from which multiple copies can be printed. Before we get into the details of developing this form master, it may be best to define a form.

What is a Form

The generally accepted definition of a form is a piece of paper containing pre-printed data that also has spaces for the entry of additional information after the form is printed. The fact that the additional information will be entered at a later time after the form is printed, determines that the document is a form. A form always has spaces left blank and available for entering of data according to an individual predetermined format.

MODEL 715	ALL TH	6 AND PLAI READ R
SIZE	PLAIN LIST PRICE PER 100	GALL PRI
1 - 3	27.00	3.
4 - 6	48.00	3.4
7 - 9	74.00	10. 1
10 - 12	125.00	14.3
13 - 15	155.00	17.
16 - 18	180.00	24.
19 - 21	215.00	30.
22 - 24	260.00	44.





This is definitely a form since data is to be placed inside the rules after printing.

Forms typesetting is different than any other typesetting because of the need of the form to be filled in and processed after it is printed. A form that looks nice but not spaced properly, is as much a disaster in typesetting as an overset. For a form, visual appearance is not enough. All forms are created to do a job. Forms are printed to become clerical tools. After printing, the blank spaces are filled in by hand, machine, typewriters, computers, or other methods. They are filled in, decollated, rubber stamped, mailed, stapled, read, filed and processed in a variety of ways. Spacing plays a major role in forms creation if the form is to function properly. Knowing how the form is to be filled in (hand, typewriter, etc.) is necessary to match the blanks with the proper spacing. Learning to place items in the proper spacing becomes a major role in forms composition.

Spacing on Forms

Ο 2 3 1 21222255272820 11220 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 2

Business machines that fill in forms move horizontally and vertically in increments of inches. Therefore, forms must be drawn using inches as the measurement scale.

Standard Form Spacing is Tenths and Sixths of an Inch

A standard spacing between lines on a form is one-third of an inch. Using two picas or twenty-four points is not the same as one-third of an inch. They are quite close but there is a difference and that difference accumulates as you work your way down the form. Accuracy on a forms master for the continuous form is vital. This is shown in Figure 6-3.

	1/6-inch form spacing	12-point spacing
1		
 8-inch denth		
Ļ		
	• • • •	

As you can see, after a distance of eight inches, there is a spacing difference of approximately four points, which is more than enough to create difficulties. Almost all business machines space down six lines to the inch. Single spacing is one-sixth of an inch (1/6"), double spacing is one-third of an inch (1/3"), and triple spacing is one-half inch (1/2"). From left to right business machines print ten (10) characters to the inch across. For an elite typewriter the spacing is twelve (12) characters to the inch across.

Forms Design

Forms design occurs before forms composition, but it is imperative that all forms compositors have at least the basic knowledge of forms design. Without this knowledge they are capable of producing visually attractive forms but they are not compatible with the business world, thereby creating processing inefficiencies or worse.

Theoretically, the design of the form should be presented to the compositor as a complete and accurate drawing on forms graph paper with the proper spacing increments shown, but this is not always the case. Therefore, the compositor is forced to design and set forms simultaneously. This is where knowing how the form is to be filled in and used is required.

Getting Ready for the Form

There are several functions that we are going to use in our exercise that is specifically designed for the Business Form world. They are:

[Grid Control], {Draw Box} (with its Borders and Pantographs), and {Place Text into Boxes}

Each of the functions above are explained in detail. It would be advised to read through the material and try their individual exercises before continuing.

What we are attempting to do with this exercise is to explain how to approach a form and combine all of the capabilities of these functions into producing a finished product.

CUSTOMER NO.	CUST. ORDER NO.	DATE C	RDERED	DATE SHIPPED	SHIP	VIA	REPRESENTATIVE
ORDERED	SHIPPED	PROD. NO.	D	ESCRIPTION		UNIT PRICE	AMOUNT

In this exercise we are going to draw the form below.

Setting the Units of Measure

Since we have spent so much time discussing the importance of spacing, the first step is to setup your system to be in inches.

If your system is not setup as inches for the default, then click on the Units of Measure Icon located in the upper right-hand corner of your screen. Then select "Inches" from the "pull-down" menu.

Insuring Accurate Spacing

Setting up a grid will insure accurate picks. It causes the cursor to pick grid points only when you are drawing. The grid has a default of 1/20" and 1/12". It is the most commonly found measurements in forms. The [Grid Control] option is located under the [Window] button.

- 1. [Window] [Grid Control]
- 2. Toggle {View Grid} = Grid is Visible,
- **3.** [Okay]
- **4.** [Line] {Snap to}, and select *grid*. Note: This step may need to be repeated to toggle *Item* to off.

Screen will display a grid of one-tenth inch horizontal and one-sixth inch vertical. All of your picks will go exactly in between grids or to grid points only. This allows you to draw all rules in 1/20" and 1/12" spacing.

Changing the Window Display

A gray background is necessary to see White, Black, and Gray on the graphics monitor. Since our form has reversed heads and graduated screens it would be nice to see the component's color as they are drawn.

To do this we are going to setup the Window to meet our needs:

- 1. [Window]
- 2. For *Color Mode* select *Process Color* This will show us White and Black components as they are drawn.
- **3.** For *Line Mode* select *Thick* Line Display. This will show us the thickness of lines to assure proper line weight.
- **4.** [Okay]

Drawing the Three Boxes

In this exercise we are going to draw this form using box construction. Drawing boxes is a little more difficult to learn than rectangles, but is quicker to use because the inside areas are incorporated in the box. And if the box is the wrong size it can be modified to another grid point.

Look at the drawing below. In your mind's eye, see that it is made up of three different types of areas. The first, being the top empty area with two rounded top corners. Secondly, we have a black box that holds the white lines and reverse type. Third is the entire graduated area, ignoring that it is broken into smaller pieces.



Empty Box with Rounded Corners

We are going to use the {Draw Box} function under **[Box]**. We are rounding only the two top corners and giving them a radius of one-sixth of an inch. Let's do this in the {**Set Box Attributes**} dialog.

First select Individual Corners. For the upper corners *Weight*, type in **1p** and for their *Radius*, type in **1/6i**. Now select **Round** from the *Type* pull-down menu. For *Background Color Start and End* leave in **-1** meaning "empty or transparent". Select **[Okay]**.

Now let's draw the box by picking two diagonal corners, similar to drawing a rectangle. As you can see our box is empty and has rounded corners.

Black Box with Square Corners

We need to {Set Box Attributes} again to get rid of the rounded corners and put in a black shade. Type in **1p** for the *Weight* under *Edges*. Type in **0** for the Corners *Radius*. Select *Square* from the *Type* pull-down menu.

For *Background Color Start and End* type in **700.** Select **[Okay]** to accept the settings.

Draw your box. Be sure to pick the exact corners on your form. Your box has four square corners with an inside of Black.

Graduated Box

Again we need to **{Set Box Attributes}**, but before doing so we need to look at our angle of graduation. The Start Color is always in the center of the compass. The End Color is at the end of the direction requested.

Looking at the first graduated piece only, the box will be divided later. The area starts out lighter with a 5-percent screen (number 605), going to a darker screen (possibly 630) or 30-percent. Set the direction of the End Color to 90-degrees.



Select {Set Box Attributes} and type in the *Background* parameters. For *Color Start* type 605, for *Color End* type 630, and for *Grad Angle* type 90.

Select **[Okay]** to accept your settings and then pick the two diagonal corners that make up the entire bottom piece. We will split the box next.

Dividing the Boxes into Individual Columns

Boxes are different than rectangles in the sense that they can be broken into smaller box segments. We are going to divide these boxes into columns instead of draw lines. The advantage is that when a revision is made to a column, (making it larger or smaller) the area is modified along with the size.

Lets do the top first.

- 1. [Box] {Divide Box in Columns} You will be prompted to "pick item to modify". Pick the top rule of the box.
- 2. Using the {Position Assistant}, {Hold} option. {Hold} from the left edge of your box. Now, measuring from the left edge of the box to the place where the box should be divided. Type in that amount, [right arrow], and [Enter]. Click the "right" mouse button and select {Done}. Your box has now been divided into two separate boxes.

- 3. Repeat step 2 for all lines in the top white box.
- **4.** Skip the Reversed box and move on to the Graduated box. **Pick the bottom of the box** when asked to "Pick item to modify".
- **5.** Do this for each graduated box.

Changing Angle of Graduation

Every other graduated box is graduating at an opposite direction. This is easy to accomplish.

- 1. [Group] {Pick} the second, fourth and sixth boxes, quit out of [Group].
- 2. {Change Box Attributes} This will bring up the dialog window, choose [Match] and then pick the grouped boxes. The attributes of the grouped boxes will appear in the dialog window.
- 3. Type over the *Inside Grad Angle* making is 270 instead of 90. Click [Okay]
- 4. Go back to [Group] and {Ungroup All}. Now quit out of [Group].

You have rotated the direction of the End Color simply by changing the graduation angle.

White Rules

Here we are going to draw the white rules in place after setting our attributes to white.

1. [Line] {Set Line Attributes}

- 2. For *Color* Type in: 600 This is the color number for white.
- **3.** [Okay]
- 4. Start drawing the lines in the reversed area by **picking the start and then the end points of each line.**

Text Placement

Using {Place Text into Boxes}

Since our text on this form is minimal the option of {Place Text into Boxes} is best. It is found under the [Text] button.

This function is devised to assist the placement of text into pre-drawn boxes usually found in business forms, organizational charts, etc. The boxes can be drawn with [Lines], {Prorated Rules} or [Draw]. The system is looking for four sides to determine the area. We are going to set our attributes for our text, then key in the text. Defining where the boxes are located designates positioning for the text.

- 1. [Text], {Place Text into Boxes}
- 2. {Set Text Attributes}
- 3. Font {Geneva}
- 4. Style {Normal}
- 5. *Size* {6 point}
- 6. Color Type in: 700 [Enter] for Black

Now we must setup how we want the text to be positioned within the boxes:

- 7. *Mode* {Flush Left}, *Vert* {Flush Top}, [Okay].
- 8. {Set Gutters}
- 9. Top Gutter Type in: 3p.
- 10. Left Gutter Type in: 6p.
- 11. [Okay] The gutters keep the text from touching the rules when composed.

12. {Define Boxes} - This works similar to the "zoom" function by use of a dynamic rectangle to determine the area in question. Draw a dynamic rectangle around the first row of boxes. When picking the boxes pick on the outside of the lines, as shown below.



- **13.** The boxes selected for text will appear white with a diagonal line drawn through each one. If you happen to get a box you don't want, use {Modify Defined Boxes} and pick the diagonal line inside that box to unselect it.
- 14. {Prepare Text to Paste} This is how you tell the program you are ready to input text. A text entry input window will appear. Type in the first item; press [Enter] twice to leave a blank line between entries. When you click [Paste] the text will compose and be placed in the box.
- **15.** To do the second row of heads, **{Set Text Attributes}.** The text is Geneva, Bold, 7-point, with a color of 600 for White.
- Another difference in the second row is the heads are centered. For both *Mode and Vert* select {Centered}. This will make them horizontally and vertically centered. Also, remember to {Set Gutters} back to 0. Then click [Okay].
- 17. Then, {Define Boxes} for the second row, again picking up and out. After your selected white boxes appear, {Prepare Text to Paste} and start typing the text.

As you can see, {Place Text into Boxes} is faster and definitely more efficient than {Input Text}. The positioning is done without you having to hold position or moving text.

Saving and Printing

The form is complete. Save the form; select [Project], {Save As}.

🖌 Save File	
Save: 🔶 All 💸 Group	ed Items Only
Path: Vusr/amgraf	
File: untitled.g	Browse
Cancel	Save

Arrow down to the *filename* input area of the menu and type in the path and file name for your drawing. We will use *form1.g*, with the ".g" extension letting us always know it is a graphic drawing.

To print: [Project], {Print}, then select your printer from the "pull-down" menu and click [Okay].

Using the MICR Font

The MICR font width tables and WYSIWYG display characters are part of the MECCA 2000 system. To print the MICR font, you will need to have a license for the font.

Positioning of the MICR font for scanning purposes is critical. To assist in positioning, we have created a *micr.grid*. This file can be combined into your drawing. If you place the lower right corner of the grid to the bottom right edge of the form, the micr number can be positioned within the 1/8" spaces using {Place Text into Boxes}.

Character dimensions are controlled by placing another MICR number, which has been outlined in white on top of a standard MICR number. The size of this white outline knocking-out the standard MICR number, controls the thickness of the number being printed.

Use the following steps for creating your MICR number:

- 1. Edit the text file */usr/amgraf/formats/micr.txt1* and type in your MICR number in a format for {Place Text into Boxes}. This requires a blank line between each number. You can use the tilde (~) character for blank boxes.
- 2. Edit the text file */usr/amgraf/formats/micr.txt2* and type in your MICR number again. Make sure each number is outlined with the immediate commands for outline (\OL^) and cancel outline (\XOL^).
- **3.** Combine in the drawing */usr/amgraf/formats/micr.grid*. Position the lower right corner to the bottom right edge of the form.
- 4. Set up the text attributes for the standard micr number:

Font = mi Style = n Size = 12p Mode = Flush Left Color = 700

5. Use {Place Text into Boxes} and paste in the file *micr1.txt*.

6. Set up the text attributes for the white outlined micr number:

Font = mi Style = n Size = 12pMode = Flush Left Color = 600Outline Width = (percentages)

7. Use {Place Text into Boxes} and paste in the file *micr2.txt*.

You will end up with the white outlined MICR number on top of the standard number.

The MICR Font

The MICR font consists of numbers: 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 0 along with the following four transit codes: Uppercase A = Routing and Transmit I: Uppercase B = Amount II Uppercase C = Account II

Example of micr.txt1

Example of micr.txt2

\ol^A\xol^
\ol^0\xol^
\ol^4\xol^
\ol^2\xol^
\ol^2\xol^
\ol^0\xol^
\ol^0\xol^
\ol^0\xol^
\ol^0\xol^
etc...

MICR Character Grid



MICR Character Dimension Specifications

```
      Standard 12-point

      •:O4 2 2009 10::
      OB 4
      E 3 E
      B**

      Outline Width = .6 (one mil reduction)
      •:O4 2 2009 10::
      OB 4
      E 3 E
      B**

      Outline Width = 1.2 (two mils reduction)
      •:O4 2 2009 10::
      OB 4
      E 3 E
      B**

      Outline Width = 1.2 (two mils reduction)
      •:O4 2 2009 10::
      OB 4
      E 3 E
      B**

      Outline Width = 1.8 (three mils reduction)
      •:O4 2 2009 10::
      OB 4
      E 3 E
      B**

      Outline Width = 2.4 (four mils reduction)
      •:O4 2 2009 10::
      OB 4
      E 3 E
      B**

      Outline Width = 3.0 (five mils reduction)
      •:O4 2 2009 10::
      OB 4
      E 3 E
      B**
```

Digitizing with MECCA 2000

If MECCA 2000 starts with a tablet connected, the [Window] button's dialog will have a "Use Tablet" checkbox. The default is for this to be turned on when the tablet is seen.

When "Use Tablet" is checked digitize is activated. Digitize causes a one-to-one relationship between the tablet and window. The [Win-Fit] button will always take you into digitize at this time. Any of the [Zoom] and sizing buttons, take the tablet out of digitize automatically. Just [Win-Fit] to get back into the one-to-one relationship.

Getting Ready for Digitize

The MECCA 2000 Window must be enlarged to display 11" vertically. Pull down the bottom of the MECCA 2000 window down over the task bar.

Selecting the [Win-Fit] button fits the full one-to-one relationship of the tablet into the window. Move the cursor around on the tablet and visually locate the window edges.

Now you can tape the form down on the tablet anywhere within the window boundary. (You may want to draw a box representing this boundary using coordinates of 0/0 for the lower-let corner.)

If you want to use a Grid and its advantages, along with the grid reporting, do the following:

Go to [Window]'s [Grid Control] and set up the grid spacing, grid on, and how units are to be reported. Technical Drawing reports the Y=0 coordinate at the bottom of the drawing, while Print Position allows you to change the Y-position for reporting and move it to the top by typing in the Y-Position or length of page.

The grid report will only show while you are in a drawing function, such as Line. The Grid Snap options are found in two places: at the bottom of each drawing menu, or by pressing [Ctrl]-[Blue Button].

When using the tablet, the four buttons mean:

Yellow - Standard Pick Green - Okay Blue - Pop-Up Menu White - Quit
General Information Concerning Scanning

All scanners use similar technology to scan and capture the image with the ability to scan line art, halftones, and color. Major differences are in the scanning resolutions and whether they recognize color.

A flatbed scanner resembles small photocopiers with a removable cover and glass platen. The user places the artwork or photograph on the platen, and the photosensitive sensors move across the scanning area. The scanning functions are controlled through menus which include resolution, brightness, contrast, scanning area, and type of scan (whether black and white, halftone, or color).

The default settings will usually be a good start, but sometimes you will need to make adjustments. Brightness and contrast functions work much like the same controls on a monitor. Brightness adjusts the lightness or darkness, where contrast adjusts the amount of difference between the two. You may be able to bring out greater detail by increasing these levels.

The scanning area is the actual glass platen. Since scans take up a lot of disk space, you will only want to scan the image you want to capture. This is controlled by adjusting the window to the location of your image. Interactively, using *Preview* is probably the best solution. Here you will get a low-resolution test scan to assist you in seeing your image before using it. You can adjust the window, if needed, before proceeding to scan at full resolution.

Once the scan has taken place you have created a scan file. This file is a collection of bits (either black and white, gray-levels, or color) that are gathered in columns and rows. We call this component a *Raster Image*.

Common Scanning Terminology

The terminology below is used throughout this chapter when we discuss scanning. It is not specific to any particular scanner.

Brightness:

It is used to darken a faint image or lighten a dark image. Increasing and decreasing brightness values allows you to control the reflecting image to allow for different paper or ink colors when you need to scan from printed material. Usually, it is better to spend the time obtaining the best results by scanning with different brightness controls, than it is to clean up a poor scan.

Color Scans:

Scanners that recognize color, can create color scan files. We can convert three types of color scan files: TIFF, DCS, and PCX.

Contrast:

Adjusts the amount of difference between light and dark areas.

Cropping the Raster:

An essential step of trimming down the edges, leaving only the image needed. Cropping reduces the file size because pixels being trimmed-off are actually taken out of the file.

DCS File:

These files are Desktop Color Separations (DCS) that will convert as an exact color match. The files convert as CMYK separations. They are usually one-third larger than TIFF or PCX, and take much longer to convert. If you are concerned about color accuracy, use DCS files. Adobe PhotoShop creates both DCS and TIFF file types. DCS files are DOS binary data.

Dithering:

This is a technique used by low-resolution scanners to scan halftones.

Gray Levels:

Each scanner can see a maximum number of gray colors when scanning halftones. For example, many scanners can produce 256 different grays. The gray levels chosen when scanned determines how smooth the contrast is between highlighted and shadowed areas. When there are too few levels used, a phenomenon called "posterization" occurs. This is a sharp contrast between highlighted and shadowed areas instead of a smooth continuous flow between shades.

Halftone:

A black and white photograph. This is the process used to convert a continuous tone photograph into a pattern of tiny halftone cells that may be easily printed. These multiple spots within one halftone cell allow different levels of gray to be achieved. A cell with less spots being imaged is going to be lighter than a cell that is full.

Line Art:

Only two color values are seen: black or white.

PCX File:

These color scanned images (Windows Raster Images) are usually generated by Paintbrush programs, desktop clipart, and screen dump images. MECCA supports 24-bit, 16-color PCX files. After the file is loaded you will need to assign each color to a separate layer for separation, or use CMYK separations. PCX files are DOS binary data.

Pixel:

One bit of a raster image. This bit is either black or white. Sometimes referred to as a "seed".

Preview:

Interactively looking at a low-resolution of the scan for window positioning before doing the actual scan. It will give you a general idea of what the scan will look like, and where it is located in the window so you can adjust the window boundaries. It is always faster to only scan what is needed.

Raster Image:

A file that originated from a scan. This scanned image is a collection of bits (patterns of light and dark squares) that give the illusion of being lines, areas, text, etc.

Resolution:

Scanning resolution is how many pixels are seen in one square inch (dpi=dots per inch). A resolution of 100 instructs the scanner to pickup 100 columns and rows per square inch when scanning the image. Naturally, if the resolution is higher, perhaps 800 dpi, then the squares are eight times smaller since the image has 800 columns and rows in one square inch.

Scanner Resolution can usually be thought of in two ways: For black and white output the higher the resolution the finer the output, since the squares are smaller. This is normally the case for black and white line art that has no screens. But when scanning with halftones, the *screen lineage* is a sufficient resolution, since the image is screened when output. See halftones.

Resolution also plays an important part during production of a piece of artwork. If the image is going to be reduced, you would lower the original scanned resolution because "effective resolution" is going to play a part. **Effective resolution** is the scaled resolution. For example, if an image is scaled by fifty percent, the pixels become smaller and so it takes twice as many to fill a square inch. In this case the original resolution may be 200 dpi, but the effective resolution is 400 dpi.

It would not be wise to scale an image where you would end up with an effective resolution of 3000 dpi. The amount of data the scan image is transferring is tremendous. The same effect can be created by rescanning closer to the size needed with a more normal resolution, possibly 400 dpi to 800 dpi. Remember scanning at 800 dpi and then scaling by half will result in an effective resolution of 1600 dpi.

TIFF File:

Tag Image File Format (TIFF) is a public domain format for storage and exchange of digital images made up of pixels. The pixels can be black and white, or RGB color (which we will convert to CMYK). MECCA's {Combine} option can load a TIFF file and convert it to a MECCA Raster component.

Technical Information - Black & White Scans

The most commonly used scan is a black and white image. To get the best results start with a good clean image. The crisper the original artwork; the better the scan.

Scan Straight

When scanning, it is recommended that care be given that the artwork is scanned in straight. Best results are seen when the image is taped down on a piece of paper first, making sure the image is horizontally level. This results in cleaner horizontal and vertical strokes.

Reducing/Enlarging Rasters

Since the technology of a scanner is similar to a camera, the image can be reduced successfully, but never enlarged. Enlarging tends to rough up the edges; that is usually not acceptable. When a scanned image must be enlarged, you will be better off vectorizing and filling the image with areas, than to enlarge the raster. Vectors and areas are smoother and can be scaled without any distortion.



Reducing a raster more than half-size is not usually recommended. The effective resolution becomes such that the image takes more processing time than is acceptable. You would be better rescanning the image closer to the size needed, than to reduce more than half. Be aware that if you reduce the image ten-times the original size, that image cannot be processed (it will not print).

Editing Pixels

Some of the functions found in {Raster Functions} allow you to do moderate pixel editing (such as crop and edit with a rectangular shape), but individual pixel editing and cleanup should be handled by a pixel editing software. Using GIMP's editing functions, you can quickly cleanup the file before combining the raster into MECCA.

Removing White Background

To remove the white background from a black-and-white raster file that someone else has scanned, requires that you turn the image into a 1-bit palette file through GIMP. Instructions follow: Open raster file in GIMP. Right-click on image, choose IMAGE from menu, choose INDEXED from menu, check USE BLACK/WHITE (1-BIT) PALETTE, Click OK.

The file must then be saved as a .bmp file. Right-click on image, choose FILE, SAVEAS, save as BMP. Combine into MECCA.

File Types

MECCA 2000 can load .PNG, .BMP, or .TIF files. The recommended file type is .PNG. A freshly scanned .PNG will combine into MECCA with the white pixels as transparent automatically. Once it has been brought into GIMP or any other pixel editing software, it will need to be set back to a 1-bit scan.

Resolution

With raster images usually the file size and print time are the two main concerns. If the image is to be used as a screened image, lower the resolution. With halftones, we recommend you match the screen lineage. The image will print faster and quality will appear the same as if scanned at a higher resolution.

If the image is to be a solid black and white, a higher resolution is usually needed, but take into consideration the file size. If the image is large, reduce the resolution until you see a significant quality difference. The lower the resolution you can get without destroying quality, the better you will be in the long run.

Raster Images Can Be Graduated

Raster images can be successfully graduated with a color start and color end. If this is needed you will have to Query the raster and give it the appropriate color values.

Edges Cut Off When Scanned

If the image scanned is not complete, (the left edge has not been seen by the scanner), take a black pen and draw a box around the image, The scanner will pick up the black lines as being the edge, which then can be cropped off later. Also, check the maximum image size per resolution in your scanner manual. You may have exceeded the size per resolution.

Technical Information Concerning Halftones

Before you try a digital halftone, you need to understand the process and rules that govern making a digital halftone. By following these rules, you will improve the look of your halftones and will also decrease output time.

What Makes a Halftone?

A *halftone* is the process used to convert a continuous tone photograph into a pattern of tiny halftone cells (screen lineage) that may be easily printed.

Screen lineage is a measure relating to the fineness of a halftone. The higher number is a finer the screen. Screen lineage values usually fall between 60 and 150 lines per inch. Magazines normally require finer, smaller dots so they need around 150 lines per inch, where newspapers need a larger, coarser dot somewhere around 60 to 85 lines per inch.

The screen lineage should be selected on the basis of the paper and printing press that you have chosen for the job, ask your printer. If the screen is too high you will experience muddy shadows and loss of highlighting in the halftone. Do not confuse this with output resolution.

Output Resolution is the measure of how many laser spots an imagesetter can make within a linear inch. This is called dots per inch (dpi). When setting a character, the letterform is made up of laser spots.



Figure 5-2: Laser Spot within One Halftone Cell

With halftones an imagesetter can place more spots in an inch (i.e., 2540 dpi) than a printing press can print. The higher the resolution the more spots it takes to make up one halftone cell of a screen. These multiple spots within one halftone cell (see Figure 5-2) allow different levels of gray to be achieved. A cell with less spots imaged is going to be lighter than a cell that is full.



Figure 5-3: Halftone Cell Representing 52% Gray

How many **levels of gray** are produced is a mix between the screen lineage and the output resolution of the imagesetter. When too few levels are used a phenomenon called posterization occurs. Sharp contrasts between highlighted and shadowed areas occur instead of a smooth continuous flow between shades.

Resolution and Screen Ruling

You would think that you would always want the highest screen lineage and resolution available, the higher the better, but this is not the case.

Now let's take an output resolution of 300 dots per inch. Since there are 300 laser spots in one inch, a 60 screen lineage would produce a halftone cell composed of a 5×5 matrix of laser spots. This will allow 26 gray levels. Now this would be the case if the dot angle

was 0 degrees, but it is normally 45 degrees. With an angled halftone cell, your 300 dpi output resolution would be capable of about a 53 screen lineage.

There is a formula that can help you determine the levels of gray you will be getting in your halftone.

(Resolution/Screen Lineage)2 + 1 = Levels of Gray

The more levels of gray, the better the quality of halftone. Here is a calculation showing a higher resolution holds more levels of gray.

Output resolution is 2540, Screen lineage is 150.

(2540/150)2 + 1 = 288 Grays

Any value between 100 and 256 levels of gray is usually acceptable for halftones. Increasing resolution for the highest levels of gray possible will cause longer output times.

Scanner Resolution

There is another factor which plays a big part in the quality of your output and indirectly effects you in file size and output time - this is **scanner resolution**.

The basic rule when scanning for a halftone is that the scanner resolution should be between 1:1 ratio to 1.5:1 to the screen ruling; but remember the higher the ratio, the larger the file size and longer output time. So, for 150 screen lineage photo, a 150 dpi scan looks good and a 200 dpi scan is great.

Dot Angle

Dot angle is the angle of orientation of a halftone pattern as measured from a vertical axis. A 45 degree angle is commonly used for black and white halftones.

Keeping Your File Size Low

Once you start scanning images and reproducing them as halftones, you find out very quickly that the file sizes can be enormous. It is therefore important to keep the file size as small as possible without hurting the final quality.

The resolution of a scanner is the "key determining factor" in file size. To truly understand scanner resolution you have to think of it as if it were three-dimensional. Scanners have not only the horizontal and vertical directions, but also a third dimension. Both scanners and image setters describe horizontal and vertical resolution in terms of dots per inch, but depth is only found in scanners. The depth is the number of bits of gray-scale information per pixel.

A line art scan is only one bit deep because one bit is all that is needed to distinguish black from white. Gray-scale information requires more bits. Most gray-scale images are 8 bits deep, enough to distinguish 256 levels of gray. See Figure below.



Figure 5-4: Resolution Represented by Blocks

Naturally, the fewer bits per pixel the smaller the file size. So if you only need 128 levels of gray, scan the image using 7 bits per pixel.

Choosing the Scanner Resolution

Choosing the scanning resolution requires you to know the halftone screen lineage that the image will be reproduced at and the size the image will be enlarged or reduced to. Enlarging or reducing an image effects the scanner resolution and must be taken into consideration. Enlarging reduces the initial scanner resolution, while reducing it increases the resolution.

As you can see in Figure 5-5, the 8 dots per inch scan being enlarged two times causes only 4 dots to be in one inch: 8 / 2 = 4. So, if you take a 300 dpi scan and enlarge it two times, you will end up with a 150 dpi scan. This is fine if your screen lineage is to be 150 and you only want a 1:1 ratio between scanner resolution and screen lineage. But if you want a 1.5:1 ratio, then you would need to scan the original at 450 dpi to get a final scanner resolution of 225 dpi after it is enlarged.



Figure 5-5: Enlarging a Scanned Image Reduces the Resolution

Making White Background of a Halftone Transparent

Open Halftone scan into GIMP. Use the following GIMP options to turn the White pixels into transparent pixels.

Use the Select by Color option to select the white background. Close Dialog. Go to Layer, Add Alpha Channel Go to Edit, Cut (This cuts the selected white and shows the plaid background.) File, SaveAs as PNG Turn off Save Resolution if Checked. Combine PNG into MECCA.

Scanning with Xsane

Your scanner can be accessed through Xsane. This is a graphical user-interface for SANE. It allows previewing and scanning individual images and can be invoked from the **Start, Graphic Processing, Scan** option. Xsane acts as a stand-alone program that saves acquired images in a suitable PNM format (PBM for black-and-white images, PGM for grayscale images, and PPM for color images) or converts the image to JPEG, PNG, PS or TIFF. The images can then be opened in GIMP for further processing, or combined into MECCA 2000 for cropping.

The GIMP image manipulation program has a full range of capabilities for editing raster data. GIMP also allows you to save the final raster image as a BMP file (if necessary) to be loaded into MECCA 2000 later.



Clicking on **Scan** brings up the following windows. Select the [Preview Window] button to see your image.



Typically with flatbed scanners, you will insert your original face down, top to the right, bottom to the left. Be careful that the page is aligned at this stage. If your image is scanned crooked, you will have to straighten it later by {Rotating}, and this doesn't always give you the desired results.

Select the area you want scanned in the preview window and then [Start] the scanning from the Xsane dialog window. This will create an untitled image file window showing the scan. Clicking your right mouse button while in this window will pop-up the options for saving the file. MECCA 2000 can load TIF and BMP images through its {Combine} option.

You will want to do your cleanup of the image before bringing into MECCA 2000. The [Raster] functions has options for cropping the raster, but minimal clean-up tools. Remember, you may also scale, rotate, mirror, and copy a raster just as any other graphic element.

Hints on Using Xsane with MECCA 2000

There are three types of scan modes:

Binary - Black-and-White Line Art

Gray - Halftones

Color - Color Photographs

When scanning **black-and-white line art,** you will need to go to Xsane's Preferences and Show Standard Options. Make sure that the Halftone selection is NONE, otherwise you will be dithering the pixels. Also, to make the white pixels transparent for loading into MECCA, scan as a file type of PNG. MECCA's Combine option recognizes a newly scanned PNG black-and-white as having the white transparent automatically. Otherwise, you must change the file to a 1-bit palette in GIMP and save as a BMP.

Using The GIMP Image Manipulation Program

This chapter is dedicated to the GIMP (GNU Image Manipulation Program) that is available for FreeBSD Systems. GIMP is a free software suitable for such tasks as photo retouching, image composition and pixel editing.

You can view the 1.0.0 version of GIMP documentation by starting **Netscape** and going to **http://localhost.**

Starting Gimp

You can start GIMP by typing **gimp** from a command line within "Xterm" or by selecting **{Graphic Processing}** from the **[Start]** menu.



Once GIMP is started it will bring up its tool bar.

The Gimp Toolbar



To open an existing image select [File], {Open}. This will bring up the following dialog box. This box will allow you to locate and preview existing images before actually loading them.

📉 Load Image					
Create Dir	Delete File	Rename File			
/usr/amgraf/Scan					
Directories ./		Files 1 1 0ut.bmp IBM.bmp black.bmp orange.bmp 0 0ut.pnm 0 out4.pnm 0 out5.pnm 0 out6.pnm 7			
Determine File Automatic	Туре	out.pnm			
Selection: /usr/a	mgraf/Scan				
lout.pnm					
		OK Cancel			

Basic Controls

The tools in the toolbox allow you to select, paint, edit, and view images. The toolbox also contains controls for choosing foreground and background colors. Click a tool to select it.

Using the Select Tools



The first six tools in the toolbox are selection tools. In order to manipulate a specific part of your image, you first need to select that area. The trick is to find the right selection tool, or the right combination of tools to make your selection correspond as exact as possible to the object you want to work with.

When you have made a selection, the boundary of the selection appears with a blinking dotted outline, sometimes referred to as marching ants. Your selection is now the only active part of your image; the rest is masked and is not effected by your operations. To turn off the selection you must be in either "Rectangle", "Elliptical", or "Hand-Draw" and then click on the selected item.

Rectangular and Elliptical: If you click the mouse and drag, you'll get normal rectangular or elliptical selections, starting from the corner where you first pressed the mouse button. If you want to create circles/squares, or make your selection spread from the center, you must use the [Ctrl] and [Shift] keys.

The [Shift] key constricts the selections to perfect squares and circles. The selection starts from the corner, and continues in the drag direction.

The [Ctrl] key draws normal rectangular and ellipse selections, but with this key, selections will emanate radially from the point where you start dragging. This point is now the center of your selection.

Using both [Shift]+[Ctrl] results in circles or squares (as with Shift), but they grow from the center and out (as with Ctrl).

Hand-Drawn: Use the lasso to make a "Hand-Drawn" selection. Click and hold down the mouse button while drawing around the area to be selected. When you release the button, the option will make the selection.

Contiguous: The wand selects images based on the color similarities of adjacent pixels. This tool is useful when you want to select part of an image (for example, a yellow flower) with out tracing the outline with the "Hand-Drawn" tool. When using the wand for color trapping, turn "Anti-aliasing" off.

Bezier Curves and Select Shapes: You use these tools by clicking out anchor points in a rough approximation of the shape. Don't try and make curves at this stage, just click out a rough, angular shape and make sure you close it by placing the last point on top of the first and click. When you're finished, click inside the shape and it will become selected.

There is no way to remove or add anchor points, so don't use too many points. Only one is needed for each curve. Modify to make curves of the straight lines. Click on an anchor point and pull the handles to change size and shape a curve. By pressing [Ctrl], you can drag and drop an anchor point anyway you like.

Other Useful Tools

The following five tools are easy to use. They will assist you in zooming around, pixel editing, and filling the selected area with color. The Pencil Tool lets you draw lines by picking a point for the line start and [Shift]-pick for the line end. And naturally, the Eraser is very handy.



The Undo

No matter how careful, you will always need an Undo. Gimp's Undo is found under the Edit Menu and also as a shortcut key [Ctrl]-[Z].

Color Separating Logos

The following instructions will walk you through the steps of color separating a Color logo into black-and-white separations. We will use the following image and create a three-color spot separation. Imagine our picture being outlined in black, the eyes are green, and the lips are red.



Before beginning separations, load and crop your image to size, then select **{File}**, **{Save}**. This will now become your original and will need to be re-loaded for each separation. It is important to maintain the same image size throughout creating separations to insure proper registration upon importing to MECCA.

Separation One - Black

The first color we are going to separate is the black outline.

Step 1:

Go to the GIMP Toolbar and flip the Foreground/Background areas to be "White" for Foreground and "Black" for Background **by clicking on the arrows.**

Step 2:

Move the mouse pointer onto the image, **click the right mouse button** to bring up the menus. Choose **{Select}, {By Color}.** This will bring up a dialog box as follows.

📉 By Color Selection	_ 🗆 ×
	out.pnm Selection Mode Replace Add Subtract Intersect Fuzziness Threshold 15.0 Selection Invert All None
Re	set Close

Choose the options of **{Replace}** and set the "**Fuzziness Threshold**" to around 15. **[Close].** Now **pick a black area.** You will notice that all black areas are now selected. By making this selection we are telling the system that this is the area we wish to alter. What we want to do is isolate the black area and fill the rest of the image with white. As we stand now, if we do a Fill (with the paintbucket) we would be filling all of the black area with our Foreground color that is white. We want to do just the opposite so we will invert our selection. We want to fill everything but the black area with white.

Step 3:

Right click the mouse button. Choose **{Select}, {Invert}.** This function alters your selection by telling the system that we want to alter everything except black areas.

Step 4:

Go the GIMP Toolbar and select the **[Paintbucket]** for Fill and **pick on your image.** This should turn everything white except the black areas. *Remember the Fill is flooding your image with whatever your Foreground color is.*

Step 5:

Go to the GIMP Toolbar and choose the **[Rectangular Select]** tool. Now **click on your image.** Your image should now be unselected.

Step 6:

This is our first color separation. We need to turn our image into a monochrome file before saving. When creating files to be brought over into MECCA for Spot Color Printing they cannot contain any color. **Right mouse click**, select **{Image}**, **{Indexed}**. The following dialog box will appear. Select Use black/white (1-bit) palette, and No color dithering. [OK].

🗙 Indexed Color Conversion		_ 🗆 ×
General Palette Options		
🕹 Generate Optimal Palette:	# of Colors: 2	256
🕹 Use Custom Palette:	Web	
♦ Use Black/White (1-Bit) Palette	e	
Dither Options		
No Color Dithering		
Positioned Color Dithering		
😞 Floyd-Steinberg Color Ditherin	ng (Reduced Colo	r Bleeding)
Floyd-Steinberg Color Dithering	ng (Normal)	
_ Enable Dithering of Transpare	ncy	
Custom Palette Options		
Remove Unused Colors from F	Final Palette	
		Cancel
		Cancer

Step 7:

Right mouse click. Choose **{File}, {Save As}.** We need to save our image off as a **BMP.** Select **{By Extension}** from the **Determine file type** drop-down list. **Type** in **your filename** with a **.bmp** extension (such as sep1.bmp).

Step 8:

You are finished with the first separation, close this image by clicking on the image and choosing **{File}**, **{Close}** from the menus.



Separation Two - Red

Step 1:

Re-load in original drawing.

Step 2:

Click the **[Wand]** for Select Contiguous Regions from the Toolbar. **Click on the lower lip area.** This area now becomes selected. Now **hold down the [Shift-key]** and **click the upper lip.** Both areas are now selected.

Step 3:

Right click the mouse button. Choose **{Select}**, **{Invert}** from the menus. This will tell the system that we want to fill everything but the red areas.

Step 4:

On the GIMP Toolbar select the **[Paintbucket]** for Filling and then **click on your image.** This should turn everything white. The only things visible are the selected red areas.

Step 5:

Go to the GIMP Toolbar and choose the **[Rectangular Select]** tool. Now **click on your image.** Your image should now be unselected.

Step 6:

We have now made the second color separation. Right mouse click, select **{Image}**, **{Indexed}**. Use the same settings as in the first separation (Step 6) and say **[OK]**.

Step 7:

Right mouse click. Choose **{File}**, **{Save As}**. We need to save our image off as a **BMP**. Select **{By Extension}** from the **Determine file type** drop-down list. Type in your filename with a **.bmp** extension (such as sep2.bmp).

Step 8:

Close this image.



Separation Three - Green

Step 1:

Re-load in original drawing.

Step 2:

Use the **[Magnifying Glass]** tool to enlarge the image enough to pick the green area clearly. Click the **[Wand]** (which means Select Contiguous Regions) from the Toolbar. **Click on the green** portion of the eyes. This area is now selected. **Hold down the [Shift-key]** and **click the remaining green** areas until all are selected.

Step 3:

Right click the mouse button. Choose **{Select}**, **{Invert}**. This will tell the system that we want to fill everything but the green selected areas.

Step 4:

Go to the GIMP Toolbar and select the **[Paintbucket]** for Filling **and click on the image.** This should turn everything white. The only thing visible are the green selected areas. The green used in this image must be turned into black before going through the Index color step, so **make the foreground black** and use the **[Paintbucket]** to fill the selected areas. Index color would have made our green white instead of black because it is too light of a color.

Step 5:

Go to the GIMP Toolbar and choose the **[Rectangular Select]** tool. Now **click on your image.** Your image should now be unselected.

Step 6:

We have now made the third color separation. Again **turn your image to a monochrome** by using the same steps in the first separation, Step 6.

Step 7:

Right mouse click. Choose **{File}**, **{Save As}**. We need to save our image off as a **BMP**. Select **{By Extension}** from the **Determine file type** drop-down list. **Type in your filename** with a **.bmp** extension (such as sep3.bmp).



Color Trapping

For trapping colors the steps are identical to the ones for the Red and Green Separations with the following additions between Steps 2 and 3. When you are using the [Wand] tool, check its dialog and always have "Anti-aliasing" off. To do trapping include **Steps 2a thru Steps 2d** after you have the areas selected.

Step 2a:

Right click the mouse button. Choose **{Select}, {Grow}.** This will expand your selection outward according to the number of pixels entered. A Grow of **1 pixel** is all that is needed.

Step 2b:

Now use the **[Dropper]** tool that is a Color Selector, to make the Foreground be the color you are trapping. **Click the dropper on the color (red)** and see the Foreground chip change.

Step 2c:

Use the **[Paintbucket]** to Fill the selected area with the new Foreground color **by picking within the selection.** Notice that your color has now been expanded by using this technique.

Step 2d:

Put the Foreground color chip back to "White".

Scanning Resolutions

For the best manageable file size and speed use a scan resolution between 300 - 400 dpi and try not to exceed 600 dpi. When you load your image into MECCA it will ask you what resolution you want. At this time you can enter in a higher resolution if needed.

You can also scale the image once loaded into MECCA to the effective resolution.



Volume 1: Getting Started - 125 -

Importing MECCA Rasters to Gimp

To take a MECCA Raster image and load it back into GIMP, you must first save the raster into a file by itself and convert it into a BMP file.

Step 1:

[Query] the raster image and write down the resolution, effective resolution, and size.

Step 2:

[Group] only the raster image.

Step 3:

Go to [**Project**], {**Save As**} and from the menu click {**Save Grouped Items Only**}. Name your file and click [**Save**].

Step 4:

Go to **[Start]**, **{Shells - Xterm Window}.** This will bring up a **\$-prompt** window. At the \$-prompt type

ixtobmp <(/path)/(filename.g) >(/path)/(newfilename.bmp)

For example: ixtobmp </usr/amgraf/lady.g >/usr/amgraf/lady.bmp

This command will turn your ".g" file back into a ".bmp" file which then can be loaded into GIMP.

NOTE: When combining the ".bmp" file back into MECCA the resolution will need input again. And if needed the raster will need re-scaled back to the necessary effective resolution.

Making Black and White Scans Transparent in GIMP

If you bring the PNG file into GIMP, you will need to do the following after making any pixel changes to get the white background transparent. In GIMP, Right-click on image, choose IMAGE from menu, choose INDEXED from menu, check USE BLACK/WHITE (1-BIT) PALETTE, Click OK. This must be done before saving. The file must then be saved as a .bmp file. Right-click on image, choose SAVEAS, save as BMP. The BMP file type will recognize white as transparent, this is not the case for TIFF files. In MECCA, combine the BMP into the drawing or a new graphic screen.

Color Files Created on Adobe PhotoShop (TM)

When using PhotoShop you have three options for importing color files to the MECCA system. You can create a TIFF, PCX, or DCS Files. If you are concerned about the accuracy of the color, use DCS. It will make a larger file, but the color values will be transported, where with TIFF files RGB values are converted to CMYK by MECCA.

Creating a TIFF File

To create a color TIFF to be transferred to MECCA you must use the **SAVE AS...** option under **FILE** in Adobe PhotoShop.

Select **FILE** from the pull down menus. Then select **SAVE AS.** This will bring up the *File Naming Dialog* box. Make sure that the *Save File as Format Type* box has *.tif shown. If not, select *.tif from the pull down list. Now **type a name** for your file adding the extension of ".tif" to the end.

Note: DOS can only have 8 characters before the extension, and the extension cannot exceed 3 characters.

Once you have keyed in the proper name select the **OKAY** button. The **TIFF OPTIONS** dialog box will now appear. Here you will select **IBM PC** from the Byte Order section. Make sure that neither the *LZW Compression* or *Save Alpha Channels* options have been chosen. At this point select the **OKAY** button and your file will then be saved into the current directory as a color TIFF image.

Converting a TIFF Image

Once the TIFF image has been transferred to MECCA you can load it on the graphics screen using **{Combine}**.

Creating DCS Files

When using PhotoShop to create a DCS (Desktop Color Separations) file you must first convert the image to CMYK (Cyan, Yellow, Magenta, Black). Photoshop scans in photos as RGB (Red, Green and Blue) To convert the photo you must select **MODE** from the pull down menus. Here you would select **CMYK Color.** This will automatically convert the image from RGB to CMYK. It is possible that you will see a color change appear on your screen upon conversion. This is due to the photos colors now being created from the 4 process colors rather than the 3 primary colors. You may have to do color corrections before going any further. Once corrected, select **FILE** from the pull down menus. Now select the **SAVE AS...** option.

Selecting the SAVE AS... option will bring up the *File Naming Dialog* box. First make sure that the *Save File as Format Type* box has *.EPS shown. If not, select *.EPS from the pull down list. **Type in a file name**, adding the extension of *.eps to the end. Once you have keyed in your file name, select the **OKAY** button. You will now be given the EPS FORMAT dialog box. In the *PREVIEW* section make sure that **NONE** is selected. In the *ENCODING* section, select **ASCII.** In the *DESKTOP COLOR SEPARATIONS (5 files)* section, select **MASTER FILE: No Composite PostScript.** Once all three options have been selected choose the **OKAY** button and your file will be saved in an EPS format.

By saving as a CMYK EPS file, Adobe PhotoShop will save your file as 5 individual files. One is a master file containing all of the Cyan, Yellow, Magenta, and Black images as one. There will also be four files saved, each containing an individual separation. These files will use the same file name as the master but have an extension of _c.eps for cyan, _m.eps for magenta, and so on. These are the files that need to be transferred over to MECCA. Use **File Express** to transfer the files across the network to MECCA.

Use Combine to Import DCS Files into Drawing

The Combine option has a DCS selection for bringing in DCS files and pulling them back together into one image. Pick on Combine, Combine DCS Files, and open the cyan (.c) file. This will also import the other three files and make your image.

Concerning Resolutions and File Size

There are some helpful tips on using PhotoShop files in your MECCA drawings. One thing to bear in mind is that color photos make very large files. These files are extremely large in comparison to those generated as strict black and white line art scans. This is due to the way that the file is stored. A CMYK color image must store the image information four times. Once for each of the 4 process printing colors. Each image is really a 256

grayscale scan. Whereas a black and white line art scan consists of only 1 image with only 2 pixel variations, on and off.

Therefore, it is important to try and compensate minimal file size without loss of quality in the image. If the photo to be used will be printed at 100% saturation it is best to scan the artwork at twice the printing screen lineage. For example scan in your photo at 300 dpi if it will be printed with a 150 line screen at full saturation.

If the photo will be scaled after being transferred to MECCA this will also change the effective resolution. This also must be taken into account when determining the scans resolution. For example, an original photo that is 4 inches square needs to be used in MECCA at 2 inches square. The printed screen lineage is to be 150 lines per inch at full saturation. The optimum scan resolution would be 150 dpi. The scans effective resolution would be 300 dpi after scaling by one-half takes place on MECCA.

If your photo will not be printed at full saturation (a washed out effect), it is best to make the your scan resolution the same as the final printed screen lineage. For example, if the photo will be used at 50% saturation, printed at 150 lines per inch. The optimum scan resolution would be 150 dpi. You will need to also consider whether the image is to be scaled on MECCA, since this will change the effective resolution.

PhotoShop Masks Cannot Be Imported

When using Adobe PhotoShop you have the capability of saving masks or selection borders for use later. MECCA will not allow these to be imported. You must first delete all masks or alpha channels (selection borders) before saving your files. You may want to save this file (without the masks or channels) as a new file if you need them for other reasons.

Working with Imported Color Files

It is important to remember that you can do nothing to these images other than Crop and Mask. You cannot Pixel Edit, Reverse Image, or use any of the other Raster Editing functions on the image. However you may Rotate, Scale, Change Screen Lineage, Move, etc., to the image.

Creating a PCX File

To create a color PCX to be transferred to MECCA you must use the **SAVE AS...** option under **FILE** in Adobe PhotoShop.

Select **FILE** from the pull down menus. Then select **SAVE AS.** This will bring up the *File Naming Dialog* box. Make sure that the *Save File as Format Type* box has *.pcx shown. If not, select ***.pcx** from the pull down list. Now **type a name** for your file adding the extension of ".pcx" to the end. Once you have keyed in the proper name select the **OKAY** button.

Note: DOS can only have 8 characters before the extension, and the extension cannot exceed 3 characters.

Chapter 6: Label Composition

Where labels are concerned usually you are given black and white art, and then need to place colors, trapping, and text. This small exercise will help you to familiarize yourself with this process. We will scan an image, trim everything out but the drawing, set up a layer-color table, and then colorize the raster. Afterwards we will thicken the colored layers by one pixel for trapping.

Scanning the Image

To scan an image, see Scanning.



SCAN THIS PAGE FOR EXAMPLE

Figure 6-1

Color Separate Using GIMP

Use the Graphic Processing GIMP Program to add color to the black and white scan. Gimp allows you to change the Image Mode to RGB and add the red and green with the Magic Wand and the Paint Bucket.



Figure 6-2

Once you have color, you then separate each color into a separate file. Save these three separate logo files, one for each color and bring into MECCA.





See Color Separating Logos for detailed instructions.

Loading Raster Files

Using {Combine File}

To load in a raster file you must use the {Combine File} option located under [Project]. This option will determine the type of file and automatically convert it into a MECCA 2000 loadable graphic file.

Drawing the Plate

Your plate size must be drawn as part of the label. Put in any trim marks needed on Layer 16. The Color Bars for each separation are individual layers since they do not step - we have used Layers 4 through 6 when creating those. See Figure 6-4.



Figure 6-4

You can now save the label drawing.

Setting Up the Color Layer Table

Our example is being produced for "Spot Color" printing. See Figure 6-5. Since we want to display the raster in color, as it will be printed, we will assign an ink color to each layer.





Step 1:

Go to [Layers], [Setup] to assign the following colors to our layers:

Layer	1	is	Black	(Color	700)
Layer	2	is	Red	(Color	185)
Layer	3	is	Green	(Color	339)
Layer	4	is	Black	(Color	700)
Layer	5	is	Red	(Color	185)
Layer	6	is	Green	(Color	339)
Layer	16	5 ha	as not	changed.	

X Define Laver Colors						×
339	Check the layer t	o set, then select o	olor # for it from	the list:		
1	🗆 01 🗖	700 🔲 0.	9 3	0 17	1 🗆 25	3
3	02	185 🔲 10	0 4	i 18	2 🗆 26	4
4	■ 03	339 🔲 1	1 5	□ 19	3 🗆 27	5
5	III 04	700 🔲 12	2 6	□ 20	4 🗆 28	6
7	05	185 🔲 13	3 1	21	5 🛛 29	1
8	■ 06	339 🗍 14	4 2	□ 22	6 🛛 30	2
10	□ 07	1 🗆 1:	5 3	□ 23	1 31	3
11	□ 08	2 🔲 10	6 4	□ 24	2 🛛 32	700
13	Layer C: 00.00	M: 0.00 Y: 00	0.00 K: 00.00			
14	Chart C: 0.00	M: 0.00 Y: 0	0.00 K: 5.00	Save to File	Load from File	Reset
Cancel						Okay

Chapter 6: Label Composition

Figure 6-6

Step 2:

Click [Okay]. This will make the window area display the color values assigned to each of the layers.

Using Thick/Thin Raster for Trapping

Step 1:

We now need to set our newly colored areas up for trapping. The black will overprint on top of all the other areas, so it does not need the trapping effect applied. Layers 2 and 3 need to be thickened.

First, use **[Layers] to** turn "off" all Layers except Layer 2 which is the red. A quick way to do this is by **clicking the [All Off] button** and selecting **{Layer 2}**, **[Okay].**

Step 2:

Select the **[Raster] tool, {Thick/Thin Raster}.** The default of {Thick/Thin Raster} is to make the image thicker by one pixel on all boundaries. **Pick the red area** and you will receive a --BUSY-- signal above the prompt line. Your image will redisplay with all boundaries increased by one pixel, thus causing the trapping effect.

Step 3:

Use **[Layers]** to turn "off" layer 2 and turn layer 3 "on" then **[Okay].** You should now be viewing the green area only. **Pick the green area** and it too will be increased by 1 pixel on all boundaries.

Step 4:

Once you have each of the colored areas "thicker" by one pixel we can use **[Layers]** to turn Layer 1 "on" and Layers 2 and 3 "off".

Step 5:

You should now only have the black image displayed on screen. Select [Change], {Depth Order} {Move to Front}. Pick the black image. Your screen should clear and redisplay. This places the black on top of the other colored areas for overprinting.

Step 6:

Now go back to **[Layers]** and turn all Layers "on" and take a look at the completed graphic.

Step 7:

You can now {Save} your graphic.
Printing Your Label

To print your label is a little more complex than the standard {Print}. This is because we want each layer to output on a separate film, one for each color. This requires the use of Parts for output.

After you have defined the output specifications, you can then select Project's {Print}. This will bring up the following dialog:

🗙 Print	×
Printer/Imager: Xerox DocuPrint N2125 Tray 1 - plain paper	
Print to File:	Browse
ITIFF Thumbnail:	Browse
Rotate: 0	Copies: 1
Distort Print Dimensions	
□ Cut Marks □ Print with Grid □ Print Only a Rectangular Region □ and use	it as Drawing Limits
Exclude components outside the region	
with Density Correction Scale Raster Density Raster Density Map	
Mirror-Print (Read-Wrong) Print Negative	
Output: Scale: Seps: Description:	
01 🔲 100.00 % 🔳 🔳 🔲 Black, Green, Red	
🔶 One Sep per Page 💠 One Part per Page 🔲 One Sep per File	Tiled Printing
Cancel	Okay

Figure 6-7

Notice that the Parts Output Specifications are shown at the bottom of the print dialog. In our case, Part 1 is defined for output with 2 Separations. The default is to separate automatically. If you want a composite instead, select "One Part per Page" before Okaying.

Step-and-Repeat for Labels

Stepping a label is not the same as copying your job across three or four times on the graphics monitor. It is controlled upon output. Why? Because the label itself is creating a large file, and to copy all of that internal information creates files even larger, so large they cannot be handled.

Instead, we are sending the printer one drawing and asking it to image it several times.

Looking at the Parts output specifications, Figure 6-8, you can see that each separation is calling up a different layer. Layers 4 through 6 are for the "Color Bars" needed at the top of our plate for identification, with Layer 16 being the Trim marks.

Description: Black, Red, Green			
Notes:			
」 Use Distortion: scaling X: 0	Y: 0	choke/spread: 0	mi
ype: 🔶 Spot 💸 Process 🛛 - 3 seps.	<u>.</u>		
ayer: 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 03	8 09 10 11 12 13 14 15 16		
eep 1:			
tepped: 🔳 🔳 🔳 📋 👘 🖬			
Step & Repeat Values			
Step & Repeat Values Print, Knock-Out in Others	Print, Ignored in Others	Print on all Seps	
Step & Repeat Values Print, Knock-Out in Others Print in this Sep	Print, Ignored in Others Knock-Out in this Sep	Print on all Seps Ignored in all Seps	
Step & Repeat Values Print, Knock-Out in Others Print in this Sep	Print, Ignored in Others Knock-Out in this Sep Reset	Print on all Seps Ignored in all Seps	

Figure 6-8

Checking Layers is saying to step only Layers 1 through 3. These are the ones we used for the label.

The *H Count* is Horizontal Count including the original. How many across. We want 4 across, including the original.

The *V Count* is Vertical Count including the original. How many up. We want 4 up, including the original. A positive number copies up, a negative number copies down.

The Offset Horizontal and Vertical is the physical dimension of the label width and height. If you need space between labels, add that to the dimension.

Copy to All Layers Copy to Higher Layers							
Layer	H count	V count	H offset	V offset			
I 01	4	4	3i	2.375i			
02	4	4	3 i	2.375i			
0 3	4	4	3i	2.375i			
□ 04	0	0	0	0			
_ 05	0	0	0	0			
□ 06	0	0	0	0			
_ 07	0	0	0	0			
80 🗋	0	0	0	0			
09	0	0	0	0			
_ 10	0	0	0	0			
11	0	0	0	0			
_ 12	0	0	0	0			
_ 13	0	0	0	0			
⊒ 14	0	0	0	0			
_ 15	0	0	0	0			
16	0	0	0	0			

Note: Never input 0 for the count, this will cause the file not to print. Always count the original, so when wanting just 1 row or column, input 1.

Figure 6-9

Composite of Final Output



Figure 6-10

Chokes and Spreads

During the printing process there are times when two or more colors will come into contact with each other. Requiring perfect registration on a press is not practical and normally impossible. Avoiding registration problems when printing requires the use of what we call "Chokes & Spreads". Whether you are choking or spreading, an image trap is being created. This is the color overlap value measured in mils (1/1000"). Having the colors overlap slightly eases the registration process on the printing press. During most situations you will find that it is the lighter ink color that creates the actual trapping effect.

There are distinct differences between a choke and a spread. A choke is when the hole created by the knockout is smaller than the item that created the knockout. A spread is when the hole created by the knockout is true to size, but the object that sits in the hole is larger. See Figure 6-11 for a visual example.



Figure 6-11

Determining Trap Value

The value to use for a trap should be recommended by your pressman, since chokes and spreads vary depending on the inks and presses used. The value for a one-dot choke/spread can be determined by dividing 500 by the screen lineage. The answer will be in mils (1/1000").

Formula: 500/Screen Lineage = Trap Value

Using this formula, to overlap one full dot when outputting 133 line screens, use a 3.75 mil trap.

Methods Used for Trapping

Below are six different methods of creating chokes & spreads on the MECCA system. Each of these methods is effective for handling color-to-color tight registration. The differences are in the types of components used and the complexity of the trap.

- A. Manual Trap for Vectors, Vector Chains, Arc/Circles and Splines
- **B.** Manual Trap for Areas {Create Outlines}
- C. Manual Trap for Scanned Images {Thick/Thin Raster}
- **D.** Manual Trap for Text (Entire Item is Not Trapped) {Text to Outline}
- E. Spec File Automatic Choke & Spread for Text with a Single Global Value
- F. Spec File Automatic Choke & Spread for Areas with a Single Global Value

Before discussing the usage of these methods of creating a Choke & Spread, you need to know which method best suits your needs. This can be determined by answering the following five questions.

- 1. What are the proper ink darkness sequences for all colors being used in the file?
- 2. How will the contacting color effect each other? Do they over-print, knockout or possibly do both?
- **3.** Which color actually creates the trap by spreading?
- 4. What kind of components are involved in the trapping?
- 5. Will one trapping value work for the entire file?

The first three questions allow you to determine what needs to be accomplished. The fourth question will help you determine which method is going to be used, according to the component being effected. If you are able to use the Spec File Choke & Spreads, question five will help you determine whether method E or F can be used.

By using a spec file during output you can create most knockouts needed automatically. There are times though that the automatic knockouts and trapping from the spec file will not work for every situation. If this is the case then you may have to manually create the trap yourself. It is possible to combine the usage of a spec file trap with that of a manual trap. When outputting drawings that contain multiple plies, it is required that you use a separate part entry for each ply.

Ink Darkness

Assigning ink darkness values is useful to help you clearly determine which colors need spread to create the trap between two contacting colors. In almost all cases it is the lighter of the two colors that creates the trapping effect by spreading. It is necessary to know the ink darkness order if you wish to have automatic chokes and spreads. The output specification program has to know the relative Ink Darkness to know whether to choke or spread the layer. The proper order of each separation is to use 1 through 8, with the higher number for the darkest color. Each separation is seen as having an increasing darker color. See Figure 6-12.



Figure 6-12

For example, let's take the colors red, blue, and black, and for argument's sake let's say that the blue is a pale sky blue, and the red is a saturated bright red. In this example, we would rate blue as the lightest, red as darker, and black, of course, the darkest. Therefore, blue is given a darkness value of 1, red 2, and black 3. If we later added a fourth color, such as yellow, we would change our separations to have yellow 1, blue 2, red 3, and black 4. These numbers are used as the Separation within the Part. Separation 1 must always be the lightest color.

The separations must be kept in a sequential ascending order. If two colors are approximately the same ink darkness, don't fret; go ahead and assign them separations one after the other because in this case it won't matter which color chokes or spreads.

Designating Layers

When designating layers you may find that there are times when one color may need multiple layers. This is true if one particular color needs to knockout as well as over-print another color. If you are manually creating trapping with outlines, you will need two layers for that color. One layer will be used to create the knockout and the other layer will be the manual trap that over-prints.

For spec files, it is also required that the layer colors of your drawing be in the same exact sequence as that of the ink darkness values. Separation 1 must be the lightest color and go in ascending order.

When to Use a Spec File

In a spec file, you may enter into the *Choke/Spread* field a value needed for trapping. This value is in mils (1/1000" increments), 7 mils equal 1/2 point. The value that you enter is considered to be a global value. Meaning that when a choke/spread is applied, the value entered is used on every choke/spread. The ink darkness fields give you the control over which color(s) will do the spreading. In order for the automatic Choke/Spread to take effect, the object that creates the knockout or receives the trap must be 100% totally enclosed within the other object's rectangular width/depth boundaries or you will get unwanted results. If it is not, then the entire boundary of the component will receive the choke and spread instead of just the overlapping segment. See Figure 6-13.



Figure 6-13

Component Limitations

When using the Spec File to create Automatic Chokes & Spreads there are limitations to what type of components you may use. Following is a listing of all of MECCA's elements and how they are treated during output with a spec file that uses automatic knockouts with chokes and spreads.

If the component that needs effected is any one of the following, then you will need to manually trap: Arc/Circle (this includes fillets) Box Edge or Corner, Border, Pantograph, Raster, Spline (Cubic or Bezier), Vector or Vector Chain.

If the component is Text, Area, Bar Code, or Box Insides and/or Odd/Even Bars, then a spec file's automatic choke/spread value can be applied.

This does not mean that you can't use the spec file for knockouts. All components knockout. So it would still be beneficial to knockout with the spec file while using a manual outline as the trap.

Manual Trapping

There are certain items or conditions that a Parts Specification Choke Value will not work. In those situations trapping must be done manually.

Vectors, Vector Chains, Arc/Circles, and Splines

Since a Parts Specification Choke Value will not choke or spread any of these objects automatically, you must manually create the trap yourself. This is done by copying the object(s) to the knockout layer and making its color white. You will have a white object directly underneath of the printing object. If the printing object needs to spread, change its line weight to be larger by two times the spread amount. (For example if the starting line weight is 5 points and your trap needs to be 1/2 point, change the line weight to be 6 points.) Leave the white object used as the knockout at a 5-point line weight. This will create a 1/2-point trap on all sides of the object. See Figure 6-14.



Figure 6-14

In your Parts spec the printing line must be set to ignore (over-print) the underlying color. This may require that you use two layers for the color of the printing line. One layer is needed if this color must create an automatic knockout somewhere else. Another layer is needed for the over-printing line used to create the manual trap.

If the printing line is to choke, then the line weight of the white line needs to be changed. Instead of increasing the line weight, simply reduce the line weight by 2 times the trap amount. The Parts spec and layering procedures are the same as that of a spread.

Area Components

Generally, most Areas will have no problems with traps created through a Parts Specification Choke Value. The most common problem arises when only a portion of the area overlaps onto another color. The trapping would only be needed at the point of overlap, not around the entire area. See Figure 6-13. This can be accomplished by using [Area]'s {Get Outlines}. This function will create a printing rule around the area's edges. The line weight used should be twice that of the trap required. See Figure 6-15.



Figure 6-15

You may need to remove a portion of the outline that is not needed. To do this you may have to {Break Spline} the outline to cut the path where needed. You will be required to use two layers for this color. One layer is needed for the area itself to do the knockout. The second layer is for the remaining piece of the path that creates the trap by overprinting. Your Parts spec will require that the areas layer use a knockout. In the same separation the other layer will be designated to ignore (over-print) the underlying color. These are the same procedures described in *"Manual Trapping - Vectors"*. See Figure 6-14.

Scanned Images

Creating traps for scanned images can be accomplished by using [Raster] {Thick/Thin Raster}. Raster images will not automatically trap through the use of a Parts Specification Choke Value. They will however, create a knockout if needed.

Using {Thick/Thin Raster}

To use {Thick/Thin Raster} you need to copy the scanned image to the knockout layer and make its color white. You will have a white scan directly underneath of the printing scan. Use {Thick/Thin Raster} to enlarge/spread the printing image or reduce/choke the white knockout image by the amount of trap needed. The {Thicker} option will enlarge and the {Thinner} will reduce the scan by a set number of pixels. Trapping is input in 1/1000" increments (mils), 14 mils equal 1 point. To convert a set number of pixels into a useful measurement, use the following formula:

 $ERes/100 \times 1.5 = X$

(X is the number of pixels that equal 1 point)

As an example, if you have a 900 dpi scan, 13.5 pixels equal 1 point. If the trap desired were 1/2 point, then 6.75 pixels (half of 13.5) would be the number of pixels that equal 1/2 point. The {Thick/Thin Raster} option only accepts whole numbers so you must round off the 6.75 to 7 pixels. This would either enlarge or reduce the edges of your scan by 1/2 point. See Figure 6-16.



Raster Trace Outlines with Increased Line Weight on Layer 1.

Raster Image on Layer 2, Knock-Out Created by Spec File.

Background Color on Layer 3, Raster Knock-Out Created by Spec File.

Figure 6-16

When using {Thick/Thin Raster} your Parts spec will have the printing scan set to ignore (over-print) the underlying color. This may require that you use two layers for the color of the printing scan. One layer is needed if this color must create an automatic knockout somewhere else. Another layer is needed for the over-printing scan used to create the manual trap.

Text Components

Text items can be trapped in a variety of different methods: either by the Parts automatic Choke/Spread entry, or manually adding the text outlines. Occasionally, text may not physically be completely enclosed in another objects boundary but visually appear to be. This may cause unwanted Choke/Spread results on the output. To resolve this you can manually add a trap to the text or the background that it sits upon.

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Chapter 7: NEdit Text Editor

This chapter is dedicated to the NEdit text editor, which is available for FreeBSD Systems.

NEdit is a GUI (Graphical User Interface) style text editor for programs and plain-text files. NEdit provides the entire standard menu, dialog, editing, and mouse support, as well as all of the standard shortcuts to which the users of modern PC based environments are accustomed.

NEdit is free software that is the product of Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory, operated by Universities Research Association, Inc., under contract DE-AC02-76CH03000 with the U.S. Department of Energy.

You can view the 5.0 version of NEdit documentation by starting **Netscape** and going to **http://localhost/M2KDOC.**

Starting NEdit

You can start NEdit by typing **nedit** from a command line within "Xterm" or by selecting **{Text Editor}** from the **[Start]** menu.



NEdit will open a window named "Untitled". You can create a new file by typing into this window and choosing {Save} or {Save As...} from the [File] menu. There is no "main window" in NEdit, all editor windows are equivalent, and NEdit remains running as long as at least one window is open.

📉 Unti	tled						_ 🗆 ×
File	Edit	Search	Preferences	Shell	Macro	<u>W</u> indows	<u>H</u> elp
Unti	tled	line 1	, col 0, (byte	2.S		
							4
							V

Insert Text or Overtype Text

There are two data entry modes **Inserting Text** and **Overtyping Text**. When typing text with **NEdit** the default is **Inserting Text**. This mode will push existing text to the right as data is being entered. Toggling on **{Overtype}** will replace existing characters as data is being entered.

There is no way to change the default, but you can easily switch between the two by using the shortcut keys [Ctrl]+B. You can also change modes by selecting [**Preferences**], {**Overtype**}.

<u>Overtype</u>	Ctrl+B
Read Only	

NOTE: [Ctrl-B] is a shortcut. When using shortcut keys be sure that [Num-Lock] and [Cap-Lock] keys are not in use.

Selecting Text

NEdit has two general types of selections, **Highlighted text**, and **Underlined text**. Selections can cover either a simple range of text between two points in the file, or they can cover a rectangular area of the file.

Highlight Selecting

To select text for copying, deleting, or replacing, press the left mouse button with the pointer at one end of the text you want to select, and drag it to the other end. The text will become highlighted. After releasing the mouse button, you can still adjust a selection by holding down the **[Shift]** key and dragging on either end of the selection.

Copy & Paste: To do a simple **Copy & Paste**, highlight the text to be copied then do a **[Ctrl-c]**. Move cursor to where you want text to be placed and do a **[Ctrl-v]**.

Cut & Paste: To do a simple Cut & Paste, highlight the text to be moved then do a [Ctrl-x]. Move cursor to where you want text to be placed and do a [Ctrl-v].

Deleting Text Blocks: To delete a text block, highlight the text to be deleted and press the **[Delete]** or **[Backspace]** key.

Moving Text: To move text items, highlight text to be moved. Click the **middle mouse button** and drag to new location then release.

Underline Selecting

The **middle mouse button** can be used to make an **Underlined** additional selection. As soon as the button is released, the contents of this selection will be copied to your current cursor position.

NOTE: See the NEdit documentation for complete details of the middle mouse button.

Rectangular Selecting

To select a rectangle or column of text, hold down the **[Ctrl]** key while dragging the mouse. Rectangular selections can be used in any context that normal selections can be used, including cutting and pasting, filling, shifting, dragging, and searching. Operations on rectangular selections automatically fill in tabs and spaces to maintain alignment of text within and to the right of the selection.

Finding and Replacing Text

The [Search] menu contains a number of commands for finding and replacing text.

NOTE: If you are finding or replacing text with a \ (backslash), ^ (caret), ~ (tilde), blank space (space-bar), < > (greater-than, less-than) characters, you must use the {Literal} option. Only use the regular expression option if you are replacing returns or tabs.

🗙 Replace	×
String to Find:	(use up arrow key to recall previous)
Replace <u>W</u> ith:	
I	
◆ Literal ◇ Cas	e Sensitive Literal 💠 <u>R</u> egular Expression
♦ Search Forwar	d
Replace Find	Replace All R. In Selection Cancel

The **{Find...}** and **{Replace...}** commands present dialogs for entering text for searching and replacing. These dialogs also allow you to choose whether you want the search to be sensitive to upper and lower case, or whether to use the standard Unix pattern matching characters (regular expressions). Searches begin at the current cursor position.

{Find Again} and **{Replace Again}** repeat the last find or replace command without prompting for search strings. To selectively replace text, use the two commands in combination: Find Again, then Replace Again if the highlighted string should be replaced, or Find Again to go to the next string.

{Find Selection} searches for the text contained in the current **Highlighted Selection.** The selected text does not have to be in the current editor window, it may even be in another program. For example, if the word dog appears somewhere in a window on your screen, and you want to find it in the file you are editing, select the word dog by dragging the mouse across it, switch to your NEdit window and choose Find Selection from the Search menu.

Replacing Returns or Tabs

Putting the batch command at the end of lines: search for \n (this is a return), replace with \\nl^\n (this is the batch command with return). Be sure to check regular expression before replacing.

Replacing tabs with spaces: search for \t (this is a tab), replace with number of spaces. Be sure to check regular expression before replacing.

Selective Replacement

To replace only some occurrences of a string within a file, choose **{Replace...}** from the **[Search]** menu, enter the string to search for and the string to substitute, and finish by pressing the **[Find]** button. When the first occurrence is highlighted, use either **[Replace** Again]/[Ctrl-T] to replace it, or **[Find Again]/[Ctrl-G]** to move to the next occurrence without replacing it, and continue in such a manner through all occurrences of interest.

To replace all occurrences of a string within some range of text, select the range, choose **{Replace...}** from the **[Search]** menu, type the string to search for and the string to substitute, and press the **[R. in Selection]** button in the dialog box.

NOTE: That selecting [Replace] in the dialog box will unselect the text in the window.

NOTE: If you have a file that contains control characters that need to be stripped out, you will need to run "epsprep" from a \$-prompt prior to editing.

Example: epsprep <filename >newfilename

Setting Up Custom Defaults

On your first initial use of **NEdit** there are two **default** preferences that you may want to set permanently.

Statistics Line, Word Wrap

These settings are located under the **[Preferences]** button under **{Default Settings}** on your tool-bar.

Statistics Line

When **NEdit** is first invoked there is no line number or character position number showing, this is represented by the **{Statistics Line}**. The {Statistics Line} will show the full file name, line number, and length of the file being edited.

To turn on your Statistics Line go to [**Preferences**], {**Default Settings**}, and select {**Statistics Line**}. This will put a grey line at the top of your window area containing your file information. Then be sure to {**Save Defaults**} to get the permanent setting.

🔀 exan	nple.t	xt										_ 🗆 ×
File	Edit	Searc	n <u>P</u> ref	feren	ces	Shell	Ма	acro	Wine	dows		Help
/usr	/am	graf/e	kampl	e.t	kt l	ine	7,	col	13,	307	bytes	10.00
This	is	an exa	ample	of	tex	t.						4
This	is	an exa	ample	of	tex	t.						
This	is	an exa	ample	of	tex	t.						
This	is	an exa	ample	of	tex	t.						
This	is	an exa	ample	of	tex	t.						
This	is	an exa	ample	of	tex	t.						
This	is	an exa	ample	of	tex	t.						
This	is	an exa	ample	of	tex	t.						
This	is	an exa	ample	of	tex	t.						
This	is	an exa	ample	of	tex	t.						
This	is	an exa	ample	of	tex	t.						
												4
1			_		_							

You can easily turn this line on or off within each editing session by selecting the {Statistics Line} option just under the [Preferences] button.

Word Wrap

Word wrap is a feature that automatically supplies a carriage return before the next word is entered after the ruler bell margin setting. This feature allows inputting of text without having to watch the screen.

When the editor is invoked the file is opened and the editor is ready for input. Defaults are left margin at Column 0, word wrap margin (or bell margin) is indefinite.

To permanently set up a "Word Wrap Margin", go to **[Preferences]**, **{Default Settings}**, **{Wrap}.** Select **{Wrap Margin}**. This will bring up the following dialog box.

🖌 Wrap Margin	x
□ <u>W</u> rap and Fill at width o	of window
Margin for Wrap and Fill	80
ΟΚ	Cancel

There are two options under **{Wrap Margin}. {Wrap and Fill at width of window}** or **{Margin for Wrap and Fill}.** With the first option text will "Word Wrap" when it comes to the edge of your current window size. With the second option you can specify an exact character position for the text to wrap at by typing in that position number in the area provided.

Once you have made your selections choose [**Preferences**], {Save Defaults}. This will permanently save your selections. To see your changes take effect you must exit **NEdit** and then restart **NEdit**. Now when the **NEdit** editor is invoked the "Word Wrap" will be set.

To temporarily change the "Word Wrap Margin" per editing session, go to **[Preferences]** and select the **{Wrap}** option located on the primary menu. The same menus will pop-up as before. Once your selections have been made you will see them take effect immediately, but only in the current file.

Ispell Program for Spell Checking

NEdit utilizes the "ispell" program. This program is located under [Shell] on the toolbar.

ispell will display each word, which does not appear in the dictionary at the top of the screen and allow you to change it. If there are "near misses" in the dictionary (words which differ by only a single letter, a missing or extra letter, a pair of transposed letters, or a missing space or hyphen), then they are also displayed on following lines. As well as "near misses", ispell may display other guesses at ways to make the word from a known root. You have the option of replacing the word completely, or choosing one of the suggested words.

When a possible spelling error occurs the ispell window will appear showing the possible error highlighted. At this point you have the following options [SP], {number}, R)epl, A)ccept, I)nsert, L)ookup, U)ncap, Q)uit, e(X)it, or ?(help).

🕽 ispell	
Sometines	File: /var/tmp/otxt518.txt
m etines I make miss	takkes
). Sometimes	
: Some times	
: Some-tines	
P] <number> R)epl A</number>)ccept I)nsert L)ookup U)ncap Q)uit e(X)it or ? for help

[SP] spacebar: Pressing the [Spacebar] will cause the speller to accept the word this time only and go to next.

number: Means to replace with one of the suggested words. If there is more than one possible correction for the misspelled word they will show up in a numbered list. Type in the number of the correction you want then press [Enter].

R)**epl:** If the speller doesn't give you a possible correction, or if none of the suggestions are correct, then you can type in your own. Press the [R] key and you will be prompted "Replace with:". At the prompt type in your correction, then press [Enter].

A)ccept: Means to accept the word for the rest of this check spell session. It doesn't however add it to the dictionary.

I)**nsert:** Accepts the word, capitalizes it as it is in the file and updates the private dictionary. This is *ispell_english* found in your home directory.

U)**ncap:** Accept the word, will add an uncapitalized (actually, all lower-case) version to the private dictionary. This is *ispell_english* found in your home directory.

L)ookup: This option looks up words in the system dictionary.

eXit: Typing X will save changes made and exit the file.

Quit: Will quit out of the file without saving changes.

Programmable Shortcut Keys

User programmable shortcut keys are available with this editor. This feature will allow any key sequence to be defined by the user.

To create your own shortcut keys go to [**Preferences**], {**Default Settings**}, {**Customize Menus**}, {**Macro Menu**}.

Language Modes	1	
Auto Indent	A	
Wrap	A	
Tabs		Shell Menu
Text Font		Macro Menu
<u>C</u> ustomize Menus	Δ	Window Background Menu

This will bring up the following dialog box. The list box on the left contain previously set shortcut keys. You can either modify one of these or create a new one by selecting **New**.

📉 Macro Co	ommands				_ 🗆 ×
Delete Copy Move ^	New Complete Word Fill Sel. w/Char Quote Mail Reply		Select a macro m Select "New" to add Menu Entry (> fo normalį	enu item froi 1 a new comr or sub-menu,	m the list at left. nand to the menu. @ language mode)
Move v	Unquote Mail Reply C Comments>Comment Out Se C Comments>C Uncomment Se C Comments>+ C++ Comment@		Accelerator F2 Requires Selectio	Mnemonic I	Paste Learn/ Replay Macro
Macro Co	pmmand to Execute string("\\N^")				
	OK <u>A</u> pply	1	Check] [Dismiss

Select **New** then under the **Menu Entry** area type in the related name of your shortcut (i.e. Normal). This will then be added to the list at the left. Under the **Accelerator** area enter the key sequence you wish to use (i.e. F2). Now, under **Macro Command to Execute** type in **insert_string(''\\N^'')**. This is the command you wish to be inserted when you press the **F2** key.

NOTE: The insertable entry must be inside the double quotes, and inside the parenthesis. Also if the insertable entry is a command it must include two \ (backslashes).

To permanently keep your customized shortcut keys be sure to {Save Defaults}.

Delete Key

The default for the **[Delete Key]** is to act as a backspace. Erasing characters to its left. In order to have it delete characters to the right you must edit the **NEdit** file located in */usr/X11R6/lib/X11/app-defaults*.

At the bottom of this file add the following by typing ***remapDeleteKey: False.**

Save the file and exit **NEdit**. When **NEdit** is restarted the delete key will now delete characters to the right.

Printing From NEdit

NEdit's {Print} option will give you a "Raw Text" prinout. It will look exactly like it does on your text editor screen. To get this printout, select [File], {Print}. This will bring up the following dialog box. Type in **psf -P(que name)** then select the [**Print**] button.

🗙 Printer Options			×
<u>N</u> umber of copi	es (1) 👖		
Queue			
psf -Pt3Os			
	Print	Cancel	

Chapter 8: Security Document Composition

Security documents are special because of their function in representing negotiable value, legal ownership, and official status. Because of their value, the printed document is subject to counterfeiting and tampering. The MECCA 2000 System allows very complex composition and has a wide variety of security design features that can be incorporated into your artwork. The use of fine-line relief printing, superimposing hidden messages, original fine-line detailed borders, unique geometrical designs, spot color blending, and also micro-text create an effective counterfeiting deterrent when used in conjunction with specialty papers, inks and other treatments.

Graphical effects can be used to add security to almost any document. Unlike special papers, coatings and inks, graphical effects in general do not add to the overall production cost of a document. Given two documents that have the same value, a forger will most likely try to counterfeit the one with the least number of security features. In many cases, just adding a few of the graphic effects listed below will protect a document. All of the following counterfeiting deterrents can be created on MECCA 2000 Systems.

Prismatic Colored Backgrounds	Subtle Monochrome and Color Graduations
Phantom Images and Logos	Color Radial Graduations
Void Pantographs	Micro-Text
Fine-Line Relief of Logos	Unique Fine-Line Borders and Pantographs
Printed Warning Bands	Moiré Patterns

MECCA 2000 Security Features



The most effective copy-resistant graphical techniques are fine-line reliefs, micro-text, and simulated watermarks which can only be seen by holding the original document at an angle to the light.



The creator of a secure document should use as many graphical security features as possible to produce a verifiable document which is difficult to forge and resistant to photocopying. Complex graphics and colors, along with fine-line lacy borders and pantographs are difficult to forge. The warning band also makes it clear to the forger that the producer of the document is committed to fighting fraud. Graphical features which are verifiable and easily created are micro-text, hidden messages and images, unique details, and subtle coloring.

Color copiers make it easy to replicate any document, however, they do have limits in resolution and color gamut. By understanding these limitations, documents can be graphically protected. Phantoms, void pantographs, and lacy borders and backgrounds are effective if used with other color blending features because the copier can be adjusted to render fine detail with over-saturated bright colors, or adjusted to render the subtle color with some loss of fine detail.

Individual Components Used in Airline Ticket

The basic composition techniques are shown in this diagram. The ticket uses radial graduation behind fine-line relief printing as a deterrent to counterfeiting. The light color shades of blues and reds become hard to copy and still pick up the fine-line detail.

The logo of Savanah Airways has been scanned so relief printing can be applied not only on the base of the ticket but also as a banner.



Individual Components Used in a Certificate

The certificate below utilizes the Micro-Text feature, prismatic colored background, hidden words, warning band, ornamental designs, and multiple fine-line borders. The basic composition techniques are shown in this diagram.





MECCA 2000

Amgraf, Inc. 1501 Oak Street Kansas City, MO 64108 1-800-304-4797

Void Pantographs and Hidden Images

The inclusion of hidden messages and void pantographs is an effective tool against document counterfeiting. By creating a custom hidden message or void statement makes the reproduction process difficult. Some techniques require a licensing agreement between the manufacturer and the respective patent holder.





Amgraf, Inc.

1501 Oak Street Kansas City, MO 64108 1-800-304-4797

Guilloche Background Patterns

Guilloche patterns are created as a series of intricately designed lines that create highly complex security backgrounds. Because of their non-repeating nature, these backgrounds are a highly secure method to foil attempts to cut-and-paste sections and are difficult to reproduce during photocopying.





Amgraf, Inc. 1501 Oak Street Kansas City, MO 64108 1-800-304-4797

Custom Border Designs

The creation of custom fine line lacey borders is easily accomplished through the use of Mecca 2000's powerful security design and masking features. Custom one of a kind designs can quickly be created with the sine-wave pattern function and and further enhanced with the logarithmic move feature.





Amgraf, Inc. 1501 Oak Street Kansas City, MO 64108 1-800-304-4797

Sine-Wave Guilloche Ornament

Using Mecca[™] 2000's Pattern tools allow the creation of custom sine-wave guilloche ornaments to quickly be created as vector based object. Custom path shapes can be quickly designed for use as a containment border for the guilloche.



MECCA 2000 PUBLISHING SYSTEM

Security Document Composition Features

Amgraf, Inc. 1501 Oak Street Kansas City, MO 64108 1-800-304-4797

Relief Print Backgrounds

Relief printing is a highly effective deterrent against document counterfeiting. Relief printing is achieved by creating the illusion of an embossed image within a series of continuous lines. When used as a document background printed with light ink colors or multiple ink colors, it is almost impossible to recreate through digital capture.




Amgraf, Inc. 1501 Oak Street Kansas City, MO 64108 1-800-304-4797

Prismatic Color Blending

Prismatic Color Blending is a technique that is effective for the copy protection of many security documents. Creating a background that changes from one ink color to another can often foil an attempt to counterfeit through the use of desktop scanners and color copiers.

This technique requires that the printing press run multiple screens in two or more ink colors surprinting one another. This can be accomplished by creating plate separations with complimentary dot angles to create a subtle color change.



Prismatic Color Blend - Blue on Left Changing to Red on Right.

Blue Separation - 0%-30% Left Graduation, Dot Angle of 45 $^{\circ}$



Red Separation - 0%-30% Right Graduation, Dot Angle of 75°



MECCA 2000 K

Amgraf, Inc. 1501 Oak Street Kansas City, MO 64108 1-800-304-4797

Microtext

Microtext printing can be used in a variety of ways within security documents. Below are just a few examples of how microtext can be applied to shapes, paths, and backgrounds.





Amgraf, Inc. 1501 Oak Street Kansas City, MO 64108 1-800-304-4797

Phantom Images and Logos

Creating custom phantom images from logos and photographs is an effective method to deter against unauthorized reproduction of printed materials. Several methods of creating phantom images can be easily created on the MECCA 2000 System as illustrated below.

MECCA 2000 INTEGRATED ELECTRONIC PUBLISHING SYSTEM	

Drop Shadow Phantom Logo

Г	MECCA	2000	MECCA	2000	MECCA	2000
						ECTRONIC SYSTEM
\mathbf{A}^{*}						MECC
E L I G						INTEGRATED PUBLISHI
						2000
						ECTRONIC SYSTEM
\mathbf{A}^{*}						MECC
E L I G						INTEGRATED PUBLISHI
						2000
						ECTRONIC SYSTEM
\mathbf{A}^{*}						MECC
E L I G						INTEGRATED PUBLISHI
						2000
						ECTRONIC SYSTEM
\mathbf{A}°	<u>2000</u>	MECCA	2000	MECCA	2000	MECC
E L I G						INTEGRATED PUBLISHI
	<u>MECCA</u> "	<u>2000</u>	MECCA	<u>2000</u>	MECCA	2000
						ECTRONIC SYSTEM
A "	2000	MECCA	2000	MECCA	2000	MECC
E L I G						INTEGRATED PUBLISHI
	MECCA	<u>2000</u>	MECCA	2000	MECCA	2000
						ECTRONIC SYSTEM
\mathbf{A}^{*}	2000	MECCA	2000	MECCA	2000	MECC
E L I G	ECTRON IC SYSTEM	INTEGRATED EL PUBLISHING	ECTRONIC SYSTEM	INTEGRATED EL PUBLISHING	ECTRONIC SYSTEM	INTEGRATED PUBLISHI

Step & Repeat Phantom Logo



Alternate Graduation Phantom Logo



Photo Phantom on Custom Graduated Screen



MECCA 2000 Ka

Amgraf, Inc. 1501 Oak Street Kansas City, MO 64108 1-800-304-4797

Point Shaker

Computer generated artwork can be an effective deterrent towards document counterfeiting. The uniformity of the pattern can be difficult to reproduce. However, there are times that it becomes desirable to add minor inconsistencies to the pattern as an added level of security. The point-shaker allows specific regions to be altered as much or as little as needed.





Amgraf, Inc. 1501 Oak Street Kansas City, MO 64108 1-800-304-4797

Rotate Pattern

Creating complex ornamental designs and custom borders becomes a simple process with Mecca 2000's rotate functions. The ability to use a base design while copying and rotating simultaneously creates unique patterns that are extremely difficult to reproduce.





MECCA 2000

Amgraf, Inc. 1501 Oak Street Kansas City, MO 64108 1-800-304-4797



Creating Micro-Text

Micro-Text is extremely small print which is not legible to the naked eye and is used as a security feature on checks. It appears to look like a drawn line and when copied it loses its characters and cannot be read when magnified.

Micro-Text flows along arcs, circles, boxes, vectors, and splines. It will also outline areas by generating the outline of an area internally. The easiest Micro-Text to create is Signature Lines. Here you simply draw a line the length of the signature line and then go to the Micro-Text menu, type in your text and pick the line. This will cause the text to be repeated along the line with the current attributes.

The micro-text input is being stepped to fill the path length. It will cut off at any character once it fills the length. If the vector paths makes a drastic angle change, it does its best to achieve a smooth transition. Placement of the micro-text is centered vertically along the vector, spline, or box edge. Direction is determined by the start and end coordinates of the component. Circles for example always travel counter-clockwise, so you may want to get into the habit of checking the direction before exiting the function.

Groups of components can be used as a path. When picking a group, it again will flow along the start of the first component to the next connecting, etc. To have control over the path, you can select it yourself by toggling on the {Pick Path Items} option.



Example of Micro-Text Used as an Underline

Using the Micro-Text Option

Micro-Text flows along arcs, circles, boxes, vectors, and splines. It will also outline areas by generating the outline of an area internally. Selecting the Micro-Text menu causes the Simple Text Editor box to appear. Micro-Text wants the text to be input first. This text is repeated along a chosen path. If the path is one component, just picking the component will cause the micro-text to be created. When multiple components are needed, selecting the path is similar to picking Area boundaries.

Suboptions:

Undo, Set Text Attributes, Reverse the Micro-Text Direction, Pick Path Items Like an Area Boundary, Done Path

The easiest Micro-Text to create is Signature Lines. Here you simply draw a line the length of the signature line and then go to the Micro-Text menu, type in your text and pick the line. This will cause the text to be repeated along the line with the current attributes.

Setting Micro-Text Attributes is similar to setting regular attributes. Defaults of the font, style, and point size can be selected by picking the [Set for Micro-Text] button on the attributes dialog box. (We don't limit the point-size just because of the function being named "micro".

Let's try a simple exercise of flowing micro-text along the edge of a rounded-cornered box.

Step 1:

First draw the [Box], but beforehand {Set Box Attributes}. We will make ours a .009i weight with a 600 (white) color. This edge can be used as a blockout if we need the micro-text on top of a screen. Our inside is -1 transparent. Now draw a box for our micro-text to use as a path.

Step 2:

Go to the [Text] button and select {Micro-Text} from the pop-up menu. This will immediately bring up the simple text input box. Type in the words you want repeated. It is best to type them in all uppercase with no punctuation to simulate a smooth rule. We will use "AMGRAF" as our text. Check "Do Not Spell Check" and [Okay] the text input.

Step 3:

Pick {Set Attributes} from the pop-up menu. This will allow you to set up the correct attributes for a 1-point, bold piece of micro-text by pressing the [Set for Micro-Text] button. [Okay] your settings.

Step 4: Simply pick the box edge and your micro-text will repeat itself along the entire box.

Step 5:

Zoom into the micro-text and notice the direction the letters are traveling. You have a one-time opportunity after creating your micro-text to {Reverse the Micro-Text Direction}.

When you save the file you will have created micro-text. The text itself can be edited later for revisions through the normal {Edit Text} option.

Miscellaneous Information

The micro-text input is being stepped to fill the path length. It will cut off at any character once it fills the length. If the vector paths makes a drastic angle change, it does its best to achieve a smooth transition. Placement of the micro-text is centered vertically along the vector, spline, or box edge. Direction is determined by the start and end coordinates of the component. Circles for example always travel counter-clockwise, so you may want to get into the habit of checking the direction immediately after setting, since there is only a one-time opportunity to reverse the direction.

Groups of components can be used as a path. When picking a group, it again will flow along the start of the first component to the next connecting, etc. To have control over the path, you can select it yourself by toggling on Pick Path Items as a Boundary. Here you would select each item individually and finish with a {Done Path}. For example, if you only want the top and bottom of a box to have micro-text, toggle on {Pick Path} and pick the top. Immediately selecting {Done Path} will flow text only along that one pick. Do the same for the bottom.

Picking both the top, bottom, then {Done Path} will cause the two sides to be joined with micro-text along one side. It cannot jump from one disjointed component to another, it will always flow text between the components to complete the path.



Micro-Text Works with Vectors, Splines, and Boxes

The letterspacing and wordspacing is being controlled by the function and cannot be changed. All other attributes, such as layer, font, style, and point size can be set or changed. When changing or editing micro-text, it only has a picking point on its baseline.

The path of the micro-text cannot be changed, once created. You can undo at the time of creation and change the path, but afterwards the path is set in stone, only text edits and attribute changes can be made.

Immediate commands LYR, CF, PSZ, HSZ, VSZ, HSA, OL, XOL, GRS, GRE, STYLE CHANGES, and SPECIAL CHARACTERS are now honored. Commands other than these will most likely give you unusual results.

Graduated text with print sizes 3-point or smaller, does not get each letter graduated; instead, each letter is printed with a solid color, determined by: grad angle 0 or 180 and the letter position in the grad range along the path. Other angles: half way between start and end colors, for all letters.

Outlined text does not graduate, each letter is colored and printed in outlines. Note this behavior differs from the "normal text" grad-outline treatment: those are graduated first, then the choke color, or white if no choking specified, is used to super-impose outlines on each letter.

If path is closed, a 0- or 180-degree graduation will go from start, to end, and back to start. The ending color occurs at midpoint on the path.

Fine-Line Ornamental Designs

There are 49 ornamental designs available as fine-line rasters. These pieces can be copied, scaled, mirrored, used as is, or have sections cropped out to create even more fine-line backgrounds. They are located in the directory /usr/Amgraf/OrnamentRasters.



Variations of Raster Relief

Raster Relief is a complex series of lines that lift and lower over a scanned image. The lifting and lowering process creates the illusion of an embossed logo. It is an effective counterfeit deterrent because it is very difficult to digitally capture through the use of scanners and color copiers. Following are different variations from the same scan.



Creating Custom Patterns

Unusual types of backgrounds, borders and ornaments can be created through the Spiral and Sine-Wave generators. The inclusion of a custom created ornamental design to a document reduces its chances of being successfully counterfeited. Images which contain highly detailed fine line designs and patterns become extremely difficult to digitally or photographically capture.



The creation of a new ornamental design is achieved through the use of MECCA 2000's Spiral and Sine-Wave Generator features. Originating with a base contour design of the ornament, either a spiral or sine-wave pattern can quickly be applied. The appearance of the generated pattern is fully controllable by the designer during the creation process.

Features such as wave height, wave width, cycle count and boundary offset are just a few of the controls available. Additionally, other options allow the appearance of the wave shape, spiral perimeter, and pen position to be adjusted if needed. In addition, the geometry that generates the pattern can never be replicated, even by the same designer using the same MECCA 2000 system.

The Pattern Options

The pattern generator options allow you to create custom backgrounds, borders, and ornaments.

Spirals Along Path

This unique design program allows you to create beautiful geometric designs along a path. These designs can be used as borders, ornaments, or background pantographs. You can also create some very unique designs by layering individual designs together.

The design being placed along the path is controlled by four attributes: wheel parameter and offset, pen percentage, and number of cycles. These designs are vector chains.

For your convenience, there is a library of path files found in */usr/amgraf/PatternFrames.*

Done Patterns	
	🗙 Spiral Wheel/Pen Settings 🛛 🔀
 Spirals along Path Waves along Path 	Wheel perimeter: .2 Offset by wheel radius:
♦ Waves between Paths	Set pen to 100 % of wheel radius
Define Wheel and Pen Set Line Attributes	Cycles: 1
Fick Path Items like Area Boundary	Make Pattern
Position Assistant	Close
Snap to Item	
🖵 Snap to Grid	

Wheel Perimeter: The wheel travels around the path. If the path is not closed, such as our spline example, it will travel along the top side and then the bottom side to complete the path. This will control the size of the wheel as it rolls around the path.

Offset by Wheel Radius: Selecting "Yes" causes the pattern to offset itself from the path. Selecting "No" causes the pattern to center itself along the path.

Pen Position: The wheel has pen positions starting from the center in percentages of the wheel radius. A pen position of 100 would be drawing from the tangent of the wheel, a pen position of 1 from the center of the wheel. You can have up to 10,000 percent. A negative pen position will cause the pattern to travel inside of the path.

Cycles: This is how many times you want the wheel to travel around the path.



Once you have selected your path, you can experiment with the pattern by using the {Undo} and [Make Pattern] alternately while you adjust the values.

If the path is made up of multiple splines, then select "Pick Path Items Like Area Boundary" before picking. This will allow you to pick around the entire boundary, then select {Done}.

Waves Along a Path

This option allows you to apply a sine-wave pattern along a path. The appearance of the generated pattern is fully controllable by the designer during the creation process. A segment of the design will appear as you adjust the controls. These designs are creating splines in which you can control the line attributes.

For your convenience, there is a library of path files found in */usr/amgraf/PatternFrames.*

	🔀 Wave Pattern Settings	×
Done Patterns Undo	Wave Height: 1i Wave Width: 1i Vertical offset: 0	
☆ Spirals along Path	Cycles: 1	
♦ Waves along Path	Start at: 🔶 Valley 💠 Peak	
🔷 Waves between Paths	Top Shift: 0	
Set Wave Parameters Set Line Attributes	Vary weight by 0 steps, offset at 80 % line w Top Curvature as % of wave width:	veight 37
Pick Path Items like Area Boundary	Bot Curvature as % of wave width:	57
Position Assistant	Same a	mount
■ Snap to Item □ Snap to Grid	Adjust to fit Make Pa	ittern
	Close	

Wave Height and Width: This controls the size of the design segment which is to travel along the path. The Height value can be either a positive or negative number. The positive value will travel along the outside of the path relative to start and end. The negative value will travel along the inside of the path (again relative to the start and end.

Vertical Offset: This causes the pattern to offset itself from the path.

Cycles: This is how many times you want the pattern to travel around the path.

Start at Valley or Peak: The bottom of the segment is the valley, the top of the segment is the peak. When drawing what part of the segment touches the path.

Top Shift: A positive number slants the top of the curve to the right, a negative number slants the top to the left.



Vary Weight: This option allows you to vary the weight of the line making the pattern. It is repeating the line a number of times (steps) and offsetting that line a percentage of the line weight. A positive value will offset the copy below the original line, a negative value will offset the copy above the original (increasing the height). Notice that giving it an 80% offset causes the copies to overlap, this varies the weight of the line at the peak of the curve.



Curvature Percentages: You can adjust the top and bottom curvature percentage size of the segment just be sliding the bars. If you want different percentages, click off the "Same amount" checkbox. As you adjust the curves, you will see the segment thumbnail change.

Adjust to Fit does just what it says, it will adjust the width of the segment to fit the path with equal segments allowing the pattern to close.



Once you have selected your path, you can experiment with the pattern by using the {Undo} and [Make Pattern] alternately while you adjust the values.

If the path is made up of multiple splines, then select "Pick Path Items Like Area Boundary" before picking. This will allow you to pick around the entire boundary (the sample above has 4 picks along the outer boundary), then select {Done}.

Waves Between Paths

This option allows you to apply a sine-wave pattern between two paths. The appearance of the generated pattern is fully controllable by the designer during the creation process. A segment of the design will appear as you adjust the controls. These designs are creating splines in which you can control the line attributes.

For your convenience, there is a library of path files found in usr/amgraf/PatternFrames.

Done Patterns	📉 Wave Pattern Settings	×
Undo	Wave Height: .1	
 Spirals along Path Waves along Path Waves between Paths 	Wave Width: .1 Base Gutter: 0 Top Gutter: 0	52
Set Wave Parameters Set Line Attributes	Start at: ♦ Valley 🕹 Peak	
Pick Path Items like Area Boundary	Top Curvature as % of wave width:	66
Position Assistant	Bot Curvature as % of wave width:	66
Snap to Item		🔳 Same amount
🗆 Snap to Grid	📕 Adjust to fit	Make Pattern
	Close	

Wave Height and Width: This controls the size of the design segment which is to travel along the path. The Height value can be either a positive or negative number. The positive value will travel along the outside of the path relative to start and end. The negative value will travel along the inside of the path (again relative to the start and end.

Vertical Offset: This causes the pattern to offset itself from the path.

Base and Top Gutter: This lets you apply a gutter to keep the pattern away from the path if needed.

Cycles: This is how many times you want the pattern to travel around the path.

Start at Valley or Peak: The bottom of the segment is the valley, the top of the segment is the peak. When drawing what part of the segment touches the path.

Curvature Percentages: You can adjust the top and bottom curvature percentage size of the segment just be sliding the bars. If you want different percentages, click off the "Same amount" checkbox. As you adjust the curves, you will see the segment thumbnail change.

Adjust to Fit does just what it says, it will adjust the width of the segment to fit the path with equal segments allowing the pattern to close.



With this option you will be picking two separate paths: an outside and inside. In the sample above, there are just two picks since the circles are closed paths.

Once you have selected your paths, you can experiment with the pattern by using the {Undo} and [Make Pattern] alternately while you adjust the values.

If the path is made up of multiple splines, then select "Pick Path Items Like Area Boundary" before picking. This will allow you to pick around the entire boundary. You will need to specify that you are done with each path by picking the top/outside path and then {Done Path}. At this point you select the bottom/inside path and {Done Path}.

Using Point-Shaker

[Transforms] {Point-Shaker} allows you to modify vectors and splines in such a way to create original background images. The endpoints of the vectors and splines are moved randomly which creates a unique effect each time. In the following example 30 equally spaced lines where drawn, grouped, and displaced. As you can see, the lines on the right appear to have more of a fiber look than computer generated. The third group of lines was done by making a copy as it was displaced.



With this option, you can create very unique backgrounds which can be masked and placed inside of your form or check. Just input the maximum amount for displacement and the program will randomly move the endpoints (but not exceed) your amount.

Set Scope Limit: If you do not want the entire background to be displaced you can draw a circular boundary and have it only disturb the points which fall within the boundary. Checking "Set new range" will allow you to draw a circle as the boundary after you have [Closed] the dialog.

Example of Circles Being Shaken



In the example below, the center of the circles are being displaced.

When applying the feature to a uniform patterned background, a new custom nonrepeating background pattern is generated Using the effect within a constrained circular region (scope limit), the amount of displacement can be maximized to either the center or tangent edge of the designated boundary.

IBFI Security Regional Briefing September 17, 2000 Creating Security Documents on the MECCA 2000 System

by Raymond L. Garner Security Document Specialist Amgraf, Inc.

The MECCA 2000 System is the next generation of Amgraf's MECCA III - the world's premier business forms composition system. The MECCA 2000 software offers graphic designers a comprehensive suite of tools to create multi-color, multi-part forms with graduated screens, borders and pantographs, scanned logos, barcodes, and fine typography. For label manufacturing, the software includes trapping, flexographic distortion, and a unique step-and-repeat feature.

MECCA 2000 also contains a comprehensive set of design tools to add copy-resistant graphical safeguards to certificates, coupons, titles, tickets, monetary or legal documents, and other valuable forms, labels, and tags. Our graphical effects are easy to create but virtually impossible to duplicate.

Finished designs are output via PostScript to monochrome and color proofing printers, or as flawless colorseparated negatives or plates for printing presses.

Security documents are special because of their function in representing negotiable value, legal ownership, and official status. Because of their value, these documents are subject to counterfeiting and tampering.

Four classes of security technologies are often utilized to protect a document. Three are material-based. First, manufacturers can choose security papers from controlled sources or papers that have verifiable characteristics such as watermarks or embedded threads. Second, special inks and coatings can be used which have fluorescent or thermal characteristics, or which discolor if tampered with. Third, appliques such as holograms and foils can be affixed to the document to distinguish it. The fourth class of safeguarding technology, which is what Amgraf provides, is complex graphical imaging for the body, background, and borders of the document. The safest document is one that includes all of these four technologies in its makeup.

You will be hearing from other speakers about the most effective papers, inks, and foils. In this presentation we'll take a closer look at what is involved in the creation of security graphics.

We will review MECCA 2000's security capabilities starting with the easiest to create and following through to the most complex. The first technique is not really a unique graphical feature, but its importance should not be overlooked.

Warning Bands

The warning band is a simple statement of the security technologies that are present within the document. Although it is the simplest thing to add, the warning band is one of the most effective deterrents to a potential counterfeiter. Every security feature in the document must be defeated and criminals are more likely to abuse an unsecure document than one boasting of multiple security features. Most often, the warning band identifies measures such as colored backgrounds, the appearance of microprinting, artificial watermarks, thermochromatic ink, foil stamps, and other overt features.

Warning bands are common on checks, stocks, and titles, because they alert the receiver of the document as to what features should (or should not) be present in a valid original document. Warning bands on titles and certificates typically state that the document may become null and void with any attempt to erase or alter information.

Phantom Logos and Images

The inclusion of a phantom logo on any document is another easy method to add security. However, the phantom must be used in contrast with other graphical effects. For example, place a lightly screened logo image within a document's background adjacent to fine-line borders. This combination can quickly frustrate an amateur counterfeiter's attempt in copying. When adjusting the brightness level on the copier or scanner to pick-up the phantom image, the borders of the document become muddy and lose definition.

To further enhance the appearance and complexity of the document, include gradient screens within the phantom image. Again, this will make the effort of photocopying even more tedious and frustrating. Whether the gradient effect is contained within a single image, or applied to a step-and-repeat background, the digital capture process can become too cumbersome for the amateur counterfeiter.

With MECCA 2000, phantoms can be generated from simple line art, scanned images, or from photographic sources. When placed at strategic locations on the document, such as signature lines, amount boxes, or name fields, these areas are less likely to be altered on the original document.

Prismatic Color Blending

The above techniques also apply to Prismatic Color Blending.

Prismatic Color Blending is the technique of overprinting multiple ink colors to create a blended color effect. The overprinting of 2 ink colors will visually blend together forming a third blended color. When applied to a document, this effect can become quite difficult to match during color copier reproduction.

MECCA 2000 creates the prismatic color effect by generating multiple printing plates. These in turn are overprinted, creating a new blended color. Due to the nature of overprinting screened images, each separation must contain complementary dot angles to avoid moir@'e patterns on the final product.

Prismatic color blending is visually similar to that of split-fountain printing, however, differences between the two printing methods become apparent during magnification of the final printed material.

The prismatic printing method requires that a minimum of 2 ink towers overprint screens on the final product. Whereas split fountain printing require that 1 ink tower be loaded with multiple ink colors printing from a single plate. The multiple colors on the ink tower are separated by a "dam" at the inking rollers.

When magnified, the prismatic blend method shows multiple sets of ink dots on the printed product. Magnifying the split fountain method shows that only 1 set of ink dots are present. As the dots are viewed across the blended area, the color of the ink dot actually changes. Color consistency throughout a large print-run is more difficult to control with split-fountain printing than with prismatic color blending.

Again, when placed at strategic locations on the document, such as signature lines and dollar amount boxes, these areas then become less likely to be altered on the original document.

Microtext and Microprinting

As color copier technology improves, some of the most popular graphical security effects (such as Void Pantographs) are being defeated. Not so with microprinting. Created from type that is too small for the naked eye to clearly see, it is perceived as a printed line. When viewed under magnification, the line becomes legible as tiny letterforms spelling out a message. Most attempts to photocopy or scan micro-text produce illegible results due to its small character size.

Micro-text in its simplest form is typically used for a line or a box frame. It is now commonplace for signature lines on checks to be made up of microprinting. In more elaborate documents, micro-text is used within the background image itself. With MECCA 2000, the application of micro-text is as simple as picking a path to follow and inputting the wording. Also revisions to the wording of the micro-text are minor edits with MECCA 2000.

To increase the level of security within a document through the use of microprinting, the illusion of a background screen or inside fill can quickly be created. Since micro-text can follow any path or shape with MECCA 2000, the creation of these complex backgrounds is quick and easy.

By combining the usage of micro-text with MECCA 2000's relief print feature, the level of complexity within the security document greatly increases. A relief print pattern is generated within a document's background. Micro-text is then applied to the pattern resulting in an incredibly complex background image.

Fine Line Relief

The addition of relief lines can instantly increase a document's level of design complexity. MECCA 2000's relief pattern is a series of lines and curves that originate from a high resolution scanned image. The resulting lines are overlain upon the original image, creating the illusion of depth similar in appearance to that of embossing. Once the relief lines have been generated from the high resolution image, that image is typically discarded.

With MECCA 2000, the characteristics of the relief lines are controlled through a visual dialog panel. Attributes such as line spacing, drape height, front and back angle, drape effect, and draw direction are controlled by the user. Other characteristics available to the operator are line thickness, density and ink color. Once the designated image is identified, the application of the relief pattern is almost instantaneous. For further complexity, the relief lines can be solid or screened, and can be reversed-out of another background color or image.

Altering the origin offset allows the relief lines to be shifted to any position for final pattern adjustment. Overlaying multiple sets of relief lines at varying angles and spacings creates intricate background images that are extremely difficult for the counterfeiter to reproduce.

Adjusting values such as positive and negative drape angles, often create very interesting effects within the relief patterns. The relief pattern can alternate between positive and negative drape angles through the use of an oscillate feature.

Once created, relief lines can be further enhanced if desired, such as replacing with micro-text or by applying a distortion effect to the overall relief pattern.

Hidden Messages or Images

To make a document even more complex, you can insert hidden images within a pattern. The use of hidden or latent images within a document can be an effective tool in its verification process. Images or words can be embedded within a document's border, background, or ornament where only a trained document receiver knows to look.

Visually subtle, the hidden message is often overlooked by the untrained eye. Under magnification, it becomes obvious that a message is present within the document. The MECCA 2000 software has the ability to create these hidden images or messages.

For example, a series of multi-angled rules are often used to create a hidden message as a graphic object. Then the area surrounding the message is covered with lines at a contrasting angle. Adjustment to the thickness of the rules allows the message to become more or less hidden within the background pattern.

Void Pantographs

Although not fail-safe due to enhancements in copier technology, the void pantograph background is effective against the casual counterfeiter using a photocopier. Messages hidden within the background appear when attempts to duplicate the original are made. This feature is most commonly found in checks, but many additional applications for the void pantograph exist in documents today.

The Void phenomenon is based on the copier's inability to accurately reproduce screen densities of differing resolutions and dot angles. The naked eye sees an even color density while the copier sees a

glaring difference. Several techniques of the void background feature exist, some are patented processes requiring licensing, while others are in the public domain. Amgraf's MECCA 2000 software allows a wide variety of void background methods to be generated.

A large library of standard pantograph patterns exist with MECCA 2000 for use in the superimposition of a void message, but unique custom security background patterns can be created for use with voids as well. Messages that are to be hidden in the background, can vary in font, style, and point size.

The designer has full control over the final appearance of the Void text and background pattern during its creation. Variables such as screen density, lines per inch, dot shape and dot angle are fully adjustable. All are important factors in obtaining optimum results whether the void background is designated for black-and-white or color copier protection.

Guilloche Patterns

The Guilloche pattern is a unique non-repeating spiral design. The usage of a Guilloche pattern as a background can be an effective deterrent against a counterfeiter's attempt to cut-and-paste information since the pattern is non-repeating and unique, especially in areas of critical concern.

With the powerful tools available in the MECCA 2000 software, the creation of a Guilloche pattern can be achieved easily and quickly. You begin with a single pattern cell drawn through the use of MECCA's standard drawing tools. The ability to scale and copy simultaneously allow for an individual segment of the Guilloche to be created. Then using the rotation feature, the base section can be duplicated to create the Guilloche background. Simple shapes such as circles or ovals can be quickly converted into a complex background Guilloche pattern. Simply copying a single circle and then using the Shearing feature to distort the section creates a unique pattern segment. Mirroring the segment creates a pattern section for the final Guilloche. Again, using the rotation feature this section is then replicated around a central point of origin.

Once the desired background effect has been generated, the powerful clipping mask tool allows the Guilloche pattern to be applied to any document as a background or within an individual shape.

Custom Geometric Patterns

The MECCA 2000 can transform a simple geometric shape into a highly complex design pattern. Due to the fact that the originating shape can be freely designed, each resulting transformation then becomes a unique custom creation.

Almost any shape that can be created on MECCA 2000 can quickly become a complex design pattern. Items such as curves, ovals, circles, spiral shapes and even straight lines can create some of the most unique designs. By simply adjusting the amount of rotation and cell spacing, a single shape can create many varying and interesting results.

Once a geometric pattern has been generated, it can quickly be used for several different purposes. By merging several patterns, the complexity level of a design increases. Using MECCA's masking feature allows a geometric design pattern to be quickly produced for use as a one of a kind custom border for any document.

Point Shaker

The point shaker feature can take a computer-generated geometric design and give it human imperfections. A custom uniform pattern can be very effective when placed upon a document, but sometimes it is desirable to disrupt the uniform pattern with a small imperfection that a trained document receiver is knowledgeable about. This then becomes a visual indicator of the document's authenticity.

The Point Shaker option within the MECCA 2000 software allows a designated region to receive a distortion effect. This effect can be applied as a global feature or constrained within a specific region. The

amount of both horizontal and vertical displacement becomes user-defined as well as the method of displacement.

When applying the feature to a uniform patterned background, a new custom non-repeating background pattern is generated. Using the effect within a constrained circular region, the amount of displacement can be maximized to either the center or tangent edge of the designated boundary.

If used in a situation that requires the overprinting of multiple colors to create a color blend, the effect can be applied to a single color if desired. This in turn creates the illusion of misregistration at the press, but only within the designated area. As a document receiver, this becomes a visual key as to whether the document is an original or counterfeit attempt.

Custom Patterns

Other types of backgrounds, borders and ornaments can be created through the Spiro and sine wave generators. At we have seen, the inclusion of a custom created ornamental design to a document reduces its chances of being successfully counterfeited. Images which contain highly detailed fine line designs and patterns become extremely difficult to digitally or photographically capture.

The creation of a new ornamental design is achieved through the use of MECCA 2000's Spiral and Sine Wave Generator features. Originating with a base contour design of the ornament, either a spiral or sine-wave pattern can quickly be applied. The appearance of the generated pattern is fully controllable by the designer during the creation process. Features such as wave height, wave width, cycle count and boundary offset are just a few of the controls available. Additionally, other options allow the appearance of the wave shape, spiral perimeter, and pen position to be adjusted if needed. In addition, the geometry that generates the pattern can never be replicated, even by the same designer using the same MECCA 2000 system.

While generating sine-wave patterns, controls allow the wave to follow along a simple outline path or be contained within the framing of an inside and outside boundary. Both the spiral and wave patterns can be applied either to the interior or exterior of any path designated.

Within an ornamental design, combining both the spiro and sine wave features, result in a highly complex image which can be quickly customized for any document.

The use of fine-line relief printing, superimposing hidden messages, original fine-line detailed borders, unique geometrical designs, prismatic color blending, and also quick touches such as microprinting and phantom photo images, create a highly effective counterfeiting deterrent, especially when used in conjunction with security papers, inks and other treatments.

Keep in mind that graphical effects can be used to add security to almost any document. Unlike special papers, coatings, and inks, graphical effects in general do not add to the overall manufacturing unit cost of a document. Given two documents which have the same value, a forger will most likely try to counterfeit the one with the least number of security features. In many cases, just adding a few of the graphic effects described in this presentation will protect the document and keep it safe from criminals.

Chapter 9: The PostScript Interpreter

PostScript is the publishing industry standard page-description language developed by Adobe Systems and interpreted by PostScript printers. PostScript provides a programmable set of tools for easily imaging all graphic elements.

EPS files were developed for transfer between software applications and usually convert more successfully than other formats. This makes it an obvious choice as a conversion file type.

When you need to get a good start on a file that has already been created on another type of software, creating an EPS file and importing into MECCA 2000 is most efficient. This will save you from starting from scratch, but it doesn't mean that there will not be any work involved, or that the MECCA 2000 file does not need to be proofed for anything that didn't convert well.

PostScript File: A file written in PostScript (PS) language. It can be printed by printers that interpret PostScript. These files are in ASCII text format, but can include binary information such as scanned TIFF images.

PostScript Printers: A printer or imagesetter that contains the PostScript language interpreter. Both printer and imagesetter provide text and graphics, however the imagesetter produces higher quality output.

Encapsulated PostScript: Encapsulated PostScript Format (EPS or EPSF) is a file format for PostScript graphics that contains PostScript code for the image, as well as an optional preview version. The EPS standard enables device-independent transfer of graphics between different applications.

PostScript Interpreter: A PostScript Interpreter is just that, it interprets PostScript code to be read into MECCA 2000. This file is a MECCA 2000 file, but it has problems inherent to converted files.

Checking Out Files

If at all possible we recommend that you work with EPS files versus standard PostScript (PS and sometimes PRN). EPS files were developed for transfer between applications and usually convert more successfully because they do not contain device specific PostScript code.

Encapsulated PostScript files start out with the heading stating it is a EPSF file, version number, followed by the creator. Most PostScript files can be opened with a text editor.

Determining whether your file is a PS or EPS will require that you look at the top of the file (use *more* at \$-prompt). These files are normally ASCII text files, but since they can include binary information, you will want to run *epsprep* on the file if you need to edit the file. This shell will convert binary to ASCII and give the file proper line breaks needed for an editor. At the \$-prompt type:

epsprep newfilename.prep

Determining File Type

Below shows a variety of file heads from different applications. Notice that each application follows the standards slightly different, but you you can distinguish PS and EPS files.

PS File

EPS File

%!PS-Adobe-2.0 **EPSF-2.0**

%%BoundingBox: 95 396 141 590

%%Creator: CorelDRAW!

%%Title: AB-LGBUG.EPS

EPS File

%!PS-Adobe-2.0 EPSF-1.2
%%Creator:Adobe Illustrator(TM) 1.5
%%Title:01316.EPS

PS File

PS File

%!PS-Adobe-2.0
%%Creator: Mecca III(TM) 9.0
% Amgraf, Inc.
%%BeginProcSet: PSTRAY_LGR 0~~0

EPS File

%!PS-Adobe-2.0 EPSF-1.2
%%Creator: Mecca III(TM) 8.0
% Amgraf, Inc.

EPS File

%!PS-Adobe-2.0 EPSF-1.2
%%Creator: QuarkXPress(R) 3.0

Try to minimize the nesting of EPS files. Printing an EPS within the EPS increases the chance that the file will not convert properly. Generally, if it won't print to a laser printer, it will not convert.

Opening an EPS File

MECCA 2000 has the capability to interpret standard PostScript (.ps) and Encapsulated PostScript (.eps) files and convert them into MECCA 2000 graphic files. This is accomplished through the {Open} option found under the [Project] menu.

{Open}ing an EPS file is easy. First, start a new file. Then, go to the [Project] menu and select {Open}. You will need to select "Files of type" and choose "All Files" or "PostScript files (*.eps, *.ps)", to have your file show up in the listing. Choose your file. It will recognize the file type and convert the EPS file to a (.g). Once the file has been converted and saved, it can be opened normally.

🗙 Open File			×
Directory: /usr/amgraf			
Folders -	File +	Date	Size
tables nsmail new_fonts nebs movefiles leisa formats fax doc bin apptest Workfile TravelInfo Templates	A labone.eps prismatic.ps wywo.eps	2005-05-04 14:36:48 2005-02-18 14:34:47 2005-06-06 12:09:10	425400 1.34M 184067
Up Dir File Name:	:		Open
Home File Type:	PostScript files (.eps	s.ps.PS.EPS) -	Cancel
☐ Sort names in dictiona	ry style (case insensitive; digit	s are numbers)	

Including (Combining) an EPS File

Encapsulated PostScript files can be included in your drawing by using [Project]'s {Combine} option. It is similar to combining an external scanner file; a reference to the included encapsulated file is stored with your drawing when saved. The file itself must be in the same directory as your graphic for it to be located during loading and output.

When including the encapsulated file, an icon will display showing the boundary of the file and its orientation. A preview of the EPS within the boundary can be turned on through the Window, [EPS Preview] option. Just check "Enable" and Okay.

If you only see the boundary icon, the lower right corner is turned up. If the turned corner appears dashed, it means the icon has been mirrored and you are looking at its back. The icon can be moved, copied, deleted, and grouped. You can also scale, rotate, mirror and control the layer of the included Encapsulated PostScript file through its icon. When picking the icon, you must pick on an edge.



Multiple Page PS Files

If the file has multiple pages, we suggest creating an EPS file for each page. You may combine the pages once they have been converted into MECCA 2000 files. There will be less problems converting and naturally, if there are problems, it is easier to find a problem on one page rather than on multiple pages. However, if you do have a multiple page PostScript file, each page should convert to a different layer. Then you can see your individual pages just by turning the Layers On/Off.

Typical Converted EPS File

Below is a look at a typical converted EPS file. Notice the variety of components. The area does have a 60 line screen.

After importing a file, save the file with a .g extension. It is now ready to proof and clean-up.



You will see text, vectors, splines, areas, arc/circles, and rasters. At this point it is your responsibility to proof the file for conversion correctness. You have the ability to modify any of the components through their respective options. It is definitely better than starting from scratch, but is not always easy to modify.

Since the EPS file is a printer driver, what you think the application has done to create the image, is not always the case. What appears as vectors, is sometimes handled as areas in some applications. What appears as text is sometimes rasters. Screens, usually in the case of graduated areas, can be vectors.

Also, vertical vectors can be many tiny line segments instead of one line. This is usually seen when the original file comes from a word processing package instead of a graphic application.

Working with Converted Files

MECCA 2000 files which are generated from PostScript files have inherent problems which can be made easier to handle if the original files are created knowing about them. Here are some suggestions on how to handle the following.

Text Issues

- Text only converts as individual lines of text. They will never be multi-line paragraphs. PostScript issues beginning positions only and is not aware of leading. To make a paragraph out of these individual lines requires you to pull the lines together and modify attributes. See *Cleaning-Up Converted Text*. You should only massage text that needs to be edited or changed.
- If you use letter spacing in the original document, it will cause the text lines to convert as individual letters, not just lines of copy.
- If you use word spacing in the original document, it will cause the text lines to convert as individual words, not just lines of copy.
- If you use kerning in the original document, it will cause the text lines to break into letters whenever kerning is encountered.
- Be aware that justified paragraphs may also come in as either individual letters or words. How the application justifies determines what the EPS file will contain.
- Psuedo-condensing causes the text to come in as individual letters.
- Psuedo-italic in most cases will be ignored.
- Any special characters included in the file should be referenced, if a match cannot be found they will convert as question marks (?) and will need to be replaced.

Graphic and Font Issues

Also, some of the problems cannot be resolved and must be avoided at the application level. These are:

- If the original document has include files (such as rasters, logos, Encapsulated PostScript), do not forget to copy or transfer them also. Just because they are referenced in the PostScript file, does not make them accessible during conversion.
- It is desirable not to download the fonts with the PostScript file since we do not process the font information during conversion. Not including font information will allow the file size to be more manageable and the conversion to run faster.
- The PostScript interpreter does not convert any fonts that are downloaded into the file. You must have the real font on your computer. Any font that is not found on your computer, will convert as Helvetica.
- TrueType Fonts will be converted to Helvetica, despite the printer settings.
- Line patterns from other applications will not convert.

- It is best not to place graduated screens in original document. Graduated screens usually convert as individual lines with varying screen values. Thousands of lines copied across the job makes working with the file difficult.
- Screen lineage may be lower than you would like. If the file was originally set for a low-resolution printer which normally uses a 60 line screen, the file will reflect that lineage. It can easily be changed by Modifying the component properties

Cleaning-Up Converted Text

Text only comes in as individual lines of text. They will not be paragraphs. To make a paragraph out of these individual lines requires you to use [Text]'s two assemble options described below.

This is not hard, but there will be some cleanup needed to the leading, justification, and possibly line breaks; so only cleanup the text which needs revisions.

If line breaks are not correct, then you will need to edit the content of the paragraph with [Text]'s {Edit Item} option. Use the Immediate Command \NL^ (New Line) to force lines to break at the correct word and stay flush left. Use the Immediate Command \FJ^ (Force Justify) to make the line justify but break at the assigned word.

Check for any style changes or special characters, etc. You would be looking for any internal paragraph changes that we control with the Immediate Commands or through the Pop-up menu.

If lines of text extend beyond your boundaries, it could be an issue with your Letter or Word Spacing.

Some fonts may be substituted. This is usually the case either if the font is TrueType or if the font is Not Found on the current computer. Just Group the text and change the font properties to one that exists.

Use {Combine Text Items} and {Word(s) from PS Letters} to Clean-Up Text

The following features assist in the clean-up of converted PostScript and Encapsulated PostScript files.

- Word(s) from PS Letters, and
- Combine Text Items

Text which has been horizontally adjusted (such as letterspaced, wordspaced, kerned, or justified) usually convert as individual characters or words. This is because PostScript only knows X-coordinates of these items. Use the **{Word(s) from PS Letters}** option to pull letters back into words, and words into lines.

It looks at the horizontal distance between letters and if it is smaller than the standard wordspace for that point size, then it assumes that the letters should be pulled together to form a word. If the distance is larger, it assumes a wordspace is needed.

There is an {Undo} option under the right-mouse menu, so if you get unwanted results, then {Undo} the results. Possibly the letters are not pulled into words within a widely spaced justified paragraph. You can adjust the value considered as the correct spacing for words, just increase the wordspace gap value and try pulling the words together again.

You can also {Change Attributes} of the letter spacing and decrease the values. The function looks at letter spacing and word spacing values, as well as point size.

After you assemble letters into words, and words into lines, then go back and combine the lines into paragraphs.

The {Word(s) from PS Letters} option is the function which pulls the letters into words and words into lines. It looks at any group picked. To assemble the entire file Group All. As items are touched they will ungroup. What is left grouped wasn't touched.

🗙 Assemble Text 🔀		
Baseline deviation: +/- 2d		
Ignore texts smaller than 3p		
Stop continuation when gap is greater than		
2.0 times the previous word space value.		
Close		

Baseline Deviation: Text pieces in PostScript converted files are not always sitting on the same Y-coordinate. We have found, it can be off as much as 6-decipoints. This is a tool to help the program know when to pull characters together and when not.

Recommended setting is 2-decipoints (2d). If you leave it at 0, it will not pull together any characters that have a different baseline.



Example of Uneven Text Baselines

Gap Spacing: If the horizontal distance is more than the value of the figure space, then you can still pull text together by changing the gap spacing. Just increase the value. Reassemble uses the text word space and letter space value to determine when to pull letters into words and words into lines. If you do not get the desired results, {Undo} and increase the word spacing or letter spacing values.

{Combine Text Items}

Use the {Combine Text Items} option found under the [Text] menu to pull lines of text into paragraphs.

First, figure out the paragraph leading and change it. During cleanup of PostScript converted files, you will need to change leading since all text is converted with lead values of zero. Determine the leading by picking the baselines of the first two lines within the paragraph.

Change the leading of the first line in the paragraph. Group from the second line to the end of the paragraph. Now use the {Combine Text Items} to pull the first line and the group of lines together. The text will have a measure of the width of the longest line within the paragraph being pulled together.
Creating EPS Files for MECCA 2000

In this section are instructions for creating Encapsulated PostScript (EPS) files for MECCA 2000 if you are using a Windows Application. We recommend the following printer setups when creating an EPS File.

Since PostScript is a printer language, controls for creating EPS files are found in the printer setup menus.

- Add a New Printer for EPS Files
- Printer Properties
- Create and Convert an EPS File as a Test

Add a New Printer for EPS Files

It is hard to decipher why an EPS file will not import, so adding a printer driver to specifically create EPS files for MECCA 2000 will increase the reliability of the interpreter.

Go to Start and select Settings, Printers. Double-click on Add Printer.

		New Office Document		1 Alton	Printers
	Ē	Open Office Document			Printers
	<u></u>	Programs	•	Image: Control Panel Image: Control Panel Image: Control Panel Image: Control Panel Image: Control Panel	Add Printer
		<u>D</u> ocuments	۲		
	縣	<u>S</u> ettings	۰		
പ്പ	X	<u>F</u> ind	,		₩ HP LaserJet 4L Wicrosoft Fax
NS	Ø	<u>H</u> elp]		
p	200	<u>B</u> un			
Wir	9	Shut Down		12	1 object(s) selected
10	Start				

This will take you to the Add Printer Wizard. Select [Next] to get started. It should already have "Local Printer" chosen, so select [Next] again.

You will be asked to select a manufacturer and model for a printer. Select **Apple LaserWriter.** Normally it is at the very top of the list. This is the most generic PostScript print driver found, and makes excellent EPS files.

Add Printer Wizard					
I	Click the manufacturer installation disk, click h documentation for a c	r and model of your printer. If your print Have Disk. If your printer is not listed, o ompatible printer.	er came with an consult your printer		
<u>M</u> anufac	cturers:	Printers:			
Apple AST AT&T Brother Bull C-Itoh Canon		Apple LaserWriter Apple LaserWriter II NT Apple LaserWriter Personal NT Apple LaserWriter II NTX Apple LaserWriter IIf Apple LaserWriter IIg Annle LaserWriter Plus			
			<u>H</u> ave Disk		
		< <u>B</u> ack Next >	Cancel		

Select [Next]. If you already have that driver installed, it will ask you if you want to replace it or use the existing. Just use the existing and select [Next] again to get to the Available Ports.

Here you want to select **FILE: Creates a file on disk.** This will bring up the file naming dialog box when you use this printer selection.

Add Printer Wizard					
	Click the port you want to use with this printer, and then click Next.				
	\DISTASST.PS Unknown local port COM1: Communications Port COM2: Communications Port FAX: Microsoft Fax Monitor FILE: Creates a file on disk LPT1: \\ADMIN\LW31 LPT3: \\WINDEV\HP4L PUB: Microsoft Fax Monitor				
	<u>C</u> onfigure Port				
	< Back Next > Cancel				

Select [Next] and you will be taken to the Printer name. Type in a printer name that you will recognize as the one for creating generic EPS files, such as ``Generic (EPS) File''.

Add Printer Wizard	
	You can type a name for this printer, or you can use the name supplied below. When you have finished, click Next.
	Printer name:
	Generic (EPS) File
	Do you want your Windows-based programs to use this printer as the default printer?
	© ⊻es
	• <u>N</u> o
	< <u>B</u> ack Next≻ Cancel

Select [Next] until you get to [Finish].

You have successfully added the new print driver specifically to be used for creating EPS files. You should now see the new driver in the list of printer choices.

Printers	_ 🗆 ×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>H</u> elp	
😰 Printers	- 🗈
Add Printer Acrobat Distiller Acrobat PDFWriter Apple LaserWriter HP DeskJet 320 Printer HP LaserJet 4L Microsoft Fax	
1 object(s) selected	

Printer Properties

Next you need to be aware of certain printer properties that affect your EPS file.

Go to your printer properties and make sure the following screens match ours. Your details should show you are sending to a file using the Apple LaserWriter driver.

Generic (EPS) File Properties							
Fonts	Device 0)ptions	PostScript				
General	Details	Paper	Graphics				
Generi	Generic (EPS) File						
Print to the follo	wing port:						
FILE: (Creates	a file on disk)	•	Add Por <u>t</u>				
Print <u>u</u> sing the f	ollowing driver:		<u>D</u> elete Port				
Apple LaserWr	Apple LaserWriter New Driver						
<u>C</u> apture P	Capture Printer Port End Capture						
Timeout settin	igs						
Not <u>s</u> electe	d: 15	seconds					
Transmissio	n <u>r</u> etry: 45	seconds					
Spool Settings Port Settings							
OK Cancel Apply							

Generic (EPS) File Properties							
General Fonts	General Details Fonts Device Opti		Graphic PostScript	s			
Send TrueType fonts to printer according to the font Substitution Table The Font Substitution Table enables you to specify which TrueType fonts should be replaced with built-in printer fonts.							
		<u>E</u> di	t the Table				
 Always use If you use be however, joint 	Always use <u>built-in printer fonts instead of TrueType fonts</u> If you use built-in printer fonts, jobs will usually print faster; however, jobs output from different printers may look different.						
C Always use	<u>T</u> rueType fonts	بالحيمي النبيم	print alourar:				
however, jol	If you use TrueType fonts, jobs will usually print slower; however, jobs output from different printers will look identical.						
Send Fonts As Restore Defaults							
	OK	Can	cel App	y			

Under the PostScript Tab make sure you are asking for Encapsulated PostScript, with a header downloaded with each print job.

Generic (EPS) File Properties ? 🔀							
General Fonts	Details Device Op	Paper itions	Graphics PostScript				
PostScript output format:							
Encapsulated Post	Script (EPS)						
PostScript <u>h</u> eader							
Oownload h	eader with eac	h print job					
C Assume hea	der is downloa	ded and <u>r</u> etai	ned				
		<u>S</u> end	Header Now				
Print PostScript	error information	n					
PostScript <u>t</u> imeout	values						
Job timeout:	0 🛋 seco	nds					
Wait timeout: 240 ★ seconds							
Ad <u>v</u> anced Restore <u>D</u> efaults							
	OK	Canc	el <u>A</u> pply				

Under the [Advanced] PostScript tab, select Level 1, ASCII data, with No bitmap compression.

Advanced PostScript Options						
These settings have been chosen to optimize printer performance. You should not change them unless you have specific reasons to do so.						
PostScript language level	Bitmap compression					
Use PostScript Level <u>1</u> features	Compress bitmap images					
O Use PostScript Level <u>2</u> features	No bitmap compression					
Data format						
ASCII data						
O Binary communications protocol						
O Lagged binary communications protocol						
C Pure binary data						
Send CTRL+D before job						
Send CTRL+D after job						
	Cancel Restore <u>D</u> efaults					

You are now ready to create EPS files through any Windows program using your new Generic EPS File print driver.

Create and Convert an EPS File as a Test

Creating an EPS file is easy. It just takes knowing a little about the software you are using to create the file. It is always under the [Project] menu in one of three places: Print, Save As, or Export.

For our simple test we are using **WordPad**. It is found under Start, Programs, Accessories. When starting WordPad, it will automatically place you into a new file.

We are ready to type in two paragraphs, similar to the ones shown on the next page.



To create an EPS file in WordPad go to the File, Print option.

Print			? ×
Printer —			
<u>N</u> ame:	Generic (EPS) File		<u>P</u> roperties
Status:	Ready		
Type:	Apple LaserWriter		
Where:	FILE:		
Comment			Print to file
Print range	,	Copies	
⊙ <u>A</u> ll		Number of <u>c</u> o	opies: 1 🗧
C Pages	: <u>f</u> rom: 1 <u>t</u> o:		
C Selec	tion		
		OK	Cancel

The most important part is to open the list for Printer Names and select your generic printer as shown in Figure 8-13. This is our Generic (EPS) File selection.

Selecting [Okay] will bring up the file naming dialog box. Be sure to input the name with an extension .eps, not .prn. MECCA 2000 is looking for .eps and .ps files only.

Print To File		? ×
File <u>n</u> ame: test.eps	Eolders: c:\My Documents C:\ My Documents	OK Cancel N <u>e</u> twork
Save file as <u>type:</u> Printer Files	Dri⊻es: ☐	

Choosing [Okay] twice will then create the .eps file on your hard drive in the location specified. We placed our file in My Documents.

You can now start MECCA 2000 and Open your newly created .eps file.



Accepting Diskettes from Customers

When you announce that you are accepting diskettes from customers it can cause all types of misunderstandings, unless you have coordinated up-front many issues. *What type of diskettes can you read? What types of files can you use?* These questions must be answered for the client, and even a form for them to use helps alleviate potential problems. Otherwise, you will be receiving files which you cannot use, and your customers will not appreciate the problem, nor understand what they did wrong.

Following is general information concerning diskettes and a form which might be a handy beginning when starting your acceptance of EPS files.

- 1. The diskette must be a DOS diskette. (Either 3.5 or 5.25)
- 2. All files on the diskette must be Encapsulated PostScript (EPS), or PostScript Print (PRN), or ASCII text (ASC) files.
- 3. Text documents should be saved as ASCII Text Only, not document files.

Almost every program has the capability to create PostScript files, but the procedures may vary. Have them look up "Encapsulated PostScript Files" in their program's user manual.

	CONVERSION FACT SHEET							
CUST	OMER NAME		PHONE		CON	ТАСТ		DATE
ES	EPS FILES	PROVIDED ON DISK?	If No, Explain:		FILE NAMES (DO NOT		ANDS, DOLLAR, ETC.)	
	OTHER FILES	PROVIDED ON DISK?	If No, Explain:			FILE NAMES		
KS	3.5" DENS		MAC (Must be DOS disk cr	eated with Su	perdri	ve.)	PC	
DIS	5.25" DENS		MAC (Must be DOS disk cr	eated with Su	perdri	ve.)	PC	
Ļщ	L F-3 VENTURA			A POSTSCRIPT (PS) OR ENCAPSULATED POSTSCRIPT (EPS) FILE MUST				
SO	QUARK			OF A TEXT-ONLY FILE WHICH MUST BE SUBMITTED IN ASCII FORM				N ASCII FORMAT.
ING.		NT CHANGES NEEDED		IF OTHER THAN ADOBE FONT, PROVIDE FONT USED. MANUFACTURER, NAME OF FONT, STYLE				
ANDL	CHANGE FONT TO							
H H		CONDENSED					R/WORD SPAC	ING
БŌ	PSEUD	O-CONDENSED Indicate +/- Increments or	Percentage PSEUDO-ITALIC Indicate Degree	e or Percentage of	of Slant		R/WORD SPA	CING or Percentage of Alteration
gos	ADD	REPLACE						
SCAN & DOWNLOAD TO DISK (YOU MUST PROVIDE DISK)								
IAL	SPECIA	Be sure to fill out this form for each file you send. You job may be delayed if not filled-out completely. A hard-					ch file you send. Your ut completely. A hard-	
SPEC		IS SCREENS	PANTO#	BORDER#		HARDCOPY	PROOF	g with the diskette.

Converting a PostScript File From Xterm

The conversion program is named "PS". It uses standard input and output. You can access this program from the Xterm \$-prompt:

To convert a file:~~PS (options) <inputfile >outputfile

To get a list of its arguments:~~PS -?.

The -3 option allows output of Type 3 font characters.

The **-p** option allows you to send directly to the monitor (MECCA cannot be running).

You would type in:~~PS -p (inputfile).

The -n option turns on output of clip paths. This will give you the clip boundaries.

Environment Variables

The following environment variable is found in */usr/bin/amgraf/ mecca.include*. It defines the location of the *Fontdict* directory. After any variable is set, it must be "exported" at least once before it is known to any software.

Default Syntax: M_PSCONVERT=/usr/bin/amgraf; export M_PSCONVERT

Limitations

At this time Clip Operators, True Type Fonts, and PostScript Level 2 Only Commands are not supported.

Using Xpdf

Xpdf is a viewer that will load a .pdf file and allow you to create .ps files.

Xpdf allows you to page through a multiple page .pdfs. Zoom on particular areas. It also has a Search option that will allow you to search for key words. You can also print the file or create .ps files.

To use Xpdf go to an X-term Windows \$-prompt. Type **xpdf (filename).** This will load the .pdf file.

You then can create a .ps file by clicking the printer icon. If you create a multiple page .ps file upon loading, MECCA will place each page on separate layers. You then need to create a Spec File using the [Parts] tool. Putting each page in its own part.

Adobe Acrobat May Help with Problem Files

If you continue to have problems with importing EPS files, it may be font related. One solution can be to import the EPS file into Adobe Acrobat and write out another EPS file. Many times Adobe's Distiller will clean up the problem and correct the font errors when it writes out a new EPS file.

Adobe Acrobat Distiller is a part of the Adobe Acrobat package of products that imports and distills PostScript into its PDF format. The PDF file can then be printed again to create another EPS file. Recreating the EPS file through Acrobat insures it is written in the proper format.

Distilling the EPS File

- 1. Start the Adobe Distiller Program.
- 2. From the Project menu choose Open and highlight the .EPS file and then OK.
- 3. In the Specify PDF File Name Dialog, enter the new PDF file to create and OK.
- 4. This will create a new file in PDF format.

Printing New EPS File

- 1. Double-click on the newly created PDF file.
- 2. This will open either Adobe Acrobat Reader or Exchange.
- 3. From the Print dialog box, select your "Generic EPS File" printer and name it.
- 4. Okay, and you will be creating a new EPS file ready to be opened into MECCA.

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

Index

Accepting Diskettes 218 Accidentally Powered Off 9 Accurate Spacing 86 Active Drawing Buttons 16 Add New Printer for EPS Files 209 Adobe Acrobat 221 Photoshop 127 **Altering Tools 17 Alternate Screens 7** Amgraf's Help Line 9 Angle Change Graduation 91 Dot 109 Arc Component Type 20 Making an Arc 29 Menu 52 Areas Component Type 21 Menu 63 Trapping 149 Art, Line 103 **Assistant Tools 17** Attributes Arc 52 Area 62 Barcode, Set 64 Box, Set 48 Change 70 Layer 45, 74 Line 45 Patterns 68 Raster 61 Spline 53 Text 55 Background Barcode Attributes Menu 65 Box with Solid Background 29 Make Transparent 126 Remove White 106 Barcodes Attributes Menu 65 Background Menu 66 Barcode Types 21 Human Readable Menu 67 Batch and More Menu 43 Black & White Scans 105 Black Box, Making a 89 boot prompt 5 **Borders Menu 50** Box Component Type 20

Dividing 90 Empty 89 Making a Box 29 Black 89 Graduated 89 Menus 47 Set Attributes Menu 48 Place Text into, Menu 59, 93 **Business Forms Composition 81** Change Attributes Menu 70 Depth Order 70 Graduation Angle 91 Window Display 87 **Character Grid, MICR 98 Chokes and Spreads 141** Circle Attributes Menu 52 Component Type 20 Place Text on, Menu 59 Making a 29 **Cleaning Converted Text 206** Color Imported Files 129 Layer Table, Setup 134 Scans 102 Separating Logos, GIMP 119 Trapping, GIMP 124 {Combine} 133 **Combine Dialogs 42** {Combine Text Items} 207 **Component Limitations 147** Composition Business Forms 81 Label 131 Mode Button 55 **Computer**, Power Off 8 **Conversion Fact Sheet 219** Convert EPS Files 215 PostScript File from Xterm 220 PS File 204 Text, Cleaning up 206 TIFF File 127 Copy Items 33 Menu 71 Corners Box Menu 49 Make Rounded 89 Squared 89 Create Custom Patterns 184 DCS File 128 EPS Files 209, 215 Micro-Text 179

Volume 1: Getting Started - 223 -

PCX File 130 Security Documents 163, 168, 194 TIFF File 127 **Cropping Raster 102 Cursor Controls 12** Custom Patterns 168, 184, 198 DCS Create File 128 Importing File 128 Terminology 102 Darkness, Ink 144 Defaults, Line 23 **Deleting and Restoring 25** Design Fine-Line Ornamental 171, 172, 182 Forms 84 **Designating Layers 145 Determining File Type 200 Determining Trap Value 142 Dialog Boxes 41** Project Combine 42 Print 44 Save 42 Box Corners 49 Edges 49 Even/Odd Bars 50 Text Attributes 56 Window Dialog 79 Grid 80 Digitizing with MECCA 2000 100 **Diskettes, Accepting 218** Display Window Dialog 87 Window Control Buttons 17 **Distilling EPS Files 221 Dithering 102 Dividing Boxes 90** Dot Angle 109 Drawing Buttons 16 **Component Types** Arc/Circle/Ellipse 20 Areas 21 Bar Codes 21 Boxes 20 Rasters 20 Splines 20 Text 20 Vector 20 Vector Chain 20 Exercise 36

Lines 22 Multiple 27 Loading 39 Plate 133 Printing 39 Saving 38, 95 **EPS** File Convert 215 Create 209, 215 Distilling 221 EPS Preview **Including 203** Edges Box Menu 49 Cut off, Rasters 107 **Editing Pixels 106** Ellipse Component Type 20 Making an Arc 29 Menu 52 Empty Box, Make 89 **Encapsulated PostScript 199** Even/Odd Bars Menu 50 **Existing Drawing, Load 39 Exiting out of a Function 24** File Convert EPS File 215 PS File 204 PostScript from Xterm 220 TIFF File 127 Create DSC File 128 EPS File 209, 215 PCX File 130 TIFF File 127 Determining Type 106, 200 Distilling EPS File 221 Import Color File 129 DCS File 128 EPS File 203 Including EPS File 203 Load Raster Image 133 Save File 38, 39, 95 Size 109 Spec 146 Fine Line Relief 172, 196 Fine-Line Ornamental Designs 171, 182, 196 Font Master List Menu 56 Font, MICR 96, 97 Forms Composition 81 Design 84 Spacing 82

GIMP Basic Controls 117 Color Separate 119, 132 Color Trapping 124 **Importing Rasters 126** Making Scans Transparent 126 Scanning Resolutions 125 Starting 114 Toolbar 115 Geometric Patterns 168, 197 Graduated Box 89 Graduation, Change Angle 91 Graduation Menus 48, 49 **Graduating Rasters 106** Graphics Loading 39 Printing 39 Saving 38 Working With 11 Gray Levels 102 Grid, MICR Character 98 Grid. Window's 80 Group Menu 71 Selecting 25 **Unselecting 25** Guilloche Patterns 169, 197 Halftone 103, 107 Help Line 9 Hidden Images/Messages 168, 175, 196 **Horizontal Size Button 55 Hot Key Shortcuts 18** Human Readable Barcode Menu 67 Image Hidden 168, 175, 196 Raster 103 Scan 131 Import Color File 129 DCS File 128 EPS File 203 Rasters with GIMP 126 **Including EPS File 203** Ink Darkness 144 Input, Text 60 Label Composition 131 Printing 137 Step-and-Repeat 138 Layer Designating 145 Menus 45, 74 Table, Color Setup 134 Levels of Gray 102

Limitations, Component 147 Line Art 103 Attributes Menu 45 Defaults 23 Drawing 22 Multiple 27 Modify Line Menu 47 Raster Relief, Fine 196 Style, User Defined Menu 46 Loading Existing Drawing 39 Graphics 39 Raster Files 133 Logging Out 7 login 5 Logos, Color Separating - GIMP 119 **MECCA 2000** Digitizing 100 Menus 16 Screen 6 Security Features 164, 194 Starting 5, 11 Window 16 MICR **Character Dimension Specifications 99** Character Grid 98 Font 96, 97 Making Boxes 29 Circles 29 **Rectangles and Squares 28** Scans Transparent, GIMP 126 **Manual Trapping 147** Master Font List Menu 56 Measure, Setting Units 86 Menu Arc 52 Area 62 Barcode 64 Barcode Attributes 65 Barcode Background Attributes 66 Barcode Human Readable 67 Batch and More 43 Box 47 Borders 51 Corners 49 Edges 49 Even/Odd Bars 50 Pantographs 51 SuperImpose 51 Change 70 Copy 71 Group 71 Laver 74 Line 45 Modify Lines 47 Prorating Rules 46

Section Lines 46 User Defined Line Style 46 Move 71 Parts 75 Patterns 68 Pop-up 15, 41 Position Assistant 47 Project 42 Raster 63 Raster Relief 62 Spline 53 Text 54 Attributes 55 Master Font List 56 Micro-Text 59 Place Text into Box 58 Place Text on Circle 58 Style 55 V-Adjust 60 Words from PS Letters 60 Transform 73 Window 79 Messages, Hidden 168, 196 **Micro-Text Option** Create 179 Menu 59 **Microprinting** 195 Mode, Composition Button 56 **Modify Lines Menu 47** Mouse 12 Move Items 30 Menu 71 **Multiple Lines**, Drawing 27 **Multiple Page PS Files 203** NEdit Delete Key 162 Finding and Replacing Text 156 Insert Text 154 Ispell Spell Checking 159 Overtype Text 154 Printing 162 Programmable Shortcut Keys 161 Selecting Text 155 Setup Custom Defaults 157 Text Editor 153 Word Wrap 158 **Ornamental Designs 168, 182 Opening EPS File 202** PCX File 103, 130 **PS File, Converted 204** Pantographs Menu 51 Parts Menu 75 password 5 Patterns Create Custom 163, 184, 198

Geometric 163, 197 Guilloche 163, 197 Menu 68 Option 185 Phantom Logos 175, 195 Picking 13 Pixel 103. 106 Place Text into Boxes 93 **Place Text on Circle 59** Plate, Drawing 133 Point Shaker 192, 197 Pop-Up Menus 15, 41 **Position Assistant Menu 47 Position Mark 12** PostScript 199 Encapsulated 199 File from Xterm, Converting 220 Interpreter 199 Printers 199 Power off Computer 8, 9 **Preview 80. 103** Printer, Add New for EPS 209 Printing Controls 17 Menu 44 EPS Files 221 File 39, 95 Label 137 Properties 213 **Prismatic Color Blending 195** Project Button 16 Menu 42 Prompt, "boot" 5 Prorating Rules, Line Menu 46 Raster 20 Cropping 102 Cut off Edges 107 Enlarging 105 Image 103 Importing with GIMP 126 Graduating 106 Load File 133 Menu 61 Relief 62, 172, 183, 196 Reducing 105 Trapping 136 **Rectangles**, Making 28 Relief, Fine Line 62, 172, 183, 196 **Removing White Background 106** Resolution 103, 106, 108, 125 **Restoring and Deleting 25 Rounded Corners, Making 89**

Rules Making White 92 Prorating, Line Menu 46 Saving File 38, 43, 95 Scanning 101 Black & White 105 Color 102 Image 131 Making Transparent with GIMP 126 Resolution 109, 110, 125 Straight 105 Terminology 102 Screen Ruling 108 **Screen Dialog 48 Section Lines 46** Security Document Composition 163, 164, 194 Selecting, Group 25 Separate Color with GIMP 119, 132 Set Arc Attributes 52 Area Attributes 62 Barcode Attributes 65 Box Attributes 48 Borders/Pantographs 50, 51 Layer Attributes 45 Line Attributes 45 User Defined Style 46 Modify 47 Patterns Attributes 68 Raster Attributes 61 Relief 62 Spline 53 Text Attributes 55 Setup Color Layer 74, 134 Shortcut Keys 18 Shutting Down the System 8 Size File 109 Point 55 Spacing, Forms 82, 86 Spec File 146 **Specifications**, MICR 99 Spiral and Wave Pattern Dialogs 171, 185 Splines 20, 53 Squared Corners, Making 89 Squares, Making 28 Starting MECCA 2000 5, 11 Step-and-Repeat Label 138 Style Menu 55 User Defined Line 46 SuperImpose Menu 51, 168 System, Shut Down 8 TIFF Converting File 127 Create File 127

Terminology 104 Terminology, Scanning 102 Text Attributes Menu 54, 55 Cleaning Converted 206 Component Type 20 Input Box 60 Micro Text Attributes Menu 60 Create 179 Place into Box 93 Place on Circle 58 {Thick/Thin} Raster Trapping 136 Tools Altering/Assistant 17 **GIMP 118 Transforms Menu 73** Transparent, Make Background 126 **Transparent Scans, GIMP 126** Trapping Determining Value 142 Manually 47 Methods 142 Arc/Circles 147 Area Components 149 Scanned Images 150 Splines 147 Text Components 151 Vectors, Vector Chains 147 Using GIMP 124 Using Thick/Thin Raster 136, 150 Undo, GIMP 119 **Units of Measure 86 Unselecting**, Group 25 **User Defined Line Styles Menu 46** V-Adjust Option Menu 60 Value, Determining Trap 142 Vector, Vector Chain 20 Vertical Size Button 55 Void Pantographs 163, 168, 196 Warning Bands 163, 194 Waves Along Path 163, 171, 187 Waves Between Path 163, 171, 190 White Rules 92 Window 34 Change Display 87 Menu 79 Words from PS Letters 60 Using to Clean up Text 207 Xpdf 220 Xsane 111, 112 **Xterm, Converting PostScript File 220** Zooming Buttons 17, 34

Volume 1: Getting Started - 227 -